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Listing Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)

Stock code 509

Key Dates
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24 June 2020 to Closure of register of members
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(both days inclusive)

30 June 2020 Annual general meeting

Share Information
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Market capitalisation HK$1,030,751,290
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Board lot size 5,000 Shares

Earnings Per Share for 2019
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Five Year Financial Summary

2019
TER
HK$’000

EZ12531HIEE For the year ended 31 December
A Revenue 4,314,420 4655116 3443219 2589221 2515602
HEMRR Cost of sales (3,251,036)  (3,512,857)  (2,591,833)  (1,829,360)  (1,729,567)
EF Gross profit 1,063,384 1,142,259 851,386 759,861 786,035
WA RYEEEE  Other income and gains, net 95,262 75,324 113,750 67,884 72,578
BERMSEESER  Seling and marketing costs (107,917) (133,673) (139,056) (93,911) (113,406)
THAY Administrative expenses (305,464) (227,127) (275,998) (159,379) (139,742)
HBER Finance costs (153,664) (164,943) (150,678) (117,564) (87,390)
BRETEH AR Profit before income tax 591,601 691,840 399,404 456,891 518,075
MEHRT Income tax expense (163,347) (150,318) (144,292) (143,839) (155,000)
BELEERY Profit for the year from

EREM continuing operations - 541,522 255,112 - -
BRIEEEE Discontinued operations:

EREM Profit for the year - 31,315 6,510 - -
ENER Profit for the year 428,254 572,837 261,622 313,052 363,069
THALELS Profit for the year

FREF : attributable to:

KARHERA Owners of the Company 380,368 474,230 260,316 302,334 314,479

RS Non-controlling interests 47,886 98,607 1,306 10,718 48,590
FREF Eamings per share:

- EA(FREL) - basic (HK cents per share) 8.30 10.35 5.67 6.57 7.45

—#E(gREL) - diluted (HK cents per share) 8.30 10.35 5.67 6.57 7.33

®12A31H
EEBE

RERE
RnAE

BE12H31 HILEF
BRERDRE
BEEDRE
BHEHEEH
®12531H
BENX
eI

As at 31 December

Total assets 7,627,565 7
Total liabilities (3,357,654) (3
Total equity 4,269,911 3

474,567
517,949)
956,618

7,502,278
(3,848,850)
3,653,428

5,246,469
(2,192,003)
3,054,466

5,421,692
(2,057,170)
3,364,522

2019

TEx
HK$’000
For the year ended 31 December
Return on shareholders’ equity 1 9.9%
Return on total assets 2 5.6%
Interest coverage 3 5x &
As at 31 December
Gearing ratio 4 28.6%

Liquidity 1xf%

13.4%
7.7%

7.9%
3.5%
5x % 3xfE

27.3%
x5

11.1%
6.0%
5xf

29.4%
3xfE
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Five Year Financial Summary
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Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

3

MY E
Chi Wen Fu
F /& Chairman

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, “Century Sunshine” or the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year”) of the Group for the perusal of
our shareholders.

In 2019, the macro-economy was affected by the trade friction between China and the United States, when
the mutual imposition of tariffs between China and the United States led to the global economic downturn.
On the back of slowing growth momentum of major economies, the Group persists in the implementation of
the concept of green, eco-friendly and sustainable development, and the overall business operated steadily.
Revenue of HK$4,314,420,000 was realized during the year. The profit attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK$380,368,000 and basic earnings per share was HK8.30cents.

Favourable Industrial Policies

Fertiliser is an important material for agricultural production. With the continuous promotion of supply-side
structural reform of agriculture and further optimisation and adjustment of agricultural structure, the fertiliser
industry has entered the stage of “improving quality efficiency”. In 2019, the Chinese government continued
to promote the development plan of organic fertiliser and ecological fertiliser and comprehensively pursued
the revitalization of rural areas. It also put forward new requirements for agriculture technology innovation
and ecological protection of rural areas, which adhere to quality-driven agriculture and green-driven
agriculture, accelerate to transfer from quantity-oriented agriculture to quality-oriented agriculture, improve
the management network of green agricultural materials, and increase the supply of organic fertilisers, new
ecological fertilisers and low-toxic biological pesticides, while enhances land protection and speeds up the
construction of green eco-agriculture and further promotes the “Action Plan for Zero Growth of Fertiliser
Use by 2020”. The Group seized the development opportunities brought by the national favourable industrial
policies to build a long-term mechanism for the development of ecological fertiliser to cope with surging
demand.
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Chairman’s Statement

Persistence in Innovation

In 2019, the Group has strived to upgrade technology, optimize production lines and enhance the core
competitiveness of the enterprise with innovation capability. During the Year, the Jiangsu production base
successfully completed the technological upgrade of the production line of “Hongri” type sulphur-based
compound fertiliser. It inherited the patent technology of “Hongri” type spray granulation from “the Father of
China’s Sulphur-based Fertiliser” and further boosted “Yanyangtian (%F5°X)” brand name. The capacity has
been increased and strategic integration completed. With respect to product innovation, our Group upholds
the primacy of R&D and the synergy with production. We make best use of our advanced technology and
reputable brand names to pursue product differentiation strategies. We enrich the product range and provide
diverse, high quality, efficient green fertilisers. We are leading the development in the field.

“Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial Parks” by Shandong Hongri

Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company., Ltd. (“Shandong Hongri”) is located in Linyi City,
Shandong Province. Shandong Hongri is working with local government to realise the vision of being
“innovative, harmonious, green, open and sharing”, to speed up modern industrialisation, to promote the
structural optimisation and to rezone the control of industrial area as ecological city. To this end, Shandong
Hongri initiated the implementation of “Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial Parks” in
2019. We will steadily transfer the production from Shandong to the production bases of Jiangsu and Jiangxi,
and scientifically and reasonably adjust the production plan, so to achieve the overall sales targets, and
satisfy customers’ needs. According to the “Shandong Hongri Employees Relocation Scheme” reviewed and
approved at the employees’ representatives meeting, the management is to transfer employees to Jiangsu
and Jiangxi production bases on a voluntary basis and in an orderly manner. For those employees who
voluntarily give up the resettlement option, the resettlement compensation shall be rendered in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC. After the completion of “Relocation of Industries from City
Urban Area to Industrial Parks”, the Group will legally rezone the industrial land to commercial one. With the
implementation of the new urban planning of Linyi City, the Company is expected to benefit substantially after
land conversion, which will bring good returns to shareholders. After “Relocation of Industries from City Urban
Area to Industrial Parks”, Shandong Hongri continues to operate as a sales centre through its subsidiary.
As the inventor and patent holder of potassium sulfate compound fertiliser, Shandong Hongri possesses
strong research and development capabilities, well-known brand name and sound sales networks. All these
intangible attributes will continue to make the Group highly competitive.
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Chairman’s Statement

Bright Prospects of Magnesium Alloys

In October 2019, National Development and Reform Commission (the “NDRC”) of the PRC revised and
issued “Catalogue for the Guidance of Industrial Structure Adjustment (2019 Version)” (E 4B FHEE
HEH (20194 K))), in which the “magnesium alloys” were included as a lightweight material, and the
important role and potential of magnesium alloys in weight reduction of automobile were recognized. In
addition to application in transportation, magnesium alloys are also widely used in 3C electronics, space and
aviation and medical fields. 5G technology will firstly be launched in 2020. With the expansion of lightweight
materials, it will definitely bring good opportunities for the development of the magnesium industry. The huge
market provides an opportunity for the development of the Group’s magnesium alloy industry. The Xinjiang
production base of the Group has been recognised as a national “High and New Technology Enterprise”. It
emphasises to technological innovation and adopts the vertical retorts technology to upgrade the magnesium
smelting processes. It steers along the direction of high mechanization, automation and humanization. The
Xinjiang production base is located in Hami City, Xinjiang, an important strategic town of the “the Belt and
Road Initiative”. The Chinese government now intensifies the pursuant of “One Belt One Road” initiative.
Our Group is to take advantage of our location, the special economy and fast economic development. We
will simultaneously fully utilise the abundant resources of Hami, its cheap high quality coal, electricity and
dolomite mineral resources. This provides favourable conditions and strong momentum to develop our
magnesium business.

Opportunities and Challenges

Since the sudden Covid-19 outbreak across China at the end of 2019, the Chinese government has been
quick and decisive to take the unprecedented measures to contain the disease and various actions to stop
the spreading of the epidemic. With a level | public health emergency declared by affected provinces and
cities, every region took strict prevention and control measures of the epidemic. The Lunar New Year holiday
was extended, people are advised not to return to work. This may affect the economy temporarily. The
Company possesses abundant stocks and solid client base, still able to cope with the demand, but we may
be affected due to holiday extension and logistics delay. To cope with the epidemic, the Group endeavoured
to stabilize operations and provide emergency plans for clients in time. We are to tackle challenges together
with clients and prepared for a quick turnaround when the epidemic ends. The impact will thus be minimised.

As epidemic is trending down, the Chinese government has put forward policies and measures to revise
normal economic and social order. Among others, agricultural products such as chemical fertilisers and
pesticides have been included in State Council’s joint prevention and control mechanism. Key enterprises
have the priority to resume work so that the supply of fertiliser for spring plantation will not be disrupted.
As a leading producer of green and ecological fertiliser and important part of the supply chain of agricultural
products, the Group is to implement effective epidemic prevention and control measures to ensure
employee’s health and safety, production is being resumed orderly and the supply of fertilisers stabilised. We
are to work together to overcome the present hard times.
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2020, we continue to be calm and confident to tackle new opportunities and challenges. As always, we are
adhere to our corporate philosophy and mission to innovate to support our development, to attain win-win
outcomes through development. We will endeavour to chase our new goals and realise our dreams.

On behalf of the Board, | wish to thank our shareholders, management team, staff members and business
partners for their support and contributions to the Group during the Year. Century Sunshine is developing
the green industry with all its strength. We are committed to fulfilling our duties, generating greater returns to
shareholders and creating a better future for all.

Chi Wen Fu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 April 2020

19



20

BEE WD

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year”), the Group recorded an overall revenue of
HK$4,314,420,000 (2018: HK$4,655,116,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 7.3%,
with an overall gross profit margin of 24.6% (2018: 24.5%). The profits after tax from continuing operations
was HK$428,254,000, representing a decrease of approximately 20.9% as compared with HK$541,522,000
of the same period of last year. Revenue from the fertiliser business during the Year was HK$2,735,195,000
(2018: HK$3,053,183,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 10.4%, which was mainly
because the production volume were decreased due to the implementation of “Relocation of Industries from
City Urban Area to Industrial Parks” by Shandong Hongri production base. Average gross profit margin of the
fertiliser business was relatively stable of approximately 22.5% (2018: 22.5%). Revenue from the magnesium
product business held by the Group through REMT was HK$1,515,291,000 (2018: HK$1,537,781,000) during
the Year, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 1.5%. The decrease in revenue was caused
by the effects of devaluation of RMB to HKD as compared to the same period last year. Average gross profit
margin was maintained at approximately 27.5% (2018: 26.6%) due to the core competitiveness of the high-
margin rare earth magnesium products.

Ecological Fertiliser Business

The production was transferred from Shandong Hongri to two production bases of Jiangsu and Jiangxi

Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company, Ltd. (“Shandong Hongri”), a subsidiary of Century Sunshine
Group implemented the “Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial Parks” in 2019 under the
requirement of the policy from Shandong Provincial Government, resulted in reduction of production volume
in Shandong Hongri production base, and its production volume will be taken over by the Group’s Jiangxi
and Jiangsu production bases respectively. The Group strategically consolidated customer orders adjusted
its production plan, to achieve the Group’s overall production and sales targets and to satisfy the customers’
demand. While transferring production capacity step by step, according to the “Shandong Hongri Employees
Relocation Scheme” reviewed and approved at the employees’ representatives meeting, Shandong Hongri
was diverting employees to Jiangsu production base and Jiangxi production base on a voluntary basis and
in an orderly manner. For those employees who voluntarily give up the resettlement option, the resettlement
compensation shall be given in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC. In December
2019, the local government approved that the “Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial
Parks” project could be carried out in accordance with the document of Luzheng Banzi (2019) No. 144 (&
B #5(2019) 144 5%) by Shandong Hongri, and actively pursued the takover of the land, and the approval
and public transfer of land use. The land would be changed from industrial use to commercial one, as such,
the Company expects to benefit from the potential appreciation of the value of the land with an extraordinary
income. Therefore, management is of the view that the implementation of the “Relocation of Industries from
City Urban Area to Industrial Parks” by Shandong Hongri did not give rise to any material and adverse impact
to the operation of the Group, and the increase in the value of the land will contribute to the appreciation of
the Company’s assets.
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Leveraging on brand recognition

During the Year, Jiangsu production base successfully expanded and built a production line of 200,000
tonnes Hongri type sulphur-based compound fertiliser through upgrading technology, which originated from
the patent technology of spray granulation, which is derived from Shandong Hongri, best known as “Father
of China’s sulphur-based fertiliser”. As a leader of compound fertiliser industry in the PRC, Shandong Hongri
has made great contribution to fertiliser industry and agricultural development by replacing of single-nutrient
fertiliser with compound fertiliser across the PRC and benefits the whole population.

The brand reputation for “Yanyangtian (4F5X)", “Le He He (Z4MIM])” has been further raised. During the
Year, “Yanyangtian (¥.%%X)” was rewarded as “China’s Best Efficiency Fertiliser Brand (1 B1E &AL EHE F T
), and it’s brand influence and stable product quality were well-known in China’s agricultural market.

Diversifying products portfolio drove by innovation

The Group has been further optimizing its management model by synergising the procurement and production
bases, so as to leverage on its bargaining power to reduce procurement cost. In respect of enhancing brand
management and product innovation, we have been focusing on products’ research and development and
innovation, and have launched alginic acid fertiliser (J&3RBEZAERL) under the brand of “Yanyangtian (%F5X)”,
Sheng Ming Yuan high tower sulphur-based compound fertiliser (47T &SR EE A AR under the brand
of “Feng Shou (ZU7)” and a series of products of “Yang Guang No.1 (F53—%%)” under the brand of “Le
He He (Z4m[f])”. These new green ecological fertiliser products can improve the diversity of land, inhibit soil
diseases, trigger the crops immune system, enhance crops strength, increase crop output, and effectively
improve the utilization of fertiliser. They can be applied to various economic crops and field crops.

The Group’s fertiliser business comprised two production bases in Jiangsu and Jiangxi and three sales
companies. The fertiliser sales network covers strategic markets across the nation. The Group continues to
pursue the synergy between research and production, drive high-quality development through upgrading
technology and innovation, enhance the corporate’s core competitiveness, and provide diversified, high-
quality, and efficient green fertiliser products to the market.

Magnesium Product Business

The Group engages in its magnesium product business through Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group
Holdings Limited (“REMT”). The Group proactively explored new customers, provided various product
resolutions and differentiated products which have been well recognised by customers. In September 2019,
the Group’s magnesium product was recognized by Alunorf, the biggest aluminum processing company of
the world, which has brought opportunities for the Group to expand its international business. The Group will
optimise its customer bases by increasing the proportion of large customers, and continue to entrench its
foundation and to drive of magnesium business at a high speed.
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Prospect

The Group’s two green industries will continue to benefit from the opportunities arising from the Chinese
governments’ favorable industrial policies. In October 2019, National Development and Reform Commission
(the “NDRC”) of the PRC revised and issued “Catalogue for the Guidance of Industrial Structure Adjustment
(2019 Version)” E XA A EH 8 (20194 X)), in which the “development and application of organic
fertiliser industrialization technology” were included in the class of agriculture product to promote; on the
other hand, the “magnesium alloys” were included in the application of lightweight materials. The important
role and development potential of magnesium alloys were recognized in the construction of light weight
vehicles. In respect of organic fertiliser, the Ministry of Agriculture of the People’s Republic of China selected
100 demonstration counties to grant government subsidies of RMB10 million per county in 2017, and the
number was increased to 175 counties in 2019 to encourage farmers to use organic fertiliser. The proportion
of green ecological fertiliser to the total fertiliser application will increase from the current 10% to 30% in
the future, providing a broad market space for the sustainable development of the Group’s green ecological
fertiliser business. The management has always adhered to the principles of green, environmental friendly and
sustainability to strengthen the product differentiation strategy, actively seize the development opportunities,
and promote sustainable and healthy development of the Company.

In the early 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak swept across China. The Chinese government has been quick
and decisive to take the strongest measures to contain the disease. With a level | public health emergency
declared by affected provinces and cities, people could not return to work on time due to the restriction
arising from epidemic control and prevention measures, and the traffic jam caused by returning to factories
after the Lunar New Year holiday. Agricultural products such as chemical fertilisers and pesticides have
been included State Council’s joint prevention and control mechanism. Key enterprises have the priority
to resume work so that the supply of fertiliser for spring plantation will not be disrupted. The Company’s
production bases gradually resumed work and production in mid-February. During the outbreak period, the
Company and employees worked jointly to fight the epidemic, minimise the risk from public hygiene on the
production and sales. The management proactively performed various work to maintain a stable and orderly
production operation on the basis of ensuring the health and safety of employees. The sales and procurement
departments were encouraged to collaborate with each other through the internet, maintain remote
communication with customers and suppliers, and promptly adjust contingency plans for customers. The
production and marketing strategies should be reasonably adjusted based on market changes to increase the
supply of ecological fertilisers and functional fertilisers with high gross profit margin and minimize the losses
caused by the epidemic.
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(a) FEEMZHEE :

Key Operational Data

Unaudited key operational data for the year ended 31
December 2019, together with the comparative figures
for the corresponding period in 2018, is as follows. Main
businesses listed below contributed over 98% of the
Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December
2019.

(a) Sales volume of major products:

2019 2018 (Decrease)

Tonnes Tonnes ()

i iz %

Fertiliser business BEIRRER 1,091,589 1,285,612 (15.1)
Magnesium product business EEMER 60,559 61,463 (1.5)

(b) TEEmzFIIEME -

(b) Average selling price of major products:

2019 2018 Increase
HKS/ HKS$/
Tonnes Tonnes 30
BT,/ W BT %
Fertiliser business BERERER 2,506 2,375 5.5
Magnesium product business PR o TS 25,022 24,993 0.1

(c) EFE:

(c) Gross profit margin:

Increase

percentage

point

2019 2018 #En

% % B

Fertiliser business BEERER 22.5 22.5 -
Magnesium product business EEmER 27.5 26.6 0.9
The Group’s gross profit margin A& @~ EF| &R 24.6 24.5 0.1

EEWARER
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Operating income and gross profit

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately HK$4,314,420,000, being year-on-year
decrease of approximately 7.3%. Contribution by our
Group’s dual core businesses: fertiliser business and
magnesium product business accounted for similar
proportion as compared to last year, representing
63.4% and 35.1% (2018: 65.6% and 33.0%) of revenue
respectively.

Revenue and sales volume of fertiliser business were
approximately HK$2,735,195,000 and 1,091,589 tonnes,
being year-on-year decrease of 10.4% and 15.1%,
respectively. As mentioned, we are implementing the
“Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial
Parks” plan for Shandong Hongri production base and have
been gradually transferred the production to our Jiangxi
and Jiangsu production bases, thereby reduced our sales
volume by approximately 15.1% year-on-year. Benefited
from the overall increase in selling price of our fertilisers,
the gross profit margin has remained relatively stable at
approximately 22.5%.

During the Year, the revenue of the magnesium product
business was approximately HK$ 1,515,291,000 (2018:
HK$1,537,781,000), representing a decrease of 1.5%; the
total sales volume was decreased to 60,559 tonnes during
the Year from 61,463 tonnes in 2018, and the overall gross
profit margin increased approximately 0.9% to 27.5%. The
decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to the effects of
devaluation of RMB to HKD during the Year. Nevertheless,
the Group has still maintained the core competitiveness of
high gross margin rare earth magnesium alloy products,
driving up the growth of gross margin.

Other gains or losses, net

Other net gains or losses were approximately
HK$95,262,000, an increase of approximately 26.5%
year-on-year, mainly due to the increase in sales of
scrap materials. Income from sales of scrap material
was approximately HK$33,278,000 for the current year
(2018: HK$ 3,569,000). Other major items included the
gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and
changes in fair value of financial guarantee liabilities, which
were approximately HK$42,089,000 and HK$8,606,000
respectively (2018: HK$ 56,365,000 and HK$ 11,168,000).
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Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses of approximately
HK$107,917,000 (2018: HK $ 133,673,000) accounted for
approximately 2.5% (2018: 2.9%) of revenue, which mainly
consisted of market operating expenses and sales staff
salaries, and sales and distribution expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly include staff compensation,
depreciation and amortisation, auditing and professional
expenses. Administrative expenses for the current year were
approximately HK$298,305,000 (2018: HK$ 233,530,000),
being an increase of approximately HK$64,775,000 or
27.7% year-on-year.

Due to the gradual reduction of production at the Shandong
Hongri production base, its depreciation and amortisation
during the Year is required to be reclassified from
production costs to administrative expenses, increasing
administrative expenses by approximately HK$30,188,000.
In addition, Jiangsu production base undertook relevant
repair and maintenance while taking up the integration of
Shandong Hongri's production capacity, incurring repair
and maintenance costs of approximately HK$11,673,000.
In addition, the Company and REMT have granted share
options during the Year to provide incentives or rewards to
eligible persons, resulting in a total equity settlement fee of
approximately HK$22,969,000, recognized as expense for
this year.

Finance expenses

Finance costs were approximately HK$153,664,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 6.8%
year-on-year, mainly resulted from decrease in effective
interest rate of the exchangeable bond upon extension and
reduced bills financing, thereby reducing the proportion of
high-interest financing.
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Income tax expense

The income tax expense for this period was approximately
HK$ 163,347,000, representing an increase of
approximately 8.7% year-on-year. During this period,
Jiangxi production base began to take up the production
and sales volume of Shandong Hongri production base,
exercised economies of scale, effectively controlled costs
and expenses, and increased the profit of the fertiliser
business. Income tax expenses were so increased
accordingly.

Margin

During the Year, the Group’s after-tax profit from
continuing operations was approximately HK$428,254,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 20.9% year-on-
year. During the year, the Group persisted to have cash
inflow generated from operations. The EBITDA for 2019 was
approximately HK$964,692,000 (2018: HK$1,068,000,000
after exclusion of discontinued operation). The year to year
comparison was about a decrease of 10.4%.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

Liquidity, Liabilities and Financial Resources

The Group’s liquidity in 2019 was mainly derived from cash
generated from business operations and financing activities
during the Year. As at 31 December 2019, total amount of
bank and cash balances of the Group was approximately
HK$832,662,000 (2018: HK$717,807,000).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s total borrowings
increased by approximately 5.6% as compared to 2018,
while net current assets increased by approximately 12.2%
as compared to 2018. The Group’s gearing ratio (calculated
by total borrowings over total assets) was approximately
28.6% in 2019 (2018: 27.6%).
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The Group’s existing cash resources together with the
steady cash flows generated from operating and financing
activities are sufficient to meet its business operations.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had pledge of its
assets, details of which are disclosed in Note 34 to the
financial statements.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2019, other than those disclosed in
Note 41 to the financial statements, the Group did not have
any material capital commitments.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, other than those disclosed in
Note 46 to the financial statements, the Group did not have
any significant contingent liabilities.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2019, the issued share capital of the
Company were HK$91,622,337, divided into 4,581,116,843
shares of HK$0.02 each.

Project Overview
Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City,
Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by open-pit
method, and therefore no additional exploration works are
involved or required. Only simple infrastructure works for
open-pit mining are involved in the development activities,
and no underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for producing
magnesium products of the Group. The transportation cost
for raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity
of the mine to the production base of the Group.
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The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the
Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December
2019, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were
determined based on the yearly reduction of quantity
mined to calculate the remaining resource and reserve
volumes. There is no material change in the assumptions of
estimation by the Group as compared with those previously
disclosed. The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed
by the Group’s internal geological experts. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group completed a dolomite
output of 109,601 tonnes. As compared with the state as
at 31 December 2018, there was no material change in the
resource estimate and ore reserve of the dolomite mine
during the Year.

During 2019, the expenditures incurred in mining
activities were mainly for direct wages, materials, energy,
transportation, depreciation and amortisation, etc. Such
expenditures have been included in cost of sales and
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for 2019.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities of dolomite
for the year ended 31 December 2019 were approximately
HK$4,221,000 while the expenditure incurred in exploration
and development activities was HKS$NIil.

Serpentine Mine

The Group’s serpentine mine is situated in Donghai County,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by
open-pit method, and therefore no additional exploration
works are involved or required. Only simple infrastructure
works for open-pit mining are involved in the development
activities, and no underground exploration or structural
works are involved. The serpentine mined is sold directly
as metallurgical flux for iron and steel smelting and is raw
material for producing silicon magnesium fertilisers of the
Group. The transportation cost for raw material is relatively
low due to the close proximity of the mine to the production
base of the Group.

The resource/reserve of the Serpentine Mine was reported
under the JORC system when it was acquired in 2010.
As at 31 December 2019, the anticipated resource and
reserve volumes were determined based on the volume at
the time of acquisition with the yearly reduction of quantity
mined to calculate the remaining resource and reserve
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volumes. There is no material change in the assumptions of
estimation by the Group as compared with those previously
disclosed. The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed
by the Group’s internal geological experts. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group completed a
serpentine output of 537,485 tonnes. As compared with
the state as at 31 December 2018, there was no material
change in the resource estimate and ore reserve of the
serpentine mine.

The expenditures incurred for 2019 in development activities
were mainly CAPEX for transformation of the mine dumping
site as specified and addition of mining machine. Such
expenditures have been capitalised and included in the
consolidated statement of financial position for 2019. The
expenditures incurred in mining activities were mainly for
direct wages, materials, energy, transportation, depreciation
and amortisation, etc. Such expenditures have been
included in cost of sales and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for 2019.

The expenditures incurred in development and mining
activities of serpentine for the year ended 31 December
2019 were approximately HK$10,942,000 and
HK$29,413,000 respectively while the expenditures incurred
in exploration were HK$ Nil.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks
and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our
Group’s businesses. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by our Group. There may be other
risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below
which are not known to our Group or which may not be
material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or
affects ability to meet business objectives arising from
the movement in market demand, product prices, foreign
exchange rates, and interest rates. The management of our
Group keeps continually monitoring these exposures closely
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner against such risks.
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Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and is exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from primarily with
respect to Renminbi, HK$, Singapore dollars, US$ and
Australian dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations. The Group
does not presently hedge the foreign exchange risks.
The Group periodically reviews liquid assets and liabilities
held in currencies other than HK$ to evaluate its foreign
exchange risk exposure and consider the usage of hedging
instruments when necessary.

Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group
analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and
considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner
when appropriate, through variety of means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk
exposure of our customers. The Group strictly followed
the “client account management procedures” established
in 2004. The procedures required and ensured that all
clients were regularly assessed and be kept track of their
transaction records and credit history. The Group specified
and assigned to each customer, as according to their
operation and credit status, a series of credit measures
such as credit ratio, credit period, credit rating, credit terms
and guarantee. The client account management procedures
were effective to control the credit risk of the Group.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that our Group will be unable
to meet its obligations when they fall due because of an
inability to obtain adequate funding or liquidate assets. In
managing liquidity risk, our Group monitors cash flows and
maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalent
to ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations and
reduce the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.
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Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational
risks basically rests with functional departments of the
Group and its subsidiaries. Key functions of the Group
is to guide their standard operating procedures, limits
of authority and reporting framework. Our management
will assess key operational exposures and effect raised
in business development regularly, implement relevant
measures and improve the internal control so that risk
can be responded and mitigated on a timely and effective
manner.

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of
extension of its return period relative to the expected
return or occurrence of losses on any particular investment
attributable to changes of external factors. The Group is
well aware of importance of exploring various business
opportunities and territories on a continual basis, and also
implement as the top agenda of the year. Key concern
of projects investment framework will be balancing risk
and return across different investments, and thus risk
assessment is a core aspect of the investment decision
process. Proper investment assessment and due diligence
procedures have been set up and detailed analysis will be
made before approving investments. Regular updates on
the progress of the investments of our Group would be
submitted to the Board.

Manpower and retention risk

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because
of the Group’s rapid business development while at the
same time facing severe competition over specialists from
the industry and turnover of manpower. Our Group may
face the risk of not being able to recruit and retain key
personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence to cope with the expansion of
business which would meet the business objectives of our
Group. Our Group will conduct a thorough analysis over
its remuneration system, as well as incentive mechanism
and optimise the compensation structure so as to ensure
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remuneration packages can align reasonably with market
standard and maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile,
recruitment channels are broadened and the talent pool
of senior management are strengthened, so as to further
enhance the promotion opportunities and career path of
employees. Systematic staff training are also being further
enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of training
and the dissemination of good corporate cultures.

Environmental Policies and Performance

Environmental policies and performance mainly means
increasing attention of PRC government paid to
environmental rules and policies and more strict regulatory
requirements. As subsidiaries and newly acquired
enterprises commenced into operation for a long while and
lag behind certain environmental and duty requirements
promulgated by PRC government. The Group monitors
impact on business development closely raised from
movements of environmental policy and external factors.
Acting in an environmentally responsible manner and
performing social responsibilities, the Group is committed to
improving and maintaining the long term sustainability of the
communities in which it operates. The Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient
use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction.
Green initiatives and measures have been adopted in daily
operation of the Group. Such initiatives include recycling
of resources, energy saving measures and water saving
practices.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in mainland China while the
Company is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group’s
operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in mainland China and Hong Kong. During
the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date
of this report, to the best of our knowledge, the Group
has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in
mainland China and Hong Kong.
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Relationship with Employees and Key
Stakeholders

The number of employees of the Group was 2,351 (2018:
approximately 3,440) as at 31 December 2019. The
remuneration of employees was determined by the Group
with reference to their performance, work experience and
current market conditions. Employee benefits include
medical insurance, defined provident fund scheme,
discretionary bonus and employee share option scheme.
There has been no labour dispute or significant change in
the number of employees that affect the normal operations
of the Group. The Directors believe that the Group
maintains admirable relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners, shareholders, investors
and banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with
our key stakeholders closely, the Group has formulated
corresponding scheme about investor relationship, and also
holds tailored activities from time to time, such as annual/
extraordinary general meetings, on-site visits, seminars
and road-shows. Accordingly, our senior management
have kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas
and shared business latest update about development of
the Group with them when appropriate. During the Year,
there was no material dispute between our Group and its
business partners or banks.
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Executive Directors

CHI Wen Fu, aged 57, Chairman of the Group who is
responsible for overall strategic planning and key operating
decisions. Mr. Chi started his law firm in Fuzhou in 1995, in
which he was the Managing Partner. Prior to that, Mr. Chi
joined Fuzhou Justice Bureau Commerce Law Office after
qualifying as a lawyer in the PRC in 1989. In early 1998,
Mr. Chi originated an initial research on organic agricultural
production and funded a R&D project on microbial
compound fertilisers. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Chemical
Analysis and Law. Mr. Chi established the Group in 2000.

SHUM Sai Chit, aged 62, Chief Executive Officer of the
Group who is responsible for business operations. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the Managing Director
of Go Modern Limited which was principally engaged in
manufacturing of textile products and trading activities. In
1984, Mr. Shum joined Fujian Textiles Import and Export
Corporation as a Manager to oversee importing and
exporting of textile products. Mr. Shum is a graduate of
Consumer Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr. Shum has
joined the Group since January 2002. Mr. Shum is currently
an executive director of REMT.

CHI Jing Chao, aged 37, Chief Corporate Affairs Officer
of the Group who is responsible for the overall corporate
activities. Mr. Chi has 10 years of experience in corporate
affairs. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Financial and Administrative
Management. Mr. Chi has joined the Group since August
2004. Mr. Chi is currently an executive director of REMT.
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Non-Executive Director

GUO Mengyong, aged 61, is a Deputy General Manager
of Fujian Changsheng Wireless Technology Development
Company Limited. He is responsible for electronic
engineering technical management. Fujian Changsheng
Wireless Technology Development Company Limited is
principally engaged in production of electronic products and
communication devices. Mr. Guo joined Fuzhou Capacitors
Factory as a Technician in 1976. From 1993 onwards,
Mr. Guo worked at Fuzhou Meters Group Company as
an Engineer and later promoted to the Deputy Factory
Manager in 1996, in charging of technical quality control. In
2000, Mr. Guo joined Fujian Wireless Group Company as
Deputy General Manager and was responsible for quality
management. He is a graduate of Industrial Enterprise
Management. Mr. Guo has joined the Group since February
2011.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

CHEUNG Sound Poon, aged 59, is currently an
independent non-executive director of Rare Earth. Mr.
Cheung is currently a senior audit manager at Chui &
Kwok (CPA). He was an audit senior at Gary W.K. Yam &
Co. (CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 35 years of experience
in accounting and auditing. He was an independent non-
executive director and the chairman of audit committee of
the board of the Comapny betwee February 2004 and May
2007.

SHENG Hong, aged 57, Director of Hadrian Manufacturing
(Asia) Limited and Director of Operations and General
Manager of Hadrian (Shanghai) Trading Limited. The
Hadrian Group is principally engaged in production and
sales of metal partitions and lockers. Mr. Sheng has over
20 years of experience in management of corporation
and investment. He was employed by China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited from 1986 to 1996. Mr. Sheng
holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Engineering Mechanics from
Tongji University, Shanghai.
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LAU Chi Kit, aged 75, an executive director of Chinlink
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 997). He retired
from The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited (“HSBC”) in December 2000 after more than 35
years of service. Among the major positions in HSBC, he
was the assistant general manager and head of Personal
Banking Hong Kong and assistant general manager and
head of Strategic Implementation, Asia- Pacific Region.
He is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers
(“Institute”). He was the chairman of the Institute’s
Executive Committee (from January 1999 to December
2000). He is currently the honorary advisor of the Institute’s
Executive Committee. He served as a member on a
number of committees appointed by the Government of
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, including the
Advisory Council on the Environment (from October 1998
to December 2001), the Advisory Committee on Human
Resources Development in the Financial Services Sector
(from June 2000 to May 2001), the Corruption Prevention
Advisory Committee of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (from January 2000 to December
2003), the Environment and Conservation Fund Committee
(from August 2000 to October 2006), the Innovation
and Technology Fund (Environment) Projects Vetting
Committee (from January 2000 to December 2004) and
the Law Reform Commission’s Privacy Sub-committee
(from February 1990 to March 2006). He also served as
chairman of the Business Environment Council Limited (from
September 1998 to December 2001). Currently, he is also
an independent non-executive director of Royale Furniture
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1198), Leoch International
Technology Limited (stock code: 842) and Hin Sang Group
(International) Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
6893).

39



40

B EBIERR AR A E Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

EERESREEEGE

Directors and Senior Management Profile

DEIME

PEHIZ - 565 AEBMBAERARWME
BEEBALEHNYE  EECHRAANES
HeMAAEBRN EALEEIZEESLTA
RIS RE YRR EEBAFEHELEEL
BoEAEREEERTAEIBEEESLEN
FMEBREFN AR ERETHERBE LS
EREARBAEBN SR eERe
B g Age BNESTMY KRB
e o EALEN2010F5 AMAKRER -

S

SREEE

BEHE 625 AEEESHLEE BELSE
Er¥mERKREEREERE  AN2EAEE
ZRBEELKE -BLEBARI0FERIT
¥&k  FERSHSBEBEE  2EEEL
EZRITERAT  FBIETERARKRER
BIT(EB)BRAGE - BINEMER « DEFM
TERIT XMNFMBELER ERANARERE -
MAKERR  BBALERERRIT(BB)ESFL
IR BEDERITES - BEEENR2017F3
AIMALXEHE -

TXRE 515 ASEBAEERE BEASEE
BILEREAEEE - TAAEZENBEILREE
BleEs REMAEEARBILARER20FE
B8 MAREBEAG T IHERBIRAAE
EERITE - TRA0 - MBHmESRL - T4
AR 2007 FINAREHE o

Company Secretary

LUK Sai Wai, Simon, aged 56, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Group. Mr. Luk is
responsible for financial, management accounting and
secretarial affairs of the Group. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Luk was appointed as Financial Controller for several
listed companies in Hong Kong and was experienced in
finance and management. Mr. Luk holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Business Administration from Hong Kong Baptist
University and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration
from University of Strathclyde. He is a fellow member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and a member of Society of Registered
Financial Planners, Hong Kong. Mr. Luk has joined the
Group since May 2010.

Senior Management

NGAN Sau Fung Joseph, aged 62, Managing Director
of the Group. Mr. Ngan is responsible for corporate finance
and investor relations management, and also participates
in risk management and strategic planning of the Group.
Mr. Ngan has over 30 years of experience in the financial
industry, which includes working at The Hong Kong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, the Allied Banking
Corporation, and DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, in the
foreign exchange and treasury businesses, corporate and
retail banking, payment and cash management, as well as
credit and risk management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Ngan was the Managing Director of DBS Bank (Hong Kong),
and was in charge of its enterprise banking business. Mr.
Ngan has joined the Group since March 2017.

WANG Yongxiang, aged 51, Production Director of the
Group, is responsible for the production management
in ore and fertiliser of the Group. Mr. Wang majored in
planning and surveying of mining industry with over 20
years of experience in agricultural fertilisers production and
mining. Prior to joining the Group, he was the Production
Technician and Engineer at Donghai serpentine mine in
Jiangsu Province, and the Head of Sulfuric Acid Factory.
Mr. Wang has joined the Group since 2007.
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ZHU Guocai, aged 46, Sales Director of the Group, is
responsible for sales management in fertiliser business
of the Group. Mr. Zhu graduated from Jilin Agricultural
University, and has over 20 years of experience in the
agricultural management and marketing of fertiliser. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Zhu served as Regional Director
and Deputy General Manager of sales in Shandong Hongri
Chemical Joint Stock Company Limited. Mr. Zhu joined
Shandong Hongri in 2000.

ZHOU Jianhui, aged 47, is responsible for the safety
environment management of the fertiliser base of the
Group. Mr. Zhou majored in agriculture with over 20 years
of experience in agricultural fertilisers industries, and has
served in various positions, such as the Head of Fertiliser
Factory and Company General Manager. Mr. Zhou has
joined the Group since 2007.

LEE Man Ching, aged 40, Assistant to Chairman of the
Group. Ms. Lee has over 10 years of experience in human
resources and administrative management. Ms. Lee holds a
Bachelor’ s Degree in Accountancy and a Master’ s Degree
in Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is a fellow member of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, and an associate member
of Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Ms. Lee
has joined the Group since August 2004.
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The Company is committed to achieve and maintain high
standards of corporate governance and business integrity.
The Board believes that good corporate governance will
not only improve management accountability and investors
confidence, but will lay a good foundation for the long-term
development of the Company.

Code on Corporate Governance Practices

Throughout the year of 2019, the Company has complied
with the code provision as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate
Governance Report under Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) except for the following deviations as
explained below with considered reasons:

(@) Under code provision E.1.2, the Chairman of the
Board should attend the annual general meeting. Mr.
Chi Wen Fu, the chairman of the Board was unable
to attend the annual general meeting held on 26 June
2019 as he was obliged to be away for a business
trip. Mr. Shum Sai Chit, chief executive officer and
executive Director of the Company, attended the said
annual general meeting to respond to queries from
shareholders.

(o) Under code provision A. 6. 7, independent non-
executive Directors and other non-executive Directors
should also attend general meetings and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.
Mr. Guo Mengyong (being a non-executive Director)
and Mr. Sheng Hong (being an independent non-
executive Director) was unable to attend the general
meeting held on 26 June 2019 as they were obliged
to be away for business trips. Mr. Kwong Ping Man
(being an independent non-executive Director who
has retired from the Board on 26 June 2019) was also
unable to attend the annual general meeting held on
26 June 2019 for personal engagement.

BT

AEEREFSELR EFGCEERARMIESR
BERrHEEAEE EFSTREAOBMERRE

- REXKEEERE
- ERREFEERUYBRE

- REEREERE

- BAAREERERK

- HWEMBEERAMR

- HEFEKERE

- HEFBWEIHERERIAHA

- EURTIBREREREE

- BIFTREEE
- HMEZFE=E
- BIETAREZHFMBOR

EFSMBRBETTANRXED.3.1 RATEIAIE
%o BEFERARIRABE R RERAR
AIMERERHRERER IR MEREFER
BREEENEIIRFEEXER - ARG RE
BRARRIEREBTAREREERENBRREE
B ERHE R REREANEERESFH
FETARAGRTFM - TeRAARAETEE
ERTAMNBERAERERE ARETELREN
B -

R2019FE - EXFQCHEXESRETHR
AARRETREERTRIMEE HEEATERTE N
EREEERREFELRENER -

R2019%F » TEE 05 AR E R IFHTT
EERBYFNTES  EPAWRAHMATE
EHE -

2019 %k ANNUAL REPORT 2019

EEERRS
Corporate Governance Report

The Board

The Group is governed by the Board which is responsible
for strategic leadership and overall supervision of the
Group. The Board exercises a number of authorities which
include:

—  Formulating the Group’s overall strategies

— Monitoring and controlling operational and financial
performance

—  Formulating strategies for risk management

— Reviewing effectiveness of internal control system

— Approving financial results and public announcements

— Approving annual operating budgets

— Approving major acquisitions or disposals and capital
projects

— Reviewing and approving major investments and
material borrowings

—  Setting dividend policy

—  Approving appointment of Directors

—  Setting the Group’s remuneration policies

The Board is also responsible for performing the functions
set out in code provision D.3.1. The Board will meet to
develop, review and monitor the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, to review and monitor
training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, to review and monitor
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, to develop, review
and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors and to review the
compliance of the Company with the CG Code and the
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year of 2019, in relation to the corporate
governance functions, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the
regulatory and statutory requirements, and the disclosure in
the corporate governance report.

During 2019, the Chairman had met the non-executive
Director and the independent non-executive Directors
respectively and individually without the presence of other
executive Directors.
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Board Composition

The Board comprises 7 Directors in which 3 are
executive Directors; 1 is non-executive Director and 3
are independent non-executive Directors. The number of
independent non-executive Directors constitutes more than
one-third of the Board. The composition of the Board as at
the date of this report and their profiles are set out on page
37 and page 41 of the annual report respectively.

The Board delegates powers to executive Directors
for the day-to-day management of the Group and the
implementation of major strategies and initiatives adopted
by the Board whereas executive Directors should provide
such explanations and information to the Board in a timely
manner to enable the Board to monitor the performance of
management.

Non-executive Director brings in valuable expertise and
experience to the Company and serves important functions
as well as provides strategic advices to the management.

Independent non-executive Directors ensure that the
Board is accountable for the interest of all shareholders
and handles matters in an objective manner. The 3
independent non-executive Directors have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for efficient and effective
delivery of its functions. The Board has received from each
independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Chi Jing Chao have a family
relationship of uncle and nephew. Mr. Guo Mengyong is a
brother-in-law of Mr. Chi Wen Fu. Save as disclosed, there
is no other relationship among members of the Board.

Upon reviewing (i) the directorships and major commitments
of each Director; and (ii) the attendance rate of each
Director at the meetings of the Board and its committees,
the Board is satisfied that all Directors have spent sufficient
time in performing their responsibilities during 2019.
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The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company are Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Shum Sai Chit
respectively. The roles of chairman and the chief executive
of the Company are separate and exercised by two
separate individuals.

Appointment and Re-election

Any potential new Directors, being individuals who
are suitably qualified and expected to make a positive
contribution to the performance of the Board, will be
identified by the existing Directors and the Nomination
Committee and submitted to the Board for approval.

In accordance with the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
and every Director shall be subject to retirement at least
once every 3 years. Mr. Shum Sai Chit, Mr. Guo Mengyong,
Mr. Chi Jing Chao and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon (both
Mr. Chi and Mr.Cheung being directors appointed by the
Board after the preceding general meeting of the Company)
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company, but being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

Each of the non-executive Director and the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Guo Mengyong, Mr.
Cheung Sound Poon, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Lau Chi Kit,
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a fixed term of 2 years commencing from 1 March 2019,
27 June 2019, 1 March 2019 and 1 April 2020 respectively,
subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of
Directors under the articles of association of the Company
and save that either such Director or the Company may
terminate the appointment by giving at least 3 months’ prior
written notice. Annual emoluments payable to independent
non-executive Directors and non-executive Director will be
reviewed according to their estimated time to be spent on
the Company’s matters and their working experience with
the Company.
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All existing executive Directors are entitled to a fixed
remuneration per annum respectively. In addition, each
executive Director is also entitled to a discretionary
management bonus calculated as a percentage of the
audited consolidated net profit of the Group attributable to
the owners of the Company (after tax and non-controlling
interests and the payment of such management bonuses
but before extraordinary and exceptional items), which
percentage shall be determined by the Board provided
that the aggregate amount of the bonuses payable to
all executive Directors in respect of each financial year
of the Company shall not exceed 5% of such net profit.
The remuneration of each executive Director is subject to
the annual review of the Board with reference to his/her
contribution in terms of time, effort and his/her expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors and
senior management during the year are disclosed in Note
13 to the financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable
expenses incurred during the performance of their duties to
the Company and are eligible for share options under the
share option scheme of the Company.

Board Processes

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and leads
the Group in an ethical, responsible and effective manner.
The Board meets on a regular basis and arranges ad-hoc
meetings for any specific matters that may arise.

EEZEN2019F L BH4REHE - TREAE
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Z sk

HITEE Executive Directors
WX E(LE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman)
Lt Shum Sai Chit

SEBRe Chi Jing Chao®

HEZ Chi Bi Fen

FHITES Non-Executive Director
PRE Guo Mengyong

BUFHTEE  Independent Non-Executive

Directors
RERE Cheung Sound Poon®
Bms Kwong Ping Man'
Bt Sheng Hong
BEg Lau Chi Kit
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The Board met 4 times in 2019. The attendance of
individual Directors at Board meetings, committee meetings
and general meetings is set out in the following table:

FritifE /B g%
Attended/held
E5ee3 FnEEges REZEees FMZEgex REAE
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
4/4 - 1/1 - on
4/4 - - 11 11
2/2 - - - 0/1
2/2 - - - 0/1
4/4 - - - 0/1
2/2 2/2 - - -
2/2 3/3 11 11 0/1
4/4 5/5 1/1 1/1 1/1
4/4 5/5 - 1/1 1/1

M R2019F 6 A26 HET ALK AGIES
@ R2019F 6 A27 HEZT AR RARES

FELEMNEEEXHEREZTe RS RR
BRARTERES YR TRIIKEREFE
Bl - EEGARNBEFE R LURERRTAK
NEFRBRIFLRE - MEBRRAEENE
EFELBEREARRBEAZEETANEER -
BEREERAEERTESESHR 2T AMIEN
EERBRZTARE -

Retired as Director of the Company on 26 June 2019
Appointed as Director of the Company on 27 June 2019

©

Agendas and the accompanying board papers are
circulated in full to all Directors at least 3 days before the
Board or committee meeting. Board decisions will then be
resolved either by vote at Board meetings or by written
resolutions. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has
a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather
than a written resolution.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the
Board committees taken by the company secretary of the
Company and, together with any supporting papers, are
available for inspection to all Directors. The minutes record
the matters discussed by the Board or its committees,
the decisions made and any concerns or dissenting views
raised by the Directors.

If a Director has a conflict of interests in relation to a
transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board,
such Director is required to declare his/her interest and
abstain from voting. Such matter shall be considered at a
Board meeting by Directors who have no material interest in
the transaction or proposal.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous
Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each Director would receive
an induction package covering the Group’s business and
the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a
listed company. The Group also regularly updates Directors
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding
subjects necessary for performing their duties. In addition,
the Company has been encouraging and offering to pay
for Directors to attend seminars on the latest development
of applicable laws, rules and regulations so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, the
training received by each of the Directors during the
period from 1 January 2019 up to 31 December 2019 is
summarised as follows:

BESERR
sy
Type of
continuous
professional
development
training s

BITES Executive Directors

M E Chi Wen Fu B
LR Shum Sai Chit B
S ERER @ Chi Jing Chao® B
FUE=EZNY Chi Bi Fen® B
FHITES Non-Executive Director

Cilfe Guo Mengyong B
BYFHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors

REAR® Cheung Sound Poon®@ B
B Sheng Hong B
EAlESRES Lau Chi Kit B
BRSO Kwong Ping Man® A, B

M R2019F 6 A26 HEEAKAGIESE
@ R2019F6 A27 BEZTARRRES

A HEBESRIEIRE

B: HERE TYWEEHEARREXBREZRAR
BEfE - LTRREMEREERERTERS
77 E R ST A F

M Retired as Director of the Company on 26 June 2019
@ Appointed as Director of the Company on 27 June 2019

notes:

A: Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)

B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the
Company’s business or directors’ duties and responsibilities,
the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements etc.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for implementing business strategies and management of
the daily operations of the Group to the senior management
who is required to report back to the Board. Functions
reserved to the Board and the management are reviewed
periodically. The Board and each individual Director is
empowered to access any Company’s information from
senior management and the company secretary at all times.
The Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including
amendments on relevant rules and regulations. During the
year, Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
their duties. Directors are allowed to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense, but no request was made by any
Director for such independent professional advice in 2018.

The Board monitors and reviews performance of the
management based on several key performance indicators
such as financial figures, investor relations, corporate
governance and internal control. The principal measures
include review of management accounts, review of
internal or external auditor reports and feedbacks from
stakeholders.

Board Diversity Policy

During the year, the Board has implemented a board
diversity policy which has been effective since 1 September
2013. The Company seeks to achieve board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 7
Directors. Among which, one of them is a woman, one
of them is a non-executive Director and three of them
are independent non-executive Directors. The Directors
are of diverse educational background and possess a
wide spectrum of professional qualifications and business
experience. The Board is of significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of gender, professional and educational
background and skills.

Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”) as the
code of conduct of the Company regarding Directors’
securities transactions. The Company made specific
enquiries to all Directors and all Directors have confirmed in
writing that they have complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code during the year.

Board’'s Committees

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board
has established audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
and nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”).
These committees function within clearly defined terms
of reference. Independent non-executive Directors play
a significant role in these committees to ensure that
independent and objective views are taken.

The terms of reference of these committees are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Sheng
Hong and Mr. Lau Chi Kit, who are all independent non-
executive Directors. All committee members possess
appropriate qualifications such as accounting and financial
management.

The Audit Committee met 5 times in 2019 to review with
the senior management and external auditors the Group’s
significant internal controls and financial matters as set out
in the Audit Committee’s terms of reference. The functions
of the Audit Committee include the following matters:

— Reviewing the Group’s financial statements with
recommendation to the Board for approval

— Reviewing the Group’s compliance of the regulatory
and statutory requirements

— Reviewing the Group’s internal control and risk
management

— Reviewing significant accounting and audit issues

—  Reviewing the Group’s connected transactions

— Overseeing and managing the relationship with
external auditors

The Audit Committee has power to conduct investigations
into any matter within the scope of responsibility of the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is authorised
to obtain independent professional advice if it deems
necessary for discharging its responsibilities. The Audit
Committee has obtained a written confirmation from the
auditors on their independence and objectivity as required
under the Section 290 (revised) of the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants issued by Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants prior to the commencement of
the audit of the Company’s financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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During the year, the Audit Committee has carried out
the above functions in the respective Audit Committee
meetings and also has been satisfied with the review of
the audit scope, process, effectiveness and independence
of the auditors. The Audit Committee has reviewed and
recommended to the Board for approval of the interim
and annual financial statements for 2019. There was no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the re-appointment of the auditors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 4
members, namely Mr. Cheung Sound Poon (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Shum Sai Chit (executive Director), Mr. Sheng
Hong (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Lau Chi
Kit (independent non-executive Director).

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
formulate transparent procedures for setting remuneration
policies and packages for Directors and the senior
management of the Group. Its duties include:

— Reviewing and recommending to the Board the
remuneration packages of individual executive and
non-executive Directors and the senior management
of the Group

— Reviewing the administration of the share option
scheme of the Company

— Reviewing the appropriateness of compensation for
Directors and the senior management of the Group

No Director is involved in determining his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee met once in
2019 to review the existing remuneration policies of the
Directors and senior management.

53



54

B EBIERR AR A E Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

EEERRE
Corporate Governance Report

RBEET

RAZESRMIMKEAR  BREENFLE
(REZBEIFRAUTESR)  REAXLECH
VIHERTER) REAEECELIFNTES) -

RAZBEEMBERR
- REEFIZRE - ABRAK

- ERYESSFLEMEHULAART
MR
- VEARENKEEBABHEEREENXE

- ERBUFRTEFZEYME

- REEAEFEFEFREFMERHE
i 2

- HERMFEFENENRBBR

- HERMBEFEZTLEBRRABRESR
%

- EREFEREZTAEBRORTLIRE
RERTZERRERE

REZEEN2019F AR — R & - Uigs
BEEe7RE  ABNAK TEZEESED
EEeREAEMRSRTZRRBFAGE
MEREHEES  RANTRBUIFRTERTZH
ST e

RETHEAEERARREZTENB ZBE
B REZEEBAIEREZTENEZTILK
o o

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 3 members,
namely, Mr. Chi Wen Fu (chairman of the Nomination
Committee and executive Director), Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Sheng
Hong (independent non-executive Director).

Its duties include:

— Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board

— Recommending any change to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategies

— |dentifying capable and qualified individuals to become
Board members

— Assessing independence of independent non-
executive Directors

— Making recommendation on appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors

— developing and maintaining a policy for the nomination
of Board members

— developing and maintaining a board diversity policy
and to ensure its effectiveness

— monitoring the implementation of the Board diversity
policy and to review and to make recommendations
on any revisions of such policy

The Nomination Committee met once in 2019 for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendation to the Board regarding change of roles
of board members and re-appointment of retiring Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In carrying out the responsibility for identifying suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to
the board diversity policy.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

The Company had appointed HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as the independent auditors of the Group. Apart
from audit services, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
also provided non-audit services during the year. For the
year of 2019, the provisions of non-audit services mainly
include professional services for professional review.

The following principles are considered when determining
the appointment of the auditors in non-audit services:

— No management decision made by the auditors
— Independence of the auditors not to be impaired
—  Quality of service

—  Cost of service

The Board was authorised in the annual general meeting to
determine the remuneration of the independent auditors.

The remuneration paid/payable by the Group to the
independent auditors for the year of 2019 are as follows:

FExT
HK$’000

BESMEEAERAT HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Eiz R EBEZEERE Audit and audit related services 3,527
HBEZRG Non-audit services 944
FEE Total 4,471

AEREZERBBBEHFMESMERARE
%o REHSRESRITZRRBFAE LE
wme BRZREGERESFERE  RABRITLZ
BREBFRE LBRZERFEAMEBHABR
RBRARRZZERED -

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire
upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be re-appointed as the
auditors of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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Respective Responsibilities of Directors and
Auditors

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparation of the financial statements for each financial
period, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and its subsidiaries and in compliance with
the requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Listing Rules.

The auditors acknowledge their responsibilities in the
auditors’ report as set out on pages 77 to 86 of the annual
report.

Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system
of internal controls and risk management with a view to
ensuring that shareholders’ investments and the Group’s
assets are safeguarded. Such system is designated to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. This responsibility is primarily fulfilled on its behalf by
the Audit Committee. In the year under review, the Audit
Committee, as delegated by the Board, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group,
covering all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions.

The foundation of a strong system of internal control is
a solid control environment. This is dependent on the
following components:

— Business ethics and culture of the organisation;
— Quality and competence of its personnel;

—  Direction provided by the Board; and

—  Effectiveness of the management
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Risk Management

The Group improves its business and operational activities
by identifying the areas of significant business risks via a
regular review and taking appropriate measures to control
and mitigate these risks. The management of the Group
reviews all significant control policies and procedures and
highlights all significant matters to the Board and Audit
Committee.

The implementation of risk management of the Group
was assisted by the Group’s internal audit department
so that the Group could ensure new and emerging risks
relevant to the Group’s operation are promptly identified
by management, assess the adequacy of action plans
to manage these risks and monitor and evaluate the
effectiveness of the action plans. These are on-going
processes and our Audit Committee reviews the Group’s
risk management systems periodically.

Audit committee reported to the Board the implementation
of the Group’s risk management and internal control policy
which, among other things, included the determination
of risk factors, evaluation of risk level the Group could
endure and effectiveness of risk management measures.
Based on the reports from the Group’s internal control
department and the Audit Committee, the Board considers
the Group’s risk management and internal control system
is adequate and effective and the Group has complied with
the provisions on risk management and internal controls as
set out in the CG code.
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Procedures and Internal Controls for Handling
and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the
Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements or circulars
is not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or
misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative
facts.

Communication with Shareholders and Investor
Relations

The Company recognises the importance of open
communication and fair disclosure. It is the Company’s
policy to ensure that all shareholders are equally informed
of all major corporate developments.

All shareholders have proper notice of any general meeting
of the Company at which the Directors and the committees’
members are available to give explanation on any query
raised by the shareholders. Major information of the
Company could be obtained from the Company’s website
or financial reports and circulars sent to the shareholders.
Any enquiries by the shareholders requiring the Board’s
attention can also be sent in writing to the Investor
Relations Manager of the Company whose contact details
are set out in the paragraph headed “Shareholders’ Rights
— (c) Right to Put Enquiries to the Board” below.
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Resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the
Company shall be decided on a poll, save that the chairman
of the meeting may in good faith allow a resolution which
relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to
be voted by a show of hands. Procedures for conducting
a poll will be explained to the shareholders at each general
meeting and questions from shareholders regarding the
voting procedures will be answered. The poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company respectively in the manner prescribed under the
Listing Rules.

As part of a regular program of investor relations, senior
executives may hold briefings or road shows after the
results announcement and attend conferences with
institutional investors and analysts to engage in two-way
communications on the Company’s performance, objectives
and developments. Company visits can be arranged by the
Company upon specific request.

Shareholders’ Rights

(a) Right to Convene Extraordinary General

Meeting

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more members holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition.
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The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit
it to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company at the Company’s head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 1104, 11th
Floor, Tower 6, The Gateway, 9 Canton Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong, and such request
may consist of several documents in like form, each
signed by one or more of the requisitionist(s).

The request will be verified with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon
the confirmation of the branch share registrar that
the request is in order, the company secretary of
the Company will ask the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting by serving sufficient
notice in accordance with all relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements to all registered members. On
the contrary, if the request is verified as not in order,
the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, an extraordinary general meeting will not
be convened as requested.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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Right to Put Forward Proposals at General

Meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to
propose new resolutions at general meetings under
the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the articles of
association of the Company. Shareholders who wish
to propose a resolution may request the Company to
convene an extraordinary general meeting following
the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regard the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to the procedures
made available on the website of the Company at
www.centurysunshine.com.hk.

Right to Put Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing for the attention of
Investor Relations Manager of the Company whose
contact details are as follows:

Suite 1104, 11th Floor

Tower 6, The Gateway

9 Canton Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2802 2697

Email: ir@centurysunshine.com.hk

The Investor Relations Manager of the Company shall
forward the shareholders’ enquiries and concerns
to the Board and/or relevant committees of the
Board to answer the shareholders’ questions where
appropriate.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Luk Sai Wai, Simon is an employee of the Company
and has been appointed as the company secretary of the
Company with effect from 1 May 2010. The biographical
details of Mr. Luk are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management Profile”.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Luk has

taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

Constitutional documents

There are no changes in the Company ’s constitutional
documents during the year.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2019, which are set out
on pages 63 to 224.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis
of Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The activities and other particulars of its principal
subsidiaries are shown under Note 24 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance by operating
segments is set out in Note 8 to the financial statements.
During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
Group mainly operated in the PRC and the Group’s revenue
are mainly derived from the PRC and non-current assets of
the Group are mainly located in the PRC as at 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018. No analysis of the Group’s
result and assets by geographical area is disclosed.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on pages 87 to 88.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the

payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December
2019.

Business Review

A business review of the Group is set out on pages 20 to
23 of the annual report.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last 5 financial years is set out on pages 10 to 11 of
the annual report.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in Note 18 to the financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in Note 38 to the financial statements.

Equity Linked Agreements

(a) Share options granted to directors and selected

employees

For share options granted, exercised and lapsed
during the year ended 31 December 2019, details are
set out in Note 40 of the financial statements and the
section named “Share Option Schemes” contained in
this Directors’ Report.

(b) Call option

On 13 December 2019, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Grantor”) entered
into a call option agreement with an independent third
party (the “Optionee”). Pursuant to which, the Grantor
agreed to grant to the Optionee a call option at a
non-refundable option fee of HK$2,000,000 relating
to the purchase of up to 200,000,000 REMT shares
at an exercise price of HK$0.35 per REMT share
during an option period on and subject to the terms
of the call option agreement. In the event that the call
option is exercised in full, the aggregate consideration
receivable by the Grantors will be HK$72,000,000.

For more details, please refer to the announcements
made by the Company on 13 December 2019 and 23
March 2020.
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Listed Subordinated Notes

On 5 June 2017, the Company issued listed subordinated
notes (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) with the face value of SGD101.75 million. The
note carries a coupon rate of 7.0% and are listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange and will mature on 3 July 2020.

Details of the listed subordinated notes outstanding as at
31 December 2019 are set out in Note 34 of the financial
statement.

Reserves

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 91 and Note 39 to
the financial statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31
December 2019 amounted to HK$1,465,597,000 (2018:
HK$1,450,895,000).

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

During the year 2019 and 2018, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year and up to
the date of the annual report.

Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of the
annual report are:

Executive Directors
Chi Wen Fu (Chairman)
Shum Sai Chit (CEQ)
Chi Jing Chao®

Chi Bi Fen

Non-Executive Director
Guo Mengyong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Cheung Sound Poon®

Sheng Hong

Lau Chi Kit

Kwong Ping Man

M Retired on 26 June 2019
@ Appointed on 27 June 2019

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Shum Sai Chit, Mr.Guo Mengyong, Mr.
Chi Jing Chao and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon will retire from
office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable within
one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
its parent company was a party and in which a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

During the year, none of the Directors or the management
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or might compete with the
business of the Group.

Permitted Indemnity

Pursuant to Article 167 of the Company’ s Articles
of Association, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto, and no Director shall be liable for any
loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or be
incurred by the Company in the execution of the duties of
his office or in relation thereto.

A Directors liability insurance is currently in place, and was
in place during the year, to protect the Directors of the
Company against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against them.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior

management are set out on pages 37 to 39 of the annual
report.

Share Option Schemes
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(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary

REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group of
REMT’s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying
participants, REMT adopted a share option scheme
on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT Scheme”). The
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(a) Share option scheme of the Company

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group’s
businesses and to provide additional incentives
or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the
Company adopted a share option scheme on 3
December 2008 (the “Old Scheme”) and on 26 June
2019 (the “New Scheme”) respectively. The qualifying
participants mainly include employees of the Group,
Directors and contractors, suppliers or service
providers of the Group who have contribution to the
Group. Both schemes, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since its
establishing date. The Old Scheme was expired on 3
December 2018 while the remaining life of the New
Scheme is approximately 10 years (expiry on 26 June
2029). Options granted under the Old Scheme before
its expiry remain in force.

As at 31 December 2019, options to subscribe for a
total of 14,956,204 Shares were outstanding under
the Old Scheme (2018: 14,956,204 Shares) and
options to subscribe for a total of 299,900,000 Shares
were outstanding under the New Scheme. Details of
the movements in the options are set out in note 40 to
the financial statements.

Y BHIRATFANER - EEEHERE
RAIBR AN - EERI B ETEISA T HF BN &S
F (2027 FE12 B4 BEWR) °

R2019F 12 A31 8 MERFEET
B A £411,400,000 B 15 & B8 A% & ([ 76
BRI EARE DM RITE - BREZEE
BRI IS HREMIFE 40 -

EERFETRABRAQ T RAEMHELE
EER - HEARIBRESF 2 s

R2019F 12 A31H  ARRIZEEHEETT
BABRARARSERNEEREZE(EERES
MEEGEMN(TFESRBEERN ) EXVI) 2K
m~ HERGREFPELENARRRIEES
FEAE GBI EXVEE2EFEz B MR
HEEE MR ¢

qualifying participants mainly include employees,
directors, contractors, suppliers or service providers
who have contribution to the Group of REMT. The
REMT Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since its
establishing date. The remaining life of the REMT
Scheme is approximately 8 years (expiry on 4
December 2027).

As at 31 December 2019, options to subscribe for a
total of 411,400,000 Shares were outstanding under
the REMT Scheme (the “REMT Options”). Details of
the movements in the options are set out in note 40 to
the financial statements.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and Any Associated Corporation

As at 31 December 2019, the relevant interests and short
positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”)), as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO were as
follows:
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(i) BARFZROREBREZRE

BXE(EE])
Chi Wen Fu (“Mr. Chi")

R
Shum Sai Chit

i il

Chi Jing Chao
BhE

Guo Mengyong
READ

Cheung Sound Poon(

Sheng Hong

BBt
Lau Chi Kit

249,970,548

14,666,305

2,625,000

1,775,000

2,000,000

(i) Long Positions in Shares and Share Options of

1,633,998

(FtE1) (note 1)

the Company

1,591,841,912

14,666,305

1,633,998

2,625,000

1,775,000

2,000,000

20,000,000

20,000,000

8,000,000

5,000,000

5,000,000

5,000,000

11,389,145

34.75%
0.44%

0.32%
0.44%

0.04%
0.17%

0.06%
0.11%

0.11%

0.04%
0.11%

0.04%
0.25%

(1) M2019F6 A2 AEZEAKRARIES -

Appointed as Director of the Company on 27 June 2019.

(i) BARBZEFZRE

EEEHS
Directors’ Report

(iij) Long position in debentures of the Company

A & AR 2= 2,500,000
Mr. Chi Personal interest
B 5T notes:

1. ZERHBBERBEARAR(TENRHE - £
MR EFAEECBITRAB3.74% » IRILHE
FTRABERRAG EITEHENTRE=02—
FALEZ R AR A AR R -

B A AE0M14F7TAI0B ZKH EFE
B EAARRETERENTE  HEARQF
549,280,000 % A% 15 (18 & M 201546 A30H
ARBDHITRAL12%) WIFLEE SR AT
([EERErAR]) fFARBEESRARMAL
MARLZSBHEBEERAAN2014F5H30H
H2(R2015FE 12 A7TERBETREI)NER
W2 IR o

2. REAEZBREZFHBEHIN EXBEEE -
5 o

B EXATH TSI R2019F 128318 &
NRAZREERETBITRAERBEESAZHEA
T BERARQRNEMNERE B (TEERE
FREFEEFIEXVER) 2% - BRERD S ES
PR R AR RIRIEF S KBS K055 352
BEEzELEMRZEEERRER -

1.

These Shares are held by Alpha Sino International Limited
(“Alpha Sino”) and are deemed corporate interests by virtue
of Mr. Chi’s holding of 83.74% of the issued share capital
of Alpha Sino which entitled him to exercise or control the
exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general
meeting of Alpha Sino.

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10
July 2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder
of the Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares
(representing approximately 12% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance
Corporation (“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated
30 May 2014 (as amended and restated on 7 December
2015) entered into between IFC and Baishan City Tianan
Magnesium Resources Co. Ltd.

Details of Options held are set out in the above section
headed “Share Options Schemes”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their

respective associates had interests and short positions
in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register

to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of SFO.

20194 % ANNUAL REPORT 2019 -
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(iii) RAEREZ B LIRS - 15658 9K (iii) Interests in the shares, underlying shares and

EHzEz debenture of associated corporation of the
Company
PEERBL REMT

3

Long position

YRLE - _
Shum Sai Chit

e - -
Chi Jing Chao

REX - _
Cheung Sound Poon

30,000,000

3,000,000

5,000,000

0.46%

0.05%

0.08%

FERRAADTRGRAARARG P 2
=mRER

HREFHARRBEEZTHABRME - 12019
F12A31 B RARBBROHEARETET AN
MR B L BB IR B 5 R AR 15k Bl 55 336
BFREARFNECMORZIEBAENALN
T
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Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
Shareholders in the Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2019, persons who had
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
shares of equity derivatives of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:

WX E 3] 1,591,841,912 34.75%
Chi Wen Fu Long position (Bf5E1) (note 1)
o rE 1,341,871,364 29.29%
Alpha Sino Long position (FIzE2) (note 2)
B R AR ([EESRAR]) 31 793,526,275 17.32%
International Finance Long position (FtzE2) (note 2)

Corporation (“IFC”)
B e notes:
1. AXERERAKRAFE K1591,841,9128 1. Mr. Chi Wen Fu has interest in an aggregate of

B #EE R &F(a) 249,970,548 B %
MIHHEEBZHER TUHEBEEEL Kb
1,341,871,364 BB T EREF AT ED #1T
BEAN83.74% « HULI FEE N IR EERERE KR
G HITFERESTE=S 2 A EZEREEM
WR B QB -

1,691,841,912 Shares of which (a) 249,970,548 Shares are
beneficially owned by him and registered in his name; and
(b) 1,341,871,364 Shares are deemed corporate interests by
virtue of his holding of 83.74% of the issued share capital
of Alpha Sino which entitled him to exercise or control the
exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general
meeting of Alpha Sino.
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BB A2014F7A10B 2K HERE
B EAARRTERENTE  BARQF
549,280,000 i A% 17 (18 & M 201546 A30H
NRABEBITRAL12%) EHEBE LR A T
([EBEEmAE])  (EABBERSARMA L
MALECBHEBEERATN2014F 58308
HE(R2015F 12 B7HEEIREV)HMER
a2 IR -

2. BEBRemAFRNA £793,526,275 % &1 #
B EW(a) 244,246,275 1 Jh B H
BB YUNHEZREERD RO)IKBEHSE
2014 F7R10R 2RO EEER - (EAEXRT
FTERRMTE - AR5 549,280,000 % (7
(FHEMN2015F6 A0 H AR A BITRAL
12%) KGR BEERSMAR  (EARERSHA
AIMBLTRESBEREFRATN2014F
58308 % E(N2015F 12 B7THKEEFI RE
INHER M H KR -

EENGFEB 2 #s

REBEHA  BEEXARFEEBRRABTEFS
BZBMBEAL(EERBEMERIMBERAT
B MR EMRA D) BEMEREARE
BEBBAKATEBRE T ZEBDEEEME

N2
S o

T

BEHEEHN

RER  ARARET LM EFEERNEEAR
AEMRTAEABIEH I EERITHAEH

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10
July 2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder
of the Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares
(representing approximately 12% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance
Corporation (“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated
30 May 2014 (as amended and restated on 7 December
2015) entered into between IFC and Baishan City Tianan
Magnesium Resources Co. Ltd.

2. IFC has interest in an aggregate of 793,526,275 Shares of
which (a) 244,246,275 Shares are beneficially owned by
it and registered in its name; and (b) pursuant to a share
mortgage agreement dated 10 July 2014, Alpha Sino, being
the substantial shareholder of the Company, had mortgaged
549,280,000 Shares (representing approximately 12% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2015) to
IFC as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014 (as
amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

During the period under review, none of the Directors nor
the management shareholders of the Company or their
respective associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”)) had any interest in a business
that competed or might compete with the business of the
Group.

Management Contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

FEHEERER

AEEAGEIZHEBRETFEIG 2RE&HE
ERILLBEWNT

g
—RAHER 15.2
— S RMEREEL 41.8
HE
—BRAEF 2.5
—5REF&1E 7.4

Ex REZBEALHEORR(BESMAA
BERDBIRAE% A L) BER Lt = EHE
BREFPTHEES -

FEXS

AEEREFEILRBEMNBERS - R
WRMIEE 42 PRI E RSN -
DREREZTEM
BREBEARAARAFEEREZENMAESAH

Ho ARATREZE2019F 12 A1 B IEEER
—BHHERHALRERE -
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Major Suppliers and Customers

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers
are as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier 15.2
— 5 largest suppliers in aggregate 41.8
Sales
— the largest customer 2.5
— 5 largest customers in aggregate 7.4

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the
major suppliers or customers noted above.

Connected Transaction

Other than those disclosed in Note 42 to the financial
statements, there was no connected transaction during the
year and in last year.

Sufficiency of Public Float

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2019.

75



76

B EBIERR AR A E Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

EEEHRE

Directors’ Report

AL

HE2019F12A31BIEFEMRB&LHEHE
BEMEKMBRATEZ - EEHRAERT
ZRFEBEFERE LER o AREHRENKRITZ
BERBAFAE LRE-BABZRBAZEHGE
TR ERET AR AR AANRA R ZAZHAD o

REREFS

Vot 52
HITEF

EFE 0 2020F4 16 H

Auditors

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019 were
audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose
term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual
general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Shum Sai Chit
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 16 April 2020
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HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED
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AREREMEHRER 2T BEETESFTEEM
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BMRE  ZEGRAVBRREBER LM
re([BEetMAg ) BEMNEEMBRE
ER(TEBYBHREERNDEEMP S H R
7 EEER2019F 12 A31 HHGZEA F KR
MARBEZAIEFENGEYBRBERAGS
Bens TEEBREBSQARAKINEEREL
B o

RRHOER

BAREETESFAMASHEMNE LR ER
(THEBFEAER D EITER - RAEZFERT
AEENREECEANREARBE N ELSZE TS
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BB 31/F., Gloucester Tower
IR The Landmark
STH115R 11 Pedder Street

B i E 5 Central
HERITITRESE Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CENTURY SUNSHINE
GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 87 to 224, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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FAREEA

BARETSELSBERMOZEHNE - RABYEAKA  Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
HNWGAMBEHEANEBAEAEEMEIE - EL  judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
EFERERMAEBABRRGEAUERRLEEAESRE  consolidated financial statements of the current period.
BRETTRIEN - RIS L ELEEIBMEEE  These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
2R of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and

in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

Key Audit Matters

separate opinion on these matters.

BREEE
Key audit matters

P B 2 R KR E

Impairment of trade receivables

E2HERA M IERMERMEE 4 LIHE 29

BMEESHTEERRENETENS
How our audit addressed the
key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements

M2019F12H31H EX5BEEREKE ZENLE
466,119,000 7% 70 M FE U E 5 BR FURE # % 15,876,000
BLe BREEMEREZSEREZFNZHESREEEEBR
R -

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had gross trade
receivables of HK$466,119,000 and provision for
impairment of trade receivables of HK$15,876,000.
Provision is made for lifetime expected credit losses
on trade receivables.

BMEREREYHE 5 R USSR B ERBEE BTG
BFEeRE:

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on provision for impairment losses of
trade receivables included:

s EMMRIEEEENTNEEEERER  BRE
HE RN B R REWE SRR &SRR
HEERBRRENRER

Understood and validated the credit control
procedures performed by management,
including its procedures on periodic review of
aged receivables and assessment on expected
credit losses allowance of receivables;

ARETSEE
Key audit matters

EWE S RFRE(H#)
Impairment of trade receivables (continued)

BEEEMRHEFHEBEEER HRENFERH
7R # # P 2k [ Y1 75 72 B K R ] O B KRR X & A AT R
W ER R R L E R - £ARTEHEERERR - H
HROEYEFTERETPIEE WU EUALIKEKAE
MERESHEERBREFEETIR  UARFEER
ElYtE - IR IEHE S B R RN AR B AR AR E
FE - BHMEEBERXRDIRBEBE=FHRANELEE
BEET  URHBARRERLAEEER  flinsd
Y EEPENBURFENNEBEERE -

Management applied judgement in assessing
the expected credit losses. Receivables relating
to customers with known financial difficulties or
significant doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for impairment
allowance. Expected credit losses are also estimated
by grouping the remaining receivables based on
shared credit risk characteristics and collectively
assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into
account the nature of the customer, its geographical
location and its ageing category, and applying
expected credit loss rates to the respective gross
carrying amounts of the receivables. The expected
credit loss rates are determined based on historical
credit losses experienced from the past 3 years and
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information such as macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

BT EREENRKRESRREAUE  URE
EERKEZERREHMEREBBEBER S MG NH
B o

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
trade receivables and the estimation and judgement
involved in determining the expected credit losses
allowance of the trade receivables.
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BMEEFTEERRENSTENS E
How our audit addressed the
key audit matters

s FEREHBHEZERE  UHEHANARKE
5 R ARk 2 FERENE

Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of
ageing profile of trade receivables by checking
to the underlying sales invoices;

o DU B RBITUIRASERE ZRFNE
BRERMEMEBR &

Tested on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables against bank
receipts; and

e NBEEEHRUEFEREEERBEENT
i RMPERBE=FBEENEN - BFP
B R R BN R BENER(BEEEEPH
MBEARRNBEAFRRER) A REBATE T
ER(PImEREF PN EZELERR) TS
R BRELREEEEMNE -

Obtained management’s assessment on
the expected credit losses allowance of
receivables. We corroborated and validated
management’s assessment based on the
historical settlement pattern from the past 3
years, correspondence with the customers,
evidence from external sources including
the relevant public search results relating to
the financial circumstances of the relevant
customers and market research regarding the
relevant forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic factors used in management’s
assessment.

AR B ER  RABREEERRBUERAMEE
B 1R Bt e R MR B PR BV (A R e #I B B AT 1S BV RE BB
X e

Based upon the above, we found that the estimation
and judgement made by management in respect
of the expected credit losses allowance and the
collectability of receivables were supportable by the
available evidence.
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M BERRBRE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

FL2HEAMBERRME 4 RME18

EBEEAPEEBRENTENS
How our audit addressed the
key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

MN2019F12A31H EEEBEMWE BE XK
& 1 493,866,144,0008 > T E B EAEE T
2 #91,135,734,0008 7t H & £ K £ F 4
1,055,243,000 7% 7T & i 5B & # 25 49 1,629,105,000 7%
e BMEPRELEE  REEWE  KELKRE G
BEX MAGEAEEEMLSETE  BEEAR
ERIREMLEREERERE - AR E - RRIKA
L. BEEECEFHINEGEMETHELMRET -
5 M Es R AT B S B 2 mETE -

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had
property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK3,866,144,000, which mainly comprised
construction in progress of approximately
HK$1,135,734,000, leasehold land and building of
approximately HK$1,055,243,000 and plant and
machinery of approximately HK$1,629,105,000.
We focused on this area because the balance
of property, plant and equipment was significant
and these assessment process is complex and
highly subjective which based on the selection of
appropriate comparables and assumptions such as
discount rate, future revenue. The Group engaged
an external valuer to perform the valuation for the
recoverable amount of the leasehold land and
building and plant and machinery.

BMBEREREELRENGRETF R

Qur procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment included:

o  FHMEBMAERNER BN REBIE

Evaluating the independent valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

s RERMUMEBTROERIERGENS - ¥
BFTERMNITERARBREERE

Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumption based
on our knowledge of the relevant industry and
using our valuation experts;

o RMERMUEBRITEMNERRE  LGHERERER
e’ &

Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and

o DAMBELAREGIIARAERNE ABIERLY
HEARE -

Checking, on a sampling basis, the accounting
and relevance of the input data used.

HPERBEREIRABIES -

We found that the assumptions were supported by
the available evidence.

ARETSEE
Key audit matters

FEREE

Carrying value of inventories

FLHRAMBHRRM T4 KT 28
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BMEEFTEERRENSTENS E
How our audit addressed
the key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements

M2019F 1283810 BEBABFEL471,760,000
BT RIEBRRTERERNEERERERMEER MR
MABESR FTEHREIHREFRPERELLETHB
2 WEREMNRS TH RMEFTTFERE 2 HEKE -
HERFEEZIELN LT EATEREAREE R T Mk
RN R E S AERA A E 218 B MR B E 2B E K
TR EHBREEEEYARARHEECHEREEFE

atE -

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had inventories
of approximately HK$471,760,000. which comprised
of fertiliser products, magnesium products and
metallurgical flux products which are usually with
longer life span. The consumption of inventories
are subject to changing consumers’ demands
and market trends which increased the level of
judgement involved in estimating inventory provisions.
Judgement was required to assess the appropriate
level of provisioning for items which may be ultimately
obsoleted or sold below cost as a result of a
reduction in customers’ demand. Such judgements
included management’s expectations for future sales
and inventory liquidation plans.

BMEREEEREFERAENETBE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
determination of the carrying value of inventories
included:

e FERREERE  BFMBEFIED BEENRE
FFoiERRR - GERESEEENEEBHE
FEERELETLE BRARNERD —B 1A
BE2ERTERERHERLAFHEEERMA
B HUR

Assessing the process, methods and
assumptions used to determine the provision
for slow-moving, excess or obsolete items.
This included comparing management’s
calculations for consistency against those used
in the prior years and assessing the provision
policy adopted by management by reference
to past usage or sales history;

o MBS AREEFRESITREROEERE
MERBER - AAEEEMEREREIENA 5
RE - AAHEETBREE

Testing the reliability of the underlying
data used by management to calculate the
inventory obsolescence provisions by sample
checking of an inventory ageing analysis and
the subsequent sales orders and usage;
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BRETSEE
Key audit matters

FEREEHE)

Carrying value of inventories (continued)

EBEEAPEEBRENTENS
How our audit addressed the
key audit matters

BRMEFEREYREZSEEENTEES
B RS EERNEREER K&

Testing the accuracy of the resultant
calculation by assessing the calculation
criteria and recalculating the provision for the
inventories based on those criteria; and

RERT AN BERBBOERME - &M
BEBRERTRMANEBTEERENTER
FEHE -

For those items which were identified as slow-
moving, excess or obsolete, we assessing
management’s calculation of net realisable
value by checking to the latest or subsequent
selling prices.

BB FERAESIRE BRI -

We found the carrying values of the inventories was
supported by the available evidence.

Hiiis 8

EEAWHMERAR - A ERERFHRAM
BER  BETEREEAVBHRER KRNI
HBE(THEMERD -

BPESEVBHRRNBELL NREEMER
BT THZEFEMEERREATANERS

=A
af ©

mABPYERAMBRRNET  RANEEE
FIEEMES  HIBEREY  ZEHEMESES
HRAMBHRRIBPIERABIETHRTROB
AFEERBBEREUTFFEERERBENE
e EREMERNTHIE  REMBLEM
EEFHEERNERRL  BRMAFTEREXFE -
HESE  RFPREEMHRS °

EERELZEERGAMBBRRARIE
HEE

EXFARERBEEGITMAGRONE BN
SRAREFEBRBGINEERT - #EBEEE
MABHERAMBRE - YHERRRELZRA M
BHREANREBE TN FERRKFFRERMEHMNE
RERRAFAFEOANIIEH AR

ERBEHEEMBHRERE  EFEAME E5E
FEREMRED > YHEERBRL T REESERL
LEMMNER UREAFELLERGHER
BRIFEEEEH BEXREBRIUFLLE K5
BEEMERMNBERDSR -

EZZBEEAAREE ESEMNUBERES
2o

2019 %k ANNUAL REPORT 2019

By RET RS
Independent Auditors’ Report

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (“Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the Other Information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other
Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other
Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: PO6901

Hong Kong, 16 April 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
B 5 FHExT T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
A Revenue 7 4,314,420 4,655,116
THE KA Cost of sales (3,251,036) (3,512,857)
E7 Gross profit 1,063,384 1,142,259
Hib Wk EBFRE Other gains or losses, net 9 95,262 75,324
HEMTISEEER Selling and marketing costs (107,917) (133,673)
TR Administrative expenses (298,305) (233,530)
b 3 Z R FE Exchange differences, net (7,159) 6,403
%5 E R Finance costs 10 (153,664) (164,943)
B P15 15 A& A Profit before income tax 591,601 691,840
FS BB X Income tax expense 11 (163,347) (150,318)
FEREEB 2FRER Profit for the year
from continuing operations 12 428,254 541,522
BRI T - Discontinued operations:
DRIMEEEBK ZFERNEF  Profit for the year from
discontinued operations 16 - 31,315
F 1A 5 Profit for the year 428,254 572,837
THATEEFERER : Profit for the year
attributable to:
ViN/NEIEZ SN Owners of the Company
—REFECEER — from continuing operations 380,368 451,614
— R E BRI ST — from discontinued operations - 22,616
SRR S Non-controlling interests
—REBBELEERS — from continuing operations 47,886 89,908
—REERIEREES — from discontinued operations - 8,699
428,254 572,837
BRER : Earnings per share:
REFERECKILLEEE From continuing and
discontinued operations
—EARCGEM) - basic (HK cents) 15  8.301lcents 10.351{lcents
—#58 CBl) — diluted (HK cents) 15  8.30flcents 10.351lcents
REFELEERK From continuing operations
—EARCGEM) - basic (HK cents) 15  8.301lcents 9.861lcents
—#E OB — diluted (HK cents) 15  8.301lcents 9.861licents
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HE2019F12 A1 HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018 2019 2018
FHExT T B o FHBT FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
£ s Profit for the year 428,254 572,837 HRBAE Non-current assets
Hiz2mEmuss(ZH) Other comprehensive income/ iﬁﬂ%?ﬁ% Lgnd use rights 17 = 285,216
HRFTBH - (expense), net of income tax: @EFHTE/QE N Right-of-use assets , 19 e -
T ET S ltems that may be reclassified M - BB RRE Property, plant and equipment 18 3,866,144 3,767,246
i A Gk Goodwill 21 197,368 197,368
Bm2BA subsequently to profit or loss: BV EE Intangible assets 22 348,142 360,660
R EME R R EREE Release of reserve upon disposal S Mining rights 23 428,468 448,460
of subsidiaries - 692 REIRITIF K Long-term bank deposits 31 9,604 9,758
BMEBINEBREEZ Exchange differences arising from
EHZER translation of foreign operations (128,864) (279,090) EARGIIOD 5,068,708
. REEE Current assets
Emﬁﬂﬂ'é’ﬁﬁﬂj Other comprehensive expense BARERABRE Equity instruments at fair
(HBRFATBH) for the year (net of income tax) (128,864) (278,398) SRATA value through profit or loss 57 8,782 3.876
R . & Inventories 28 471,760 689,456
FRAEHEKEAE Total comprehensive income + iy 5 i Land use rights 17 _ 13.492
for the year 299,390 294,439 B 5 e W k08 o e R 2 i Trade and bills receivables 29 461,381 373,732
TERTFHIE - ZE K Prepayments, deposits and
THATREFAZE Total comprehensive income H b fE Y 2B other receivables 30 634,397 503,926
Wk 4B EE for the year attributable to: RITRBES % Bank and cash balances 31 823,058 708,049
ZIN/NETEZZ =N Owners of the Company
—REAREEE LR — from continuing operation 275,973 208,652 2,399,378 2,292,531
DERFIELENEE Assets classified as held for sale 20 91,019 113,328
—REERIEEEETS — from discontinued operation - 20,443
2,490,397 2,405,859
o0 QO k5 =< i i
%Eﬁfﬁﬂiﬁ% . Non-oontrollmlg |r1terests , W OREBEE Less: Current liabilities
—RERREERD ~ from continuing operation e 57,161 ZEMMZERENEE  Trade and bills payables 32 291,863 601,886
FEET B A & E Ath FE T FRIE Accruals and other payables 33 217,096 214,709
—REERILEEXRH - from discontinued operation - 8,183 AwafmE Contract liabilities 33 186,707 348,889
HEBE Lease liabilities 19 1,962 -
299,390 294,439 FERTFR1S R Income tax payable 22,397 40,962
BE Borrowings 34 1,524,157 836,992
AIEMRE S Exchangeable bonds 35 120,640 250,464
BEMI I B AN AR & M TSk e — & » The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements. 2,364,822 2,293,902
RBEEFE Net current assets 125,575 111,957
EEHERRABEE Total assets less

current liabilities

5,262,743

5,180,665
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As at 31 December 2019 @%20195‘512)5] 31 E“_tﬁzrg
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018 KAAREARE
M-JL %E :F ;% JTE :F /% 7TE, Attributable to Owners of the Company
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 L
B ErdE  iedE #RE FER
wERBAE Less: Non-current liabilities BEORGKR  (BRO)  EGER  (BRM)  (KRG)  BE  ANER  BeER  ReRW ¢ B¢ @
BRI Deferred revenue 36 68,283 69,772 - ,
+ ey redemption Capital ~ Statutory Share Non-
S 1@’ f: H- IR Other payab les 33 46 ’ 962 10,310 Share Share  reserve Revaluation  reserve  reserve option  Translation Other  Retained controlling
BHERE Contract liabilities 33 176,448 - capital  premium (note ()] reserve  [note(il) (note(iil) reserve  reserve  reserve  earnings  Subtotal interests Total
HEAE Lease liabilities 19 5,870 - i R L THR TET FER TR TER  FER TER TR TER AR
EE Borrowings 34 536,086 977,617 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
BEEFIHAE Deferred tax liabilities 37 159,183 166,348 HOTERAYE st 31 Degemer 2017 and
Ro018E1 718 1 January 2018 101419 1,363,356 4506 8,693 13,666 210,053 3216 1,982 (232769 1832200 3,296,382 37046 3603428
992,832 1,224,047 SUERIRESENE0RITE Efectofadopon of HFRS 9 - - T - - - - R R 1IN X
EEFE Net assets 4,269,911 3,956,618 101419 1383356 452 - e 21008 3216 190 (3769 18918 32037 FEIR 34629
NATEE AFELRA Capital and reserves i Proft for the year - - - - - - - - S AW a0 e S8
R EEE attributable to owners ERERREER)/REHBFER) Other comprehensive (expense)/income for
the year, net of income tax)
of the Ct?m pany REERRHISSKAER Release upon disposal of
&N Share capital 38 101,419 101,419 discontinued operaton - - - - - - - 692 - - 692 - 692
1 Reserves 3,727,404 3,426,466 BEENERTEL 2B 2E Exchange diferencs arisng rom
translation of foreign operations - - - - - - - (5820 - - (M58 (33,263 (279,090
3,828,823 3,527,885 Fh2E(RR)/YisE Total comprehensive (expense)/income for
IR ER Non-controlling interests 441,088 428,733 e e - - - - - - - s S W BM 0
BXiERE Share options lapsed - - - - - - 2,064) - - 2,064
FEHBH Total equity 4,269,911 3,956,618 EpTHE Transfer o reserve - - - - - 34,189 - - N AL
RiELERY Equity settled share-based transactions - - - - - - 8413 - - - 8473 - 8473
. N N o . X X X Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - 7497 7437
EEEMN2020F 4 A 16 BHLE R IRETIZE R The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 224
FOTE24AZHAMIE®mA - WA THESE  were approved and authorised for issue by the board of HonBERANER fsat 31 Decemter 2016 nd
RERE directors on 16 April 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: WioF1A1 1y 09 0 EE 4 S BEE MM 0 PRNY PR 08 SIS AT S
EREH Profi for the year - - - - - - - - - 380,368 380,068 47,886 428,254
M E ot AR ERR (RAHER) Other comprehensive expense for
Chi Wen Fu Shum Sai Chit the year, net of income tax)
- o EENsRHEL RN 2E Exchange diferences arising from
fg ﬁ% translation of foreign operations - - - - - - - (104,395) - - (104,395  (24,469)  (128,864)
Director Director .
EMRE(RR)/YisE Tota comprehensive (expense)/income for
tre year c 5 5 - - 5 - (104,395 - 38068 275970 20417 209,390
FEMIB I B AN S BT —3 D - The accompanying notes form an integral part of these s Dierd i ) ) i i i i i . - (o) ™
consolidated financial statements. LD 35 6 Changs n onnership interest of subsicres E - - E - - - - 11,062 - 11,062 (11,062)
BEEER Transferto resenve - - - - - 30,809 - - - [30,809)
RESERAIR %S Equity setled share-based transactions - - - - - - 22,969 - - - 22969 - 22,969

R019%512A318 As at 31 December 2019 101,419 1,353,356 4,526 - 13,666 275,051 32,594  (347,508)  (221,707) 2,617,516 3,828,823 441,088 4,269,911
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M5E - notes:

2019 2018
(i) ERBEOEEREAQBNERLR RAHERORBEER () Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value TER FART
RAVRBBFE 2 A NE R 2 EE - of the Shares of the Company which was transferred from HK$’000 HK$’'000
the Company’s retained earnings upon repurchase and . R
cancellatic?n 031: Shares by the Com%any.p ° HEED Operating activities
PR ARS8 A Al Profit before income tax
() BAREEEREEESHEHDWEREAR L 2ME (i) Capital reserve represents the difference between the RABBEEER From continuing operations 591,601 691,840
REIROEE  EREKBKRBEBEROMEITZA nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries that have been RE DR IR K From a discontinued operations - 31,286
NEIRHMEE  WEREZEE - acquired and capitalised pursuant to a group reorganisation STHEE EH AR Adjustments for:
over the nominal value of the Company's Shares issued in FE LB Depreciation and amortisation 219,427 217,564
exchange therefore. :
HMEER Finance costs 153,664 164,943
(i) ETHETIEAWBAFIRHEDEARKM (i) Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the HEME - BER&ER Net gain on disposal of property,
([FRE ) EFEMBHREMINGAFIE10% R AEE subsidiaries based on 10% of their net profit of the People’s T AR e F AR plant and equipment and land use rights (42,089) (56,365)
TR2EEEPRENED - Republic of China (the “PRC”") statutory financial statements FBU A Interest income (7,835) (6,651)
and that for the purpose of certain safety production BEEERHERZRS Equity settled share-based payments 22,969 8,473
activities. B o RWHIBEEBE Net allowance/(reversal) of credit losses
RIEFRBEMR 2 WEAT 2 s =M LI In accordance with the articles of association of the B FRE,/ (BE) of trade receivables 1,077 (59)
ZHBEDEARER  ZEMNBRARIARE10% subsidiaries established in the PRC and the relevant PRC Hih B IBEEEE Allowance/(reversal) of credit losses
2 N ET B R 1% s A (R BB A T8 B A $ Rk rules and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to set B/ (@) of other receivables 2,057 (994)
EEﬁ;g)ff?&ﬁfgﬁf ’ B?#%fggﬁ%gﬁ? aside 10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in HEBTBERAAEED Change in fair value derivative
BEEWNBRARIFMERNS - ZEEELER the PRC statutory financial statements as statutory reserve, . .
AREEMBARBAEFE 2 EE BRWEA except where ch reserve fund balance has reaoyhed 50% . s flnanmal guararlltlee o IBIe0E) (11,168)
Al EEEBIIE MW E R R IR - of the subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can fresmamEL? Fair value loss arising from derivative
only be used to make good the subsidiaries’ previous years’ AREER financial liabilities 9,310 -
losses, to expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or BARERABE Change in fair value of equity instruments at
to increase the capital of the subsidiaries. ZBRARTE fair value through profit or loss
VAP e
BREFEERLE2EELEEERER REM AR Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State ilb@x@} - ) . 4,906) 7.744
EEMBRMOE TR AEEFILZRELD Administration of Work Safety of the PRC and other relevant FRAR B Provision of inventories - 4,056
BEHEARESARBESREES - 2542 regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds HE—RM B AR Gain on disposal of a subsidiary - (32,498)
AEAREER, SR E LT REE - TER mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed HENHEARELNEL Loss on disposal of asset classified
R DI ° rates. These funds can be used for maintenance and/ BEZER as held for sale 2,435 -
or improvements of safety of these activities, and is not E(HAE RN EGF Share of profits of joint ventures - (180)
available for distribution to shareholders.
LEESEBATN Operating cash flows before
KERSRE movements in working capital 939,104 1,017,995
Bl —R& &R R HRIE Decrease in amount due
R from a joint venture - 697
TFERL,/(3Em) Decrease/(increase) in inventory 212,428 (271,498)
B 5 MW IA K (Increase)/decrease in trade and
FEURZE 3R (3800) R bills receivable (97,862) 124,182
AU - e RHEM Increase in prepayment, deposits
JE M SR IR hn and other receivables (92,916) (3,068)
2 5 RET RIA R ET (Decrease)/increase in trade and
ZHORD ),/ HEm bills payables (304,331) 40,010
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2019 2018
(i FTEx FHET
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
JEETER - EMERMFIE  Increase in accruals,
NMIEWHIEREH other payable and receipt in
A& advance and contract liabilities 48,085 17,754
WEEEEANRS Cash generated from operations 704,508 926,072
[RENEFIECE Income tax paid (185,562) (147,702)
RETBFEEN Net cash generated from
ReFHE operating activities 518,946 778,370
RETE Investing activities
RITIF FOR Decrease in deposits with banks 98,990 132,479
BEWE  WELERE Purchase of property,
plant and equipment (431,807) (699,806)
REATFROEM), R (Increase)/decrease in
long term deposits (55) 39
fEHLE—RHHBEAF Net cash outflow in respect of
B3R & TR the disposal of a subsidiary 16 - (19,190)
2R B Interest received 7,835 6,651
HEWE  BEK Proceeds from disposal of
JABRFTIS IR property, plant and equipment 70,200 57,691
HESEABELEN Proceeds from disposal of
BEMSHIA assets classified as held for sale 4,321 -
REZTEHFTANBESFE Net cash used in
investing activities (250,516) (522,136)
A& EE Financing activities
FEEMNSHRE Proceeds from new borrowings 1,145,422 587,918
EEEE Repayment of borrowings (882,274) (597,877)
2RFLE Interest paid (149,968) (147,533)
EEHERE Repayment of lease liabilities (2,798) -
EErERES Repayment of exchangeable bonds (111,360) -
EEREMBAF Repayment of loan from non-controlling
ZIEERRRAHER shareholders of subsidiaries - (123,640)
FEA I BB 2 B FEVE AR Decrease in an amount due to
% 3R FIE R, > non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries - (410)
ERRE Dividend paid (9,066) -

2019 2018
TET FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEEFTH Net cash used in financing
HWIRESFE activities (10,044) (281,542)
ReRkERRSER Net increase/(decrease) in cash
#gi,/ CRd) R and cash equivalents 258,386 (25,308)
FANEERSERELEE Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year 568,651 655,749
IEERSHNWEE Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes (41,880) (61,790)
ERNRELRZERFHELEE Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 785,157 568,651
RekERRSER Analysis of balances of cash
EeR DA and cash equivalents
SAFBANERFYZE  Pledged bank deposits and bank and
HARIRITIF SR R IRTT cash balances as stated in
&R the consolidated statement
of financial position 832,662 717,807
BEMAEEERENZEE Pledged deposits with banks pledged as
BRZEERRITER security for borrowings and
bills payable (47,450) (149,156)
Wi RS R BB B Non-pledged deposits with bank with
=B A LA 2 FEEHA original maturity of more than
RITIF K three months when acquired (55) -
SLAERERERMIZ Cash and cash equivalents as stated
RENERREEE in the consolidated statement
of cash flows 785,157 568,651
BEMI IS B A AR & I TGk e — & The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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1.

—RER

B EBIZERAERAR(TARA]) K
HMBAR(REAEEDEIERERE
PR SRS SR fn SR 7% BR85S 75

AKNFITHR20083F 1 A21 HRIEFAEHS
NANEF22F (1961 F 223 KA &
B EREHEAMATNERCERA
Al e RAR WML 2004F2 A17H R
EBBARZMBER R[5 ZF])GEM
([GEMI) b7 » I R 200847 31 H #
HENAGEME) F I o B 200848 A
1HEE  AAFHRBRHERBEZMERLE
MeBERE  ARAZEEEZEBRARAE
TEBBRERAT  ZRAAARREBEX
3R 117 VAN IO

maMBmRGUBT(ET]) BEL
HARNBNINGEEERR - FRIESEHR
B DRI AE S UL T (FET) &
B -

General Information

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
fertiliser business, magnesium product business and
metallurgical flux business.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 21 January 2003 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman lIslands. On 17 February 2004,
the Company’s shares were listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and were
withdrawn from the GEM Board on 31 July 2008.
Since 1 August 2008, the Company’s shares have
been listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Alpha Sino International
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”) except
when otherwise indicated.
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2. Application of New and Amendments to

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs")

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for
the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
(Amendments) Negative Compensation
HK(IFRIC) - Int 23  Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatment

HKFRS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
(Amendments) or Settlement

HKFRS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
(Amendments) and Joint Ventures

HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
(Amendments) HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Transition and summary of effects arising from
initial application of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time
in the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17
Leases, and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore,
the Group has not reassessed contracts which already
existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a
lease in accordance with the requirements set out in
HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract contains a
lease.

As a lessor

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify leases as either operating or finance leases
using similar principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore,
HKFRS 16 did not have an impact on leases where
the Group is the lessor. The lessor accounting
requirements are brought forward from HKAS 17
substantially unchanged.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts
equal to the related lease liabilities, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments by
applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition.
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When applying the modified retrospective approach
under HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the
following practical expedients to leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on
lease- by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the
respective lease contracts:

()  elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for leases with lease term ends
within 12 months of the date of initial application;

(i)  excluded initial direct costs from measuring
the right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application;

(i) applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with a similar remaining terms for similar
class of underlying assets in similar economic
environment. Specifically, discount rate for
certain leases of premises in the PRC was
determined on a portfolio basis;

(iv) used hindsight based on facts and circumstances
as at date of initial application in determining the
lease term for the Group’s leases with extension
and termination options; and

(v) relied on the assessment of whether leases
are onerous by applying HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as
an alternative of impairment review.
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When recognising the lease liabilities for leases
previously classified as operating leases, the Group
has applied incremental borrowing rates of the relevant
group entities at the date of initial application. The
weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied

by the relevant group entities is 5.07% to 7.03%.

2018 is as follows:

The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to
the operating lease commitments as at 31 December

T
HK$’000
M2018F 12 431 H Operating lease commitment at 31 December 2018
B ST E AR 10,800
B ARIRA B A Less: total future interest expenses (3,759)
KAEEEERRIENEER Present value of remaining lease
HENRBEEKRNKR2019F payments, discounted using the
181 BRANHEEERE incremental borrowing rate and
lease liabilities recognised as
at 1 January 2019 7,041
B AITTREE A -HEEE X Less: practical expedient-leases with lease term
FER R EIRRET 1218 A ending within 12 months from date of initial
WEmBHEE application (50)
R2019F1 F1EMEEAE Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 6,991
k= Analysis as:
IERE Non-current 4,692
ik Current 2,299
6,991

R2019F1 A1 RFEREREEENKR
E{EBRE THIEE :
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The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own
use as at 1 January 2019 comprises the following:

B 5 THT
Notes HK$’000
HERE BB ImE L Right-of-use assets relating to operating
F16RBERLCENE leases recognised upon application of
HENERAEEE HKFRS 16 (a) 6,991
m: Bt RESEHSE Add: Reclassification from land use rights (b) 298,708
305,699
THT
HK$’000
FEEMEE Leased premises 6,991
T Hb P A Land use rights 298,708
305,699

BiaE - Notes:

(a) HEFNERALCEHEZHERBNER (a)  The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
BEEDIER2019F1 A1 AMEHHEE classified as operating leases have been recognised
BEMERCENIES S HER - at an amount equal to the amount recognised for the

remaining lease liabilities at 1 January 2019.
b) RPBEEERHBEETHNENREER (o)  Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC

2018 F 12 A1 Ho AL MFEAE - B
EARBUBHREENE165RE - DAlA
13,492,000 7T & 285,216,000 7T +
H{E AR R B R IETREN IS B 2019
F1A1BAEFOEEFEREEE -

for own used properties were classified as land use
rights as at 31 December 2018. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, the current and non-current portion of
land use rights amounting to HK$13,492,000 and
HK$285,216,000 respectively were reclassified to right-
of-use assets at 1 January 2019.
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The following table summarises the impacts of the
adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position at 1 January 2019. Line

RIEHE items that were not affected by the changes have not
been included.
R2019F
181 BREBHE
LRI 2018 F REEAE
12 A 31 B 2RA 16 IETH
REE BREE
Carrying Carrying
amount amount
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
31 December Eivx] Eik 1 January
2018 Reclassification Adjustments 2019
THT THT THT TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’°000
FRBEE Non-current Assets
FRELE M) Right-of-use assets (Note 1) - 298,708 6,991 305,699
LifERRE(HE2) Land use rights (Note 2) 285,216 (285,216) - -
RBEE Current Assets
tifFRRE(HE2) Land use rights (Note 2) 13,492 (13,492) - -
8% Liabilities
HERE Lease liabilities - - (6,991) (6,991)
MIEE - Notes:

(1

FER BB RS 2R 16 5L L ATRIR
EBCHENF17TH EACLEHAEZHR
EEYRERNRMNE BT BREERIFE 16
5% BF e R (58 A3 4 & = 305,699,000 7 7T &
FHE&(E6,991,0008 7T °

R2018E12A318H  RAPAEEERY
ECHETHNBHNRESE AT IER
o RERESUBREENE16571%
2 Bl 13,492,000 7T & 285,216,000
BT L EREN R RIERBELE
DEEFREEE -

EEMEREM ] REETREYH

SRS TR

0

The application of HKFRS 16 to leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17
resulted in the recognition of right-of-use assets of
HKD305,699,000 and lease liabilities of HKD6,991,000
at the initial adoption of HKFRS 16.

Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC own
used properties were classified as land use rights as
at 31 December 2018. Upon application of HKFRS 16,
the current and non-current portion of land use rights
amounting to HK$13,492,000 and HK$285,216,000
respectively were classified to right-of-use assets.

New and amendments to HKFRSs on issue but not
effective.
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The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8  Definition of Material’
(Amendments)

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark

and HKFRS 7 Reform'!
(Amendments)

HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?
(Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and Sale or contribution of
HKAS 28 Assets between an Investor

(Amendments) and its Associate or
Joint Venture*
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset
acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020.

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined.

In addition to the above new and amendments
to HKFRSs, a revised “Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting” was issued in 2018. Its
consequential amendments, the “Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework” in HKFRS
Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(“CO”).

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
certain financial instruments, which are measured at
fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within
the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use
in HKAS 36.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

105



106

B EBIER AR AE Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

B iSRRI
Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

HARERREHR I RERREEAZ
ZERERERENETARAERRE
NABETEEREREHRZEBELE -
AEBENHREHREERS - EFHER
RANBREHRZEEREETRAM TH
AR ARBZEMEEBEE RIS
DI eE O G

o ARRFBEREEZBEBBENEM
BEBGAFTEREREZRERDE
14

e ARAE - HMERFAAREMAL
RBMBERTE

s HMANTHELZEN: &

e MNBBEHAE(BEEAMKRRERAS
L2 BREFENX)BGRAARRAE [ HE
BRUEREREERBEB 2ENZ
EEINFERER -

ARBREFHE R REHEESHBA
AlERA AR YR KENE R BE G
RIEREARR - ARBME  RAFEARB
AZHEZHBRARZWARMAX  1RA
ARRESEGEE B EERRAREN
BAREGIEE AL FFAKRSERENRE
b2 ERERERA

ARBEAARFEBEERER RGBSR
K HAD 2 E WS AR D - BMES &
ZREEHEEAM  —HNBARNEZE
Wt MR BEIDEARREES ARIEE
PRAEEFTA ©

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

e voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Company has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meeting.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Company obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income from the date
the Company gains control until the date when the
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to being their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s profit or loss to the extent of dividends
received and receivables. The Company’s investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment.
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Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position
to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decision
about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.
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If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment
and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5.

Changes in the Group’s Ownership Interests in Existing

Subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to owners of the Company.
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When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
Where certain assets of the subsidiary are measured
at revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted
for as if the Company had directly disposed of the
related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred directly to retained earnings). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
jointly controlled entity.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over
the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
relevant business at the date of acquisition. Such
goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.
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For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of the
relevant cash generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of
CGU, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the acquisition. A CGU to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the CGU to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that financial year. When the recoverable amount of
the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and
then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss. An impairment loss for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable
amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon

application of HKFRS 15)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct
or a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.
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Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to
a contract are accounted for an presented on a net
basis.
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Revenue from the processing and sales of fertiliser,
magnesium products and metallurgical flux is
recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being at the point the products are
delivered to the customer and the customer has
accepted the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products. Delivery occurs when the products
have been shipped to the specified location, the risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the
customer, and either the customer has accepted the
products in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on
the price specified in the contract, net of discounts,
returns and value added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered and the customers accept the products,
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold
land and buildings held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress),
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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Construction in progress includes property, plant
and equipment in the course of construction for
production or for its own use purposes. Construction
in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as "right-of-use assets" (upon application of HKFRS
16) or "prepaid lease payments" (before application of
HKFRS 16) in the consolidated statement of financial
position. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the
entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the item is derecognised.

DEBRFHEEE
HEENFREAEHNEIZEBL HHEERS
mIERBEERAMEE - BEABHERAR
EBAAREELEN ED>BRFEL
S HDREEAERAAEMIEEXKAR
ERNREETE  HAREARMBLH
ERERREE  BERINMELEZEE
TRMEERRAABEIRNEREDE LR
RN THENERNZEERRI - B
BEEBNDREERANAIERBEER
REHRHEERARER - WEHIRARE
O RR 85 & & B /0 B 7S 19 (E fa] 2 1% 38 hn fE
R M B I8 ST Bl HE R BV (] R EHRUE &S
1B RIHEEE A MR A RER WK
HERENK LR ARRERER - A
B ISR S HE RIS 5 9% (25) R E D B AIFIEL
ERTTIEREE - FEMHRELER
£ 555 (38) D RIIEH EBE BER A M
MAKANEMEEDFHES -

THAEFEE

REF T E BRI HORERR BN
REMERR - T ERBEERARRE
B 3H MM REHBEB BRI - M
NEREEENOHRIZTERER T L
HERENHRAREE RE)RBET
Bt

BHEESEME  HELHMEEFTH L
EBFHLTDARFE  BRIFEREHE
EA AT EET RO ZEEL D
fo - BIELIERT  BOHEE-RIESM
GHERERERME BMEERREBA
fR - MRl o RCES - B Lo EE
RaREREEMEAR  UIREKENE
EHIN# -

2019 %k ANNUAL REPORT 2019

B i ER R MR
Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Assets classified as held for sale

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use
and a sale is considered highly probable. They are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell, except for assets such
as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets and investment property
that are carried at fair value and contractual rights
under insurance contracts, which are specifically
exempt from this requirement. An impairment loss is
recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down
of the asset to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is
recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value
less costs to sell of an asset, but not in excess of any
cumulative impairment loss previously recognised.
A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date
of the sale of the asset is recognised at the date of
derecognition. HKFRS5(25) Assets are not depreciated
or amortised while they are classified as held for
sale. HKFRS5(38) assets classified as held for sale
are presented separately from the other assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Land Use Rights

Payment for obtaining land use rights is considered
as prepaid operating lease payment. Land use rights
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, amortisation is
charged to profit or loss over the period of the rights
or the term of the respective enterprise to which the
land use rights are granted, whichever is the shorter,
using the straight-line method.

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose
of lease classification, unless the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, in which case, the entire lease is
generally treated as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment. To the extent
the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for
as operating leases and amortised over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.
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Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16 in

accordance with transitions in note 2)

Definition of a lease

Lease is a contract contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising
from business combinations on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in note
2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not
to separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components
as a single lease component.
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Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property or inventory
as a separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property and inventory
are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties for/under development”/”properties for
sale”/other (to specify) respectively.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise:

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index
or rate, initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date;

s REMNSKEEERBEHSHABAX
e SR

e (WABAAEHEETERBERERE
AR R RENITEE &

o WEHRBRSITEEEEKLIEE
BT AR IEHERETRK -

RS EeEH 2 I ERENKINTE
ARRBAMzmEEEHE - T8RT
BRI RME 2 AT EMAE N RELEEA
HERBEREMEEETE  UHEBEN
R FEHHBERHIR 2 IR ER R -

KB AME  HEAEREAFNE LA
ENRIELAE -

fWHERATER  AEREEHTEHER
BE(UBERERREEFLAREFE)

s MHIBAMEIRITEBEREENF
REERL . EUIBERT - HEHEE
BEEBERENTGEAPNEERT
BRI HENKMERH

=
E-°

s MENFEETHHSEEHERLRMS
Me28, FERNSKEETRAN
RESHMLREY  EUBERT - 4
FATHE B EER YRR R REE
AIMENKMEMNTE -

HEEERGEAMBRARPEI R —IE

o

¢ A
EE\
i
]

2019 %k ANNUAL REPORT 2019

B i ER R MR
Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options, if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option
to terminate the lease.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market
rental rates are initially measured using the market
rental rates as at the commencement date. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised
as expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to adoption of
HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019)

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable
as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are identified and recognised separately from goodwill
where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset
and their fair values can be measured reliably. The
cost of such intangible assets is recognised at their
fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Alternatively, assets with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Technical Know-how

Expenditure on acquired technical know-how is
capitalised and amortised using the straight-line
method over its estimated useful life of 5 years, from
the date when the technical know-how is available for
use.

Trademark

Trademarks are shown at historical cost. Trademarks
acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date and amortised using
the straight-line method over its estimated useful life
of 5 to 10 years.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for prospectively from the date
of change and in accordance with the policy for
amosrtisation of intangible assets with finite lives as
set out above.
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Research and Development Expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

— the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

— the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

— the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

— how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

— the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

— the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during the
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets acquired
separately.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

Derecognition of Intangible Assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised
in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and
evaluation assets, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The mining
rights are amortised on the production quantities over
the total estimated mineral reserve. Mining rights are
written off to the profit or loss if the mining property is
abandoned.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value, are included in profit or loss for the period.
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For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity (i.e. the translation reserve)
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over jointly controlled entity that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Retirement Benefit Costs

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
for its employees (including certain directors), the
assets of which are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
eligible employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the ORSO Scheme. When an
employee leaves the ORSO Scheme prior to his/her
interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting
fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the Group
may be reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited
contributions.
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The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans
are charged as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises of
cash in hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Share-based Payment Transactions

Share Options Granted to Employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value
of services received is determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity
(employee compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of number of options that are expected
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to employee compensation reserve.
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For share options that are vested immediately at
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in employee compensation
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in employee compensation
reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years, and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current
and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the deferred tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.
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For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. In the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make sale.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable from 1
January 2018)” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both.
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All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows.

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends
on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
net investment gains in the statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent
it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral
held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.
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Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
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ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which
credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but that are
not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and
for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of
the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
and using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there
is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realized or has been transferred to
the Group. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of
the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in profit or loss.
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Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument
that is not carried at fair value because its fair value
cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset
that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9

applicable from 1 January 2018)

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised costing using the effective interest method
or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, lease liabilities,
borrowings and exchangeable bond.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings after initial recognition, interest-
bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January

2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January

2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Related Parties Transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:
()  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.
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An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(1)

(i)

(iv)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.
If the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (1).

A person identified in (1)() has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

() dependants of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgments and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

(a)

(b)
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Estimated Impairment of Mining Rights, Right-of-use
Assets, Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible

Assets

The Group evaluates whether mining rights, right-
of-use assets, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets have suffered any impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may not be recoverable, in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 3. The
recoverable amounts of CGUs represent the
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell
or its value-in-use. The calculations of fair value
less costs to sell or value-in-use require the use
of estimates. During the year, the Group did not
provide any impairment for mining rights, right-
of-use assets, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (2018: HK$ Nil) and available-
for-sale investment (2018: HK$ Nil).

Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use Assets, Property,
Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets and Mining

Rights

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives and related depreciation/
amortisation charges for its right-of-use assets,
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of right-
of-use assets, property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets of similar nature and
functions and the mineral reserve determined by
independent technical adviser. It could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to market
conditions. Management will increase the
depreciation/amortisation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it
will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold.
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(c)

(d)
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(c)

(d)

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, the Group did not change the estimated
useful lives of right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and mining
rights.

Income Tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are certain transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination may be uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made.

Provision for expected crediit losses on trade and bills

receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate
ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product
type, customer type and rating, and coverage
by letters of credit and other forms of credit
insurance).

BREEEENERNASEBEREM
BEOETMEE - AKEKARRE
b EARATEEERBAREEEER
EiELR - BHIME - WIEAKLER
F(ANAR A EARE) B R AR —
FBE BRREZEHSFHFEM
AlgHBBAEENX - NEHREHA
B BEBEMBENRSTER
& T AT R 2 E -

HBTEBEEMSENE  BALHER
RRIEHEEBE CBEETEETH
S BEARME c BHEEEBESE
HIFR B RENGEIREHEE &
R o REBEBETEEEBBLERKTER
KERBITAVERREPARNE
BREDBA  BEASEE S EEN
ENBHEEBENERRNE B HRE
a5 K 29 155 -
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The provision matrix is initially based on the
Group’s historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the
historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
products) are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the manufacturing sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among
historical observed default rates, forecast
economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic
conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of customer’s
actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables
is disclosed in notes 5 and 29 to the financial
statements.
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5. £mMTH 5.

(a) M T AL

Financial instruments

(a) Categories of Financial Instruments

2019 2018
FExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
SRMEE Financial assets
BB HK AT = Financial assets measured
MEREE at amortised cost 1,381,386 1,595,475
BAREFAER Financial assets at fair value
MR EE through profit or loss 8,782 3,876
1,390,168 1,599,351
A== Financial liabilities
B SH AR Amortised cost 2,744,636 2,891,978
2,744,636 2,891,978

(b) ABEMEEBERKE

REBNTIBSRTABIEIRARE
HABENRATLA  ZHEKRE
REKRER - HaEUWRE -~ e
RHRITER  |ROEReEH &
SREMNFERENZE - BrtERA K
HippeftzoE  HEAE HERA
EnES - SR T AFBEREBENE
BB BZZESRIEABANERE
EINERR - FIRER - HbERR
% EERREABESRR - LT
I EMEZ SRR AOBE - A&
EnEERRERETAZENTTE
AR £ BT B M B Sk & A2 PR K
REBMPBRBRAESNEETFF
@,

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
equity instruments on fair value through profit
or loss, trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, deposits, long-term bank deposits,
bank and cash balances, trade and bills
payables, accruals and other payables, lease
liabilities, borrowings and exchangeable bonds.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk, other price risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
Group’s overall risk management programme
focus on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

(i)

(i)

SME R f

ERAEEALO>EHERS
BENBBEIZUZHEAR
MIREEREE MU WIRE
AEEERNIMER KR - AEE
BRITEMIINER S  BEER
BEFTMINEE PR - A%
By BB HOMNE R - I
ERERZEHHMEANINEE

@B

AEBEEE BB EPIRST
GHR-BORBSEHREE
ZARBENERR(FED 2
BB sE31 f234) ©

i & R2019F 12 A31BE 2 E
MR TER  BRTEREE
HBREENERERFE EFH
/TR0 EAEZ(FFE0.1%)
(20184 : 101EE2) - A& H
MFE G EEEEBRITRE
FOBAOMBREEHLEEN
NAELEF TR MR
491,228,000 7T (2018 4F
1,097,000 7T) ©

HREEERAAEEEEDN
ERAREMNEERRIYIFE
A BN FREEE L &R
HUB = Hi s EL ) Fi e

(i)

(ii)
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group does not have significant
exposures to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the respective
subsidiaries. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor
its foreign currency hedging significant
foreign currency exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to pledged
bank deposits, bank and cash balances
and borrowings (see Notes 31 and 34
respectively for details).

Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on pledged bank deposits,
bank and cash balances and borrowings
as at 31 December 2019 had been 10
basis points (0.1% per annum) (2018: 10
basis points) higher/lower than the actual
effective interest rate, the Group’s profit for
the year would have been approximately
HK$1,228,000 (2018: HK$1,097,000)
higher/lower as a result of a increase/
decrease in fair value of pledged bank
deposits, bank and cash balances and
borrowings.

As management considers the Group’s
exposure to the above fair value interest
rate risk is not significant, no interest
rate swaps or other hedging activities are
undertaken by management during the year.
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(iii)

(iv)
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WEBEBRAIEZEBR EH
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#4)878,000/%8 Jt(20184F :
388,000/ 7L) * JTIRRIZ A
B A ABZNBRATAZAR
BEEEF -

=EmERE

AEBERERT MEERY
ME=ZNDETRS ERAK
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Re HRWIFABREEEER
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(iii)

(iv)

The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to bank
balances carried at prevailing market rate.
However, such exposure is minimal to the
Group as the bank balances are all short-
term in nature.

Other Price Risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in listed equity
securities in Australia. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks.
The Group’s other price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity instruments listed in
the Australia.

Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to
equity price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of respective instruments
has been 10% (2018:10%) higher/lower,
the Group’s profit or loss would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$878,000
(2018: HK$388,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of equity instrument at
fair value through profit or loss.

Credit Risk

The Group trades only with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant. For
transactions that are not denominated
in the functional currency of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer
credit terms without the specific approval of
the Head of Credit Control.

MR2019F 12 A31HH & =& A
% M PR ER o

TRBRERAEBEZERR
MNEEEZEa AN EERB M)
A ETZEERNBTEBRERCE
HtWERBABZHKAKSE
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Maximum exposure and year-end staging
as at 31 December 2019.

The table below shows the credit quality
and the maximum exposure to credit risk
based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information
unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2019. For
listed debt investments, the Group also
monitors them by using external credit
ratings. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets and
the exposure to credit risk for the financial
guarantee contracts.

TEHIE A = IREAE EERE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
#2019 F As at
12 31 H 31 December 2019
ENER (R ER) Current (not past due) 2.38% 461,217 10,974
BWENZ R 1E Not more than 1
year past due 100% 4,902 4,902
466,119 15,876
TEHAEE = BREAE EiaE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
2018 F As at
12 H31H 31 December 2018
BVHA (R HR) Current (not past due) 0.54% 357,862 1,939
BEATZ N1 Not more than 1
year past due 100.00% 13,209 13,209

371,071 15,148
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(v)
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(v)

The Group trades only with recognised,
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s
policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

With respect to credit risk arising from the
other financial assets of the Group which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from default of the counterparties is limited
as the counterparties have good credit
standing and the Group does not expect
to incur significant loss for unallocated
advances/deposits from these entities.

The Group has no significant concentrations
of credit risk. It has policies in place to
ensure that sales of goods are made to
customers with an appropriate credit
history. The Group’s deposits with bank and
deposits placed with financial institutions
are placed in high quality financial
institutions without significant exposure to
credit risk.

The directors consider that there is no
significant credit risk in respect of the
Group’s deposits with banks and deposits
placed with financial institutions as the
financial institutions have no record of
default payment.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables are disclosed in note 29
to the financial statements.

Liquidity Risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable
securities, the availability of funding through
an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. The Group aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by keeping adequate
facilities available.

TRETAEEBIAFREEE
EENSREE  WIHREKMA
FAR B B R - RIRH RS
REAHIHAOF A HEE
T RAFMBEENESER
BRUERFTRONBESRE - A
REROFELTEKR - Bt
FE121E A A E) B 6 45 eR T R AR
ERHEERHE -

2019

BARNFERENEE Trade and bil payables

B ERRAMENE Accruals and other payables
EEAR Lease liabilties

fAE Borrowings

TERES Exchangeable bond
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nETs
ER7IE
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

%

6.56
1.01
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The table below analyses the Group’s
financial liabilities that will be settled on a
net basis into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the end
of the reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows. Balances due within 12 months upon
recognition equal their carrying balances, as
the impact of discounting is not significant.

2019
RERRER
Undiscounted cashflow

RERR
-E3T -ENE Eatt R

Total
Less than undiscounted Carrying
1year Over1year cash flows amount

Tin Tin Thn Thn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

- 291,863 - 291,863 291,863
- 217,09 46,962 264,058 264,058
2,408 9,891 12,299 7,832

1,632,372 614,912 2,247,284 2,060,243
132,704 5 132,704 120,640

10.00

2,276,443 671,765 2,948,208 2,744,636
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(c)

2018 4F

2018

EHRNTERENZE Trade and bill payables - 601,886 - 601,886 601,886
BB REMENTE Accruals and other payables - 214700 10310 295,019 225,019
- Borrowings 623 972,800 1,078,897 2,051,697 1,814,609
TEhfs Exchangeable bonds 18.04 259,165 - 259,165 250,464
2,048,560 1,089,207 3137767 2,891,978

RAEGFE (c) Fair Value Measurements

A EREEHGALAEERZES
REENRSRABETANENT

prkd

(i)

RELEMBEERNAETE
WA EEEBEEREHMEE
HIR2E
AEEIXNCREEREREA
BEREBRESHRERAALER
B TRAHEERGAWME
EZETRHEERSRAMEN
ARECLE R AR ER &
BARIE) °

BURRE AT
W8 EFH T 5% AfT
AeRmBEs FEEAEBE MY
265,000 % 7T 3k 4> 49 308,000
BIT ©

This note provides information about how the
Group determines fair values of various financial
assets and financial liabilities.

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value

on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period.
The following table gives information about
how the fair values of these financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and
inputs used).

Sensitivity Analysis

If the volatility increase/decrease by 5%,
the carrying value of the derivative financial
liabilities will increase by approximately
HK$265,000 or decrease by approximately
HK$308,000.

(ii)
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BAREAREL RERRM LTRAES
BETA(WiEr) 8,782,000/ 7

Equity instrument at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 27)

Dk L1 EAABHE  1310,000%7
Call option in Hong Kong
HKS$11,310,000

Derivative financial liabilities

MEFERNLEEFIE  H2
BREIRZMNER -

BIEFEERTAEEGABE(E
SE)EAREBEARZEMITA
HERIT ¢

Listed equity securities outside
Hong Kong: HK$8,782,000

RERRIMI L PRAES - £18 RRTSMEEAE
3,876,007

Listed equity securities outside ~ Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active
Hong Kong: HK$3,876,000 market

- 238 ZBEARBRE(RE - 21.29%)

- Level 3 Binomial pricing model

(Volatilty: 21.29%)

There were no transfers between Levels 1,
2 and 3 in both years.

Reconciliation for financial instruments
carried at fair value based on significant
unobservable input (level 3) is as follows:

®1A1H As at 1 January -
BEUCHE Premium received 2,000
RAEEIE Fair value loss 9,310
w12 A 31 H As at 31 December 11,310
WHRELEMBEZLAE (i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and

TTENFEETHEERTH
EEHNARE

EERA REAMBHRRE
ANT@MEENERAENK
EEEEARERE -

financial liabilities that are not measured at fair

value on recurring basis

The directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximately their fair
values.
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ExERER
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HEBMA s RRERRENELLERE
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RTHEFAABEAERE  A5EAKS
HAEIXNTRROKEERE - MRS IK
MEARE  BITHROIEEEENR
KB -

AEENBABELREREEN - X
BEREELRTEBHRESEERNEERE
itE o BERECIINGAMBINREKRA -

HEC019F12A31BILEE - AEEW
REAKAEBELEERFTES0% A ° 12019
FR2018F 12 A1 B EARBE R T ¢

Capital Risk Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other shareholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividend paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings and
exchangeable bonds divided by total assets as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group’s strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio within
50%. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2019 and
2018 were as follows:

2019 2018
FExT T

HK$’000 HK$’000

BEEBEE Total borrowings 2,180,883 2,065,073
BERE Total assets 7,627,565 7,474,567
BELE Gearing ratio 28.6% 27.6%

A

AEBTENREREPREY BERE
EREMETER - AEBRFRZIRA
DATEAT -
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Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in fertiliser business,
magnesium product business and metallurgical flux
business. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the
year is as follows:

2019 2018
FER FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
HERSEER . Continuing operations:
HEREEHER Sales of fertiliser products 2,735,195 3,053,183
SHESFEMD Sales of magnesium products 1,515,291 1,537,781
S 65 JoR 3 1A 75 E S Sales of metallurgical flux products 63,934 64,152
4,314,420 4,655,116
KRR Timing of revenue recognition:
— &R A B A point in time 4,314,420 4,655,116
SEER 8. Segment Information

SLE RSB & BE R IR A A M AR RIATIR
BE(E2LERRE)BRESZERAER
RERR - REBREBERBMGRE ER
FBFRERAIBEN BT -

- REEMER

- BREMEH

— RIS

BRAAEEZAIHREDHERN T2

Information reported to the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, being the chief operating decision maker, for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on the operating
divisions. The Group’s operating and reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are therefore as follows:

—  Fertiliser business
—  Magnesium product business
—  Metallurgical flux business

Information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments is presented below.
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DEBRAREE
AEEZAREDBE D ZWAREED

Segment Revenue and Results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue

HZE2018F 12 A1 HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2018:

T e

HE2019F 12 A1 HILFE

and results by reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2019:

RN Segment revenue 2,735,195 1,515,291 65,016 4,315,502
EIELON Inter-segment revenue - - (1,082) (1,082)
RENMPEFHBA Revenue from external customers 2,735,195 1,515,291 63,934 4,314,420
AHEE Segment results 526,484 350,825 28,392 905,701

HitFaEgE 8 Other gain or losses, net 95,262
RRTBER Central administrative costs (255,698)
HBER Finance costs (153,664)
BTG RATR A Profit before income tax 591,601

AEA Segment revenue 3,053,183 1,537,781 71,961 4,662,925
DEERA Inter-segment revenue - - (7,809) (7,800)
RENDEPERA Revenue from external customers 3,053,183 1,537,781 64,152 4,655,116
DBEE Segment results 585,390 355,376 29,042 969,808
HbFhasEE Other gain or losses, net 75,324
HRAHER Central administrative costs (188,349)
HEER Finance costs (164,943)
BRI RADRT Profit before income tax 691,840

EXE2Z o EA - TIRKRINERE P AT
EEZRAN - D EBERSHHEAFEER
XZ o

ARENE < B BRERKEETEE
R DHERERRNELEDEPRITRE
REREZHFMH ETEMFREXIE
B MBERRAEHRAS)BER T &0
ZEE M RATBELERRERE UM
HBFEEREFEDHMRR 2T -

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. Inter-segment
transactions are entered into at arm’s length.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies.
Segment results represent the results from each
segment without allocation of central administrative
costs including directors’ emoluments, certain other
net gains or losses, finance costs and income tax
expense. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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IEEERERE Segment Assets and Liabilities
R2019F 12 A1 Az HEE KB FEAH The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December

BEZALFEZEARAXZAREDH

2019 and capital expenditure for the year then ended

EomT by reportable segments are as follows:

HEEE Segment assets 3,509,602 2,478,920 598,761 6,587,373 1,040,192 7,627,565
ABEE Segment liabies 1,359,796 359,025 167,921 1,887,642 1,470,012 3,357,654
BAEX Capital expenditure 304,931 114,891 11,478 431,300 507 431,807

R2018F 12 A1 HZ D EfEENRBEN The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December
BEZRAITEE Z2EAR IR ®E D 2018 and capital expenditure for the year then ended
EomT by reportable segments are as follows:

AHERE Segment assets 3,534,478 2,413,354 622,173 6,570,005 904,562 7,474,567
AHER Segment liabilities 1,523,705 405,710 137,767 2,067,182 1,450,767 3,517,949
AR Capital expenditure 442,251 204,255 20,437 666,943 32,862 699,805
BIEKERDEIRIIR LN D E A ER For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
ZBEZE: and allocating resources between segments:

— BOBEABFEHENEE  RITLR — all assets are allocated to reportable segments

SRBMEMDREREEN - A
BEODEEZAHREDE

other than assets classified as held for sale,
bank and cash balances and other assets for
corporate use;

- kuEBES CERARZEE B — all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
TEMBEMNRIERD K IFEEEEH other than exchangeable bonds, borrowings
BENAGIN TEAREBEHSERA for corporate use, certain other payables and
WEDE - liabilities held by discontinued operations.

Bty 7 55 EH

BZE2019F 12 A1 HILFE -

nE% - BERRENE

Depreciation of property, plant

Other Segment Information

For the year ended 31 December 2019:
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(MizE18) and equipment (note 18) 95,909 86,277 8,935 655 191,776
EREEERTE(ME19)  Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(note 19) 7,239 1,320 2,013 2,134 12,706
WREREMEERE  Amortisation of mining rights and
intangible assets - 4,949 9,996 - 14,945
EPRWBEERR Net allowance/(reversal of
BEFE/ (BERR) allowance) for credit losses of
(Fis29) trade receivables (note 29) 2,861 (1,784) - - 1,077
EthEUWEEEEERE Alowance for oredit losses of
(MizE30) other receivables (note 30) 1,883 174 - - 2,057
LENE  BERR Gain on disposal of property,
gllien plant and equipment (41,427) (662) - - (42,089)
BRONEFNER Gain on equity instruments at
ZBRAT Az Wiz fair value through profit or loss - - - (4,906) (4,906)
fTEeBakE:s Fair value loss arising from
LBNREER derivative financial liabilities - - - 9,310 9,310
ERAS Income tax expenses 102,170 53,396 7,781 - 163,347
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HE2018F 12 A31 HILEE -

For the year ended 31 December 2018:

nE - BERE Depreciation of property, plant
MEENENE and equipment and
investment properties 89,593 71,009 9,568 7,565 177,735
TinfFERRE - FRE Amortisation of land use rights,
RENEEER mining rights and
intangible assets 14,630 8,948 13,496 2,755 39,829
REOESRUFERE Reversal of allowance for
BiEARE credit losses of
trade receivables (55) - - - (55)
BEEMEKTEEE Reversal of allowance for
EERE(3E30) credit losses of
other receivables (notes 30) (994) - - - (994)
HEWE  BERR Gain on disposal of property,
R RS plant and equipment and
land use rights - - - (56,365) (56,365)
YR =E Loss on equity instruments at
ZBRATAZER fair value through profit or loss - - - 7744 7,744
FiERRY Income tax expenses 94,444 49,835 5,933 106 150,318
HEEH

HZE2019F K 20184F 12 A31 HILEFE -
AEBEFERFEEERAEBEZRA
HEREHPREHE fmR2019F128318 &
2018F 12 A31H » AEBKIFHIER
BEANRTE - IEFBEASEZRDE
EIDMEEREENN -

FEFFEH

R E =2019F 2018412 A31H Lt
FETEAMNE P2 EMBAAEE
BWAZ10% AT EEEETEEFH
BERIZ25 -

Geographical Information

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
the Group mainly operated in the PRC and most of the
Group’s revenue are derived from the PRC and most
of non—current assets of the Group are located in
the PRC as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018. No analysis of the Group’s result and assets by
geographical area is disclosed.

Information about Major Customers

No information about major customers is presented
as no single customer contributed over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

9. HitWassESiRRE
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9. Other Gains or Losses, Net

2019
TER
HK$’000

BEREER . Continuing operations:
B A Interest income 7,835 6,651
PESBEARBIELEN Loss on disposal of
BEMEE assets classified as held-for-sale (2,435) -
LEME - BE&RE Net gain on disposal of property, plant
R+ AR W e F 5 and equipment and land use rights 42,089 56,365
AT # 8h Government subsidy - 489
PEREEANEED Change in fair value of financial
guarantee liabilities 8,606 11,168
BRARBEFABRZ Change in fair value of
BARTEARBEEZS equity instruments at fair
value through profit or loss 4,906 (7,744)
MEsmBEEEY Fair value loss arising from
NAEEE derivative financial liabilities (9,310) -
$HE R R Sale of scrap materials 33,278 3,569
HETEA (FI5E) Sundry income (note) 10,293 4,826
95,262 75,324
MizE : B E2019F12 A31 BILEE 5T A note: During the year ended 31 December 2019, included

BHWAEZE A ¢ W 44,331,000
JC(20184F : T T)

HK$4,331,000 (2018: HK$NIl)

in sundry income was rental income of approximately

BiEER 10. Finance Costs
2019
FExT
HK$’000
BEREER Continuing operations:
TR EZRZFERAY Interest expenses on listed
subordinated notes 40,775 41,213
AERESF BT Interest expenses on
exchangeable bonds 28,325 41,039
ARAFAZEEER Interest on borrowings wholly
ZEENFE repayable within five years 84,060 82,691
HERBHHNE Interest on lease liabilities 504 -
EEXABE Total borrowing costs 153,664 164,943
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11. FrBHiRAX

REFEBREZAMG(GEA) RS -

11. Income Tax Expense

The amount of charged/(credited) to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss represents:

2019 2018
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000

BNERFR IR Current tax:
—BBNEN - Hong Kong Profits Tax = -
— B EMEH — PRC Enterprises Income Tax 167,445 155,732
—HAth - Others - _
167,445 155,732
RIER A (K151 37) Deferred taxation (Note 37) (4,098) (5,414)
163,347 150,318

(a) EEBFIEH

MR2018E3A21H B L EE @
BT FRBUSET) (FE 75 IE B
BRI MEHIEZR]) - 5| AFIBBHB
K ARH o 5B BERR2018F 3 A
C8HEEEZEKRBERE  WHIKAT
FEoREMSHRERMES - 648
REBEENE2B8 BB TEMNBIZ
8.25%E M - MitBA2 B BB TH &
FIRIZEZ16.5% BH - TREFIEH
TR AR EEE AR 5 A
B —THE16.5% HF -

(a) Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment)
(No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”") which introduces
the two-tiered profits tax rate regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was
gazette on the following day. Under the two-
tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25% and profits tax above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.

(b)

(c)

REEESZRA - FETHEm RG]
EMEMPRESBEGEE M BFRE
WA T EKR - BB G F EIR
16.5% 5 & o & Z=20194 12 A 31
B IFF E I & & E(2018 F -
) RARTEREBELEERT

A e

R
FEERERIIEEE2019F &
20184 12 A31 BILFE 2 (H5HER
T F 2 25% 5+ & ©

BITEH
ARBDRERAEFRSRBENHAE
HEEMKRLRERRERAR - X
BUHERLHNHESEHSHER - &
NCIVESY ) ben 3 S oV NG
DiRERBR X ESEEEELRE
AEM AL - S HEEA b B 4 55 B BE X B
SMEH -

(b)

(c)
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The directors of the Group considered the
amount involved upon implementation of the
two-tiered profits tax rate as insignificant to the
consolidation financial statement. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% for both
years. No tax is payable for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil) since there were no
assessable profit generated in Hong Kong.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at
25% on the estimated assessable profits arising
in the PRC for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

Overseas Income Tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of Cayman
Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from
Cayman lIslands income tax. The Company’s
subsidiaries established in the British Virgin
Islands were incorporated under the International
Business Companies Act of the British Virgin
Islands and, are exempted from British Virgin
Islands income tax.
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R ER B YRR BT 1S5 A A1) 2 DA AR B 4
ENREMSRNE 25% tENE R
BEHERINT

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using a tax rate of 25%, the standard
income tax rate of the PRC enterprises, as
follows:

2019 2018
TET FTAT
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
SELEE Profit before tax from
BRBLATE A continuing operation 591,601 691,840
RERAEHBE Tax charge at applicable
25% (2018 : 25%)  income tax rate of 25%
AEMBIES (2018: 25%) 147,900 25 172,960 25
REMBEEELLH  Effect of different tax rates
L= NG RN of subsidiaries operating
BEz5E in other jurisdictions (978) (0.2) 2,377 0.3
BERBHEAZ Tax effect of income not
MR E taxable for tax purpose (17,695) (3.0) (12,375) (1.8)
RA MRz HIER 2  Tax effect of expenses not
mETE deductible for
tax purpose 14,831 2.5 10,900 1.6
FRERABERZ Utilisation of previous
W ER unrecognised tax losses (11,632) (2.0) (28,388) (4.1)
AR 2 (T HRBEEEN Tax effect of estimated tax
k% losses not recognised 30,246 5.1 4,844 0.7
BAFEREIE Underprovision in
prior years 675 0.1 - -
st X Income tax expenses 163,347 27.6 150,318 21.7

M2019%12 A31 H » AEBXRER
7 78 [B5 48 # 695,184,000 7 7L (2018
£ 1 649,242,000 7T ) 7] 45 8 A K
5 R 2R JEER Bl i T o #9426,729,000
7 (20184 : 27,197,000/ 7T ) 2
MEEEENEESE  THTFER
FFREFEEEE - M4 268,455,000
7L(20184F : 622,045,000 7T) 2 F
BB EREBEE - ARRAR
WBB%Z ERT M AT EAKRE AN
MIBEEE N WZENEBE R
ERB U R AR -

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has
unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$695,184,000 (2018: HK$649,242,000),
which can be carried forward to offset future
taxable profit. Tax losses of approximately
HK$426,729,000 (2018: HK$27,197,000)
will expire after five years from the year of
assessment they relate to while tax losses
of approximately HK$268,455,000 (2018:
HK$622,045,000) can be carried forward
indefinitely. The deferred tax benefit of such
tax losses has not been recognised as it is not
considered probable that future taxable profit will
be available to utilise the unused tax losses.

12. FREF

FREMEMG,(GTA)THIER :

12. Profit for the Year
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Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/

(crediting):
2019 2018
FHET FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T Continuing operations:
IER#FS Wages and salaries 195,165 241,344
RTEEREB ZHERE Share options granted to directors
and employees 21,679 8,472
T EREHICEAREIZHIE  Payment to defined contribution
retirement plans 10,493 6,260
METRA(BIEEEFH)  Total staff costs (including
directors’ emoluments) 227,337 256,076
1% BRI 5 A Auditors’ remuneration
Bz REZEEIIE Audit and audit related work
— B TR E AT - HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
BRAT] Limited 3,527 3,276
IEFEZTAE Non-audit work
— BRI ST - HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
R AT Limited 944 663
FrEREH Depreciation and amortisation 219,427 217,564
HEME - BERZER Net gain on disposal of property, plant
T A WERFRR and equipment and land use rights (42,089) (56,365)
BAABERABRZ AR Change in fair value of equity instrument
TERREES at fair value through profit or loss (4,906) 7,744
MEemBEEE Fair value loss arising from
ZRAREEBR derivative financial liabilities 9,310 -
ERRA 2 FEKAR Cost of inventories recognised
as an expense 3,090,078 3,309,675
T NBFKEHMEMES  Operating lease rentals in respect of
land and buildings - 3,421
Z S REWHIEEZEEEEREE  Alowance for credit losses of
trade receivables 2,861 -
Hip e B Z B E1884%E  Allowance for credit losses of
other receivables 2,057 807
BEOBZEKFEEE Reversal of allowance for credit
EEEE losses of trade receivables (1,784) (55)
BOoHEMmERFIEEE Reversal of allowance for credit
EiE losses of other receivables - (994)
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i

FEIRAIZOAGIETA - ARESEFEIE
B —HA BT E RO RAKG IR Z
FHEIERN EEEREE - RIBEHBBUTH
RE - NEEREEHF SN 14% M ZE
SR WARFEHRFIZIN - REEH
BHRERXNEZSIERRENZE
F o ZIAAR BN E P RKET 8 B BRIK
EENEHEELEE -

AEBEAEBAEELHRESE -
BECFEEN ERHEMRTE  ABLE
AAEE - REBESTE  AEERHE
EAREASARBEARGIELTES K
RREEBWRAZSRIEAMZABIER - A
2014 F6 A1B®  AEEREEHRZ
FRASA1,50087T °

H EZ2019F12A31B It FE - X &
EmElEZESTaERMERETED
10,493,000 JT(20184F : 6,260,000 %
JC) o R2019%F 12 A31H » AEBEIT &
BEMESEMRBRERATARRDEAER
R (20184 « BHEIT) ©

note:

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the
Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement
plan for its employees in the PRC, which is a defined
contribution plan. The Group contributes approximately
14% of the employees’ salary as specified by the local
government, and the Group has no future obligations
for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The state
sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the entire
pension obligations to retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the MPF Scheme, a defined contribution
scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under
the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its Hong
Kong employees make monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Since
1 June 2014, both the Group’s and the employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per
month.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
aggregate amount of the Group’s contributions to the
aforementioned pension schemes was approximately
HK$10,493,000 (2018: HK$6,260,000). As at 31
December 2019, the Group was not entitled to any
forfeited contributions to reduce the Group’s future
contributions (2018: HK$Nil).

EEEMAL

(a) EEHH

13. EE  TETHABRESH MR

HEC019F 12 A1 HILFESESE

2SI

2019 %k ANNUAL REPORT 2019

B i ER R MR
Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

13. Directors’, Chief Executives’ and
Employees’ Emoluments and Individuals
with Highest Emoluments

(a) Directors’ Emoluments
The emoluments of each director for the year
ended 31 December 2019 is set below:

EXMEhe
TR &t
Employer’s
contribution
Share to pension
Fees Salaries options scheme Total
TEL TEx TEL T TiEn
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

e ik BRE

HiTES Executive directors

BXE(EE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) - 2,357 232 18 2,607

LR (77H#27) Shum Sai Chit (CEO) - 1,059 1,035 18 2,112

e Chi Jing Chao® - 112 133 - 245

HEF Chi Bi Fen® - 709 268 9 986

FHTES Non-executive director

PBAE Guo Mengyong 35 - 58 - 93

BUIFHTES Independent non-

executive directors

FER Cheung Sound Poon® 45 - 192 - 237

s Sheng Hong 35 - 58 - 93

HEG Lau Chi Kit 240 - 77 - 317

iyl Kwong Ping Man'" 67 - 134 - 201
422 4,237 2,187 45 6,891

m 201946 A 26 HERE

@ 20196 A27 BEZLE

M Retired on 26 June 2019

@ Appointed on 27 June 2019
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BHE2018F 12 ABIHILFEEES
ZEEIn T

The emoluments of each director for the year
ended 31 December 2018 is set below:

HITES Executive directors

WXE(EE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) - 2,342 - 18 2,360

R (7THE#) Shum Sai Chit (C£O) - 1,077 847 18 1,042

HES Chi Bi Fen - 1,077 565 18 1,660

FHTES Non-executive director

PEE Guo Mengyong 35 - - - 35

BUFHITES Independent non-

executive directors

Bmx Kwong Ping Man 105 - 141 - 246

Bt Sheng Hong 35 - - - 35

2B Lau Chi Kit 240 - 45 - 285
415 4,496 1,698 54 6,563
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(b) FElRZEHMAL (b) Five Highest Paid Individuals

(c)

RER AEBRUGZRHEMALTE
FEA1ML(2018%F : 3L ) A AR ESE -
EHEEMEMOMER EXHE -
FRENTHBT 240 (20184F : 2
AT ZBEMT -

The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year included
1 (2018: 3) director of the Company whose
director’s emoluments are disclosed in the above
analysis. The emoluments payable to the rest
4 (2018: 2) individuals during the year are as
follows:

EAXFH < - BRE - Basic salaries, share options,
H a2 REYH = other allowances and
benefits in kind 10,668 4,554
BIKEER - EBEMIK Pension costs-defined
w3l contribution plan 20 36

10,688 4,590

Z4AfI(20184F : 2fL) ‘S HMA L
HY B 2 A LA T §885

The emoluments of the 4 (2018: 2) individuals with the
highest remuneration are within the following bands:

£ % 1,000,000 & 7T Nil - HK$1,000,000 - -
1,000,001 BLE HK$1,000,001 - HK$2,000,000

2,000,000/8 7T - 1
2,000,001 B TE HK$2,000,001 - HK$3,000,000

3,000,000% 7T 2 -
3,000,001 BLE HK$3,000,001 — HK$4,000,000

4,000,000 % 7T 2 1

H E20194F K20184% 12 431 H 1
FE - AEEVERNTIANARRES
AN HMA LTS HBEERM
AKREBSEIMAREBEEE
SERBERMEE - NEE2019F &
2018F 12 A1 HILFE » EAR
AEEMANGRTMATRENE
B REBRRE(AHNE -

(c) During the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors of the Company and the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office. There was no director of the
Company and the five highest paid individuals
agreed to waive or waived any emoluments
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.
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14. g2

ARBEETEZMEZE2019F £ 2018
F12 431 BIEFEIRMERBKE -

15. BIREF

(a) EX
BRERBFERIBEARRRHEE AR
HEAEN  BRUAFASETEBER
ngEFEHEEE -

14. Dividend

The directors of the Company do not recommend
the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

15. Earnings Per Share

(a) Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2019 2018
EH Earnings
STEEREARFA  Profit attributable to ordinary equity
2 RBEBER holders of the parent, used in
FB AEEEF - the basic earnings per
share calculation:
REFECEED From continuing operations
(F#&7T) (HK$’000) 380,368 451,614
RE BRI EE From a discontinued operation
(F#7T) (HK$’000) - 22,616
380,368 474,230
BEATE AR N Weighted average number of ordinary
FHE(FAR) shares in issue (thousand shares) 4,581,117 4,581,117
SREXRZF(FEN) Basic earnings per share
(HK cents per share)
SEQEERNMERIE  Continuing operations
LTS and discontinued operation 8.30 10.35

Continuing operation 8.30 9.86

(b) #%

BER#EERNEEREBAAEENT
BEEBE - LEBREHTERARN
BFHEGE - NRARE —BEEEE
BT BE -

PEEREMS - AR BRE N RITE
BREMN 2 REREBEET
B UBEAEAABECARRFH
Nzl FEEmEETE)EANRS
HE - R ENRNDEE
HRRITEBREMEITNRGEE
ELE - MRNERETEESREE
20194 K& 2018F 12 A31H IF F &
WM FEHHE  HGTEEREER
I BMBRBATEAR AR EARE -

ERILBEER

HEEFERER
MR2018F6AE HRETEMEKA

ks

BI ARAEFTERELEZLE

%o ZHEEN2018F 7 A31 B ©

16.
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(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has one
categories of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share
options.

For the share options, a calculation is done to
determine the number of shares that could have
been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average market price of the Company’s shares
during the period) based on the monetary value of
the subscription rights attached to outstanding share
options. The number of shares calculated as above
is compared with the number of shares that would
have been issued assuming the exercise of the share
options. The computation of diluted earnings per share
does not assume the exercise of the Company’s share
options because the exercise price of those share
options was higher than the average market price of
shares for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

Discontinued Operation

Disposal of electronic product business

At the end of June 2018, the board of the Company
decided to dispose the electronic product business
due to its weak profitability. The disposal was
completed on 31 July 2018.
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ERIEEEXRB2FRBEMNHINDT - 45
BRBERPILEBHFEES - URTE
FEREBERFNELLE -

The profit for the year from the discontinued
operations is set out below. The comparative figures
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss have
been restated to represent as if the electronic product
business had been discontinued at the beginning of
the year.

BNEFEMES Loss of electronic product
w7 Eia business operation for
the period (1,183)
HEBFEMEBKS Gain on disposal of electronic
& product business operation 32,498
BRIEEEER 2 Profit for the period from
BR A& A discontinued operation 31,315

B2018F1 A1 HE2018%7 A31 B #if
ETEMERZEE(BERGABRRAR)

mF -

The results of the electronic product business for the
period form 1 January 2018 to 31 July 2018, which

have been included in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss were as follows:

20194 % ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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WA Revenue 179,652
F R =A% Cost of sales (148,014)
EF Gross profit 31,638
HibU sk B 18 F 58 Other gains or losses, net 9,924
HERDHER Selling and distribution costs (12,119)
THAX Administrative expenses (30,420)
JEEEE R RGN M ER Share of profits and losses

of joint ventures 180
B%E R Finance costs (415)
MRETSTIATE B Loss before income tax (1,212)
Fris i e Income tax credit 29
HMNEE Loss for the period (1,183)
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Htt2HEAX

HRBERMEER O EE

Other comprehensive
expense
Other comprehensive expense

BamsH HM2ERX to be reclassified
to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
BMEINETE 2 B ETE Exchange differences on transaction
of foreign operations (3,381)
HREHEMBXEHE Total comprehensive expense
for the period (4,564)
THIATEEHBARE Loss for the period
attributable to:
RARHA A Owners of the Company (920)
FEFE R Non-controlling interest (263)
(1,183)
THALTEMBAZEBX Total comprehensive expense
U ES#EEE - income for the period
attributable to:
PIN/NEIEZ =N Owners of the Company (3,595)
SRR E S Non-controlling interest (969)
(4,564)
BRER: Loss per share:
RECKRIEEEE From discontinued operation
BR R #5E (BAL) Basic and diluted (HK cents) (0.7)
BWRBNEENRK Recognition of prepaid lease payment 233
M - BERREBTE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 3,287
BEEFERA Cost of inventories sold 177,079
R REFHEEHEE Minimum lease payments under
ETHEHEERK operating lease in respect of land
and buildings 435

#H E2018F7HB1H Ik 8 B & F
ERME EBAAEELER SR FHE
418,751,000t 5t & & & & B
1,116,000 T kst g & )5 8 2 B
4,413,000 T °
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During the period ended 31 July 2018, the electronic
product business generated HK$13,751,000 to the
Group’s net operating cash flow; used HK$1,116,000
in respect of investing activities; and, used
HK$4,413,000 in respect of financing activities.

RE: Consideration:

BUR & Cash received 13,183
REHSRE Deferred cash consideration 56,000
REBE Total consideration 69,183
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R2018 F
7H31H
As 31 July
2018
FHExT
HK$’000
BHEZEEFHE Net assets disposed of:
T b R Land use rights 10,468
LE =N Property, plant and equipment 95,248
mpEE Intangible assets 318
REITFK Long term deposits 21
REERAZEE Investments in joint ventures 6,646
R—HEEE QR RE Investment in an associate 18
BARBERAEMEEKE Equity instruments at fair value through
2T E other comprehensive income 3,000
FE Inventories 49,287
EWE 5 R R B EE Trade and bills receivables 32,409
TE R ~ e R H M EUERR Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 9,095
JEW —E E D RIBRR Amount due from a joint venture 147
RIT MRS EH Bank and cash balances 32,373
B 2R Trade payables (39,076)
FERTE A & E M T BR SR Accruals and other payables (33,080)
FEAS FR1S R Income tax payable (118)
B Borrowings (22,000)
BRI AE Deferred tax liabilities (70)
] Provision (1,130)
JER — BB R Z RN Amount due to a shareholder (115,000)
IEIEAR e Non-controlling interests 7,437
BB A B R R R R Release of reserves upon disposal subsidiaries 692
HEH B AR E Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 32,498
BwRE Total consideration 69,183
HEMELRS L FE Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
BUWRE Cash received 13,183
B BEHERITRBESES Less: Cash and bank balances disposed (32,373)

(19,190)

17. H(ER#E

AEERLIERET ZBBERNES
MEMNF  EERmFEINOT
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17. Land Use Rights

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent
prepaid operating lease payments and their net
carrying values are analysed as follows:

ERE, REBESESS :

In the PRC, held on:

FHHEE Medium term leases 298,708
RBEE Current assets 13,492
ERBEE Non-current assets 285,216

298,708

M2018F12A31H: Kk M E A &
121,165,000 T2 L RED 1E AR
TIEE Z P (HIE34) o

R20194 1 A1 H - #9298,708,000/ 7T
Z T E AED RN RN E B M B RS A
LICHERBRECAERE -

As at 31 December 2018, land use rights with a
carrying amount of approximately HK$121,165,000
have been pledged to secure bank borrowings (Note
34).

As at 1 January 2019, land use rights of approximately
HK$298,708,000 was transferred to right-of-use
assets upon the adoption of HKFRS 16.
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18. W% - BERRME

18. Property, Plant and Equipment

ik Cost
ROOBETA1E Asat ! January 2018 1,009,275 Ury 18450 28339 3607 21,864 31 1208148 4,180,969
HE-ENELE  Disposalof e subsiday (226,831) (1871) 66,870 (4,905 2857) 2.344) - - (325,678)
Bz Adaftions 41837 76 8512 30,99 36 29 - 654,907 699,805
f Transfers 144574 - 398,510 149 - pAl - (344,819 -
tE Disposals - ] (3218 (3) (845 (3,183 - - (7.348)
EifE Exchanges alignment (33.230) (1,349) (145,24 (5,999 (311) (1,379 - (07,941 (291,459)
RO08E12B31RR  Asat 31 December 2018

MIEI 1R and 1 January 2019 892425 2598 1996220 49,894 - 19484 31 120025 4206207
Bz Additons 4,288 - 698 3 - 562 - 42616 131807
& Transers U842 - 297,085 8 - Iy - [545,65%) -
i Disposals (1408 - (234107) (1,12 - (1.887) - - (238514
EREQBASE  Tintertoassels classfed as

HENEE held for sale (35,99) (8,899 - - - - - - (64,899)
ez Exchenges aignment (25,849 ] (t6,429 (1172 - Bi7) o (2451 (08.967)
H20195 127318  Asat 31 December 2019 1,064,910 1264 2,013,467 47,935 - 13,689 354 1,135,734 4,285,730

HZE20194 12 31 BIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019
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it Accumulated deprecation

ROVBEIEIR  AsattJanuary 2018 97,03 2190 19048 1847 2497 6977 31 - 620,352
Frig Charge for the year 13,119 i 152,403 8407 39 2883 - - 1171%
FE-BHEAT  Eiminated on csposel o

i a subsidary 57,440 (16 (16176) (3541) (171 (1939 - - (230430)
fERYE Flminated on disposel - 4] 2,079 ] 845) 2,19) - - (6,000
Eygn Exchanges algnment 9520 (6.350) [33.744) (.25 (299 (134 - - (74,569
RVBE12E3AR  Asat 31 December 2018

DOEIF1A and 1 January 2019 2,169 13,684 1319% 14,563 - 502 1 - 189 051
Epg Cherge for the year 46204 i) 140,590 2007 - 230 - - 191,776
& Trangler 21,194 - 21,19 - - - - - -
HERYS Flminated on cspose (4067 - %) (162 - (%) - - )
BUTOEABE  Transhorto assels classfed as

HEhER held for sale (919 (6:5%9) - - - - - - (#5,818)
Eyge Exchanges aignment (636 it 855) {an - 35 u - (10042
H201912B318  As at 31 December 2019 6,667 5210 384,362 16,071 - 6,922 354 - 419,586
FEFE Net carrying values

R201912B318  As at 31 December 2019 1,055,243 143 1,629,105 31,864 . 6,767 - 1135734 3,866,144
ROVBE1ASIE  Asat 31 Decamber 2018 89,236 O 156428 %31 - 10,182 -T2 3767246
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(if)

(i)

NEBMHAE L1 REFRREHRNE
AEDHIWOT :

notes:

(i

The carrying amount of the Group’s leasehold land
and buildings at the end of the reporting period are
analysed as follows:

2019

FET

HK$’000
BBPEHEE Medium term leases in Hong Kong - -
PR EEE Medium term leases in the PRC 1,055,243 869,236
1,055,243 869,236

R2019F12A381H: B ®m E A 4
884,167,000 7t (2018 4F : 593,519,000
BILIZHETHEET BELKRED
ERIRITEE 2| (MIzE34) -

REE2019F M 2018F 12 A31 B IEF
B AREEZRABMEREEBERE

REAEEZ WY BERREZERFH
mF :

—HELHRET HEHA

- MEYMERKE 2E5F

— BB M e 3E 404
—GEMERAZTRE 2F12F
—RE 4104
— M 54
—TAREEAR 2

(ii) As at 31 December 2019, leasehold land and
buildings and plant and machinery with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$884,167,000 (2018:
HK$593,519,000) have been pledged to secure bank
borrowings (Note 34).

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, the directors of the Group considered that
no impairment loss should be recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
adopted for the current year are as follows:

— Leasehold land and buildings  Over the lease
terms

— Leasehold improvements 2 to 5 years

— Plant and machinery 3 to 40 years

— Furniture and office equipment 2 to 12 years

— Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years

- Ship 5 years

— Tooling and moulds 2 years

10. FHEEE HEAERE
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19. Right-Of-Use Assets/Lease Liabilities

FREEE Right-of-use assets
2019
T
HK$’000
®n1A1H As at 1 January 305,699
FRRE Addition during the year 3,199
FREHRINE Depreciation provided during the year (12,706)
e H & Exchange alignment (8,750)
»12 A31H As at 31 December 287,442
FTREEEERNSEHIRE HELRHER The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s

HBANEREEEE LR ENER
HIRARE R ITE R ZFHREREED
R YREFHAEHEREMELRE -

2019412 A31 B » BR M & %) 160,183,000
BT (20184F 1 121,165,000/ 70 ) 2 FAEE
ECHIFIERITE R 2 R (7E34) »

rights to use underlying leased land and premises
under operating lease arrangements over the lease
terms, which are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

As at 31 December 2019, right-of-use assets with a
carrying amount of approximately HK$160,183,000
(2018: HK$121,165,000) have been pledged to secure
bank borrowings (Note 34).

HESE Lease liabilities
2019
FET
HK$’000
DA Analysed as
—mE - Current 1,962
—3ERE - Non-current 5,870
7,832
SEMAENREEHA Minimum lease payments due
——FR — Within one year 2,408
— More than one year but not later than
— A —FETEAME two years 662
— More than two years but not later than
— R EENBATE five years 2,073
—BAhF — Over five years 7,156
12,299
W RRB Less: Future finance charges (4,467)
HEBENRE Present value of lease liabilities 7,832
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20. Assets Classified As Held For Sale

2019 2018

FExT TFHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

DHEABIELENEE Assets classified as held for sale 91,019 113,328

EREFFBEE TN EMER2018F
12A31B A R&E 2EHBRAAR
2018 F 12AB1HE S — R BILE=TF
(TBEEA1DEZE—HHRBHET R
FESEE1]) YREEEREFBUTR
% A R #110,000,000C E EHE D
¥ MEEEF1ARZ2ENBRARALZR
AR ER % & AR #1,000,0007T ° A
2019411 A188 » o EAFIEHE
MEEEREENA45,641,0008T(AR
# 40,142,000 7T ) LA (& 47 43,206,000 78
TT( AR #38,000,0007T) HE T EBEE S
1o 3R IE A B B UK 3R B 49 37,972,000 7% 7T
(AR #34,200,000 7T ) 5 AFR20194F 12
H31 BayH A EUWFIE - M 2019F 11 A
250 2EWBARARS —ZBIUFE =
FUBEEF2])FFT MR HES (7R R
Hmik2])  RHHEHR IO 2B AR
EREMEE  WRIMAARERES A
R #1,500,000 7T °

Due to the exclusivity period with a former potential
buyer was expired on 31 December 2018, a wholly
owned subsidiary A signed a memorandum of
understanding (“MOU 1”) with an independent third
party (“Potential Buyer 1”) on 31 December 2018
and agreed to the terms and the details of sale and
purchase of the related properties with the amount
not less than RMB110,000,000 and the Potential
Buyer 1 agreed to pay a non-refundable deposit
RMB1,000,000 to the wholly owned subsidiary
so received. On 18 November 2019, the carrying
amount of part of assets classified as held for sale of
approximately HK$45,641,000 (RMB40,142,000) was
disposed to Potential Buyer 1 and the consideration
was approximately HK$43,206,000 (RMB38,000,000).
The receivable of the deferred consideration of
approximately HK$37,972,000 (RMB34,200,000) was
included in other receivables as at 31 December 2019.
On 25 November 2019, the wholly owned subsidiary
A signed a memorandum of understanding (“MOU
2”) with another independent third party (“Potential
Buyer 2”) for the disposal of the remaining part of
assets classified as held for sale and a non-refundable
deposit of amount RMB1,500,000 was received.

R2019F10A31H > 2 8B RAABE
—2BUE=H([BEE IR EE
SR ([FREEETERS])  WRERIETIAK
WAL AR 30,000,000 T2 ©EES
HE—EYE Y2 EWBERARBIH
TARERES AR 1,500,000 7T °

MN2019FE 12831 DEAEEL &
MEEMNEREMAEA X A91,091,000%
(A E #81,977,0007T )(20184 :
113,328,000 (A K % 102,500,000
TIDUESEABIELHENEENAR
B & H 4 B118,575,000/8 T(A R #&
106,796,0007C )(20184F : 152,670,000
7 (A R #134,570,0007C )) » & 1E T3
REAEEVEBEZBIESERGEM
BT - REEEELL2EBYGERGLE
MET 2 BEREERMECTHER - B
2019F 12 A31H ALEEHEFLHEN
SERBEEMEEE Y #ERE(2018F -
f®) o
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On 31 October 2019, a wholly owned subsidiary B
signed a memorandum of understanding (“MOU 3”)
with an independent third party (“Potential Buyer 3”)
and agreed to the terms and the details of sale and
purchase of a property with the amount not less than
RMB30,000,000 and a non-refundable deposit of
amount RMB1,500,000 had been paid to the wholly
owned subsidiary B.

The aggregate carrying amount of the assets
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2019
was HK$91,019,000 (RMB81,977,000) (2018:
HK$113,328,000 (RMB102,500,000)) and the
aggregate fair value of the assets classified as
held for sale is approximately HK$118,575,000
(RMB106,796,000) (2018: HK$152,670,000
(RMB134,570,000)). The valuation was performed
by independent qualified valuers not connected with
the Group. Based on the result of management’s
assessment by making reference to the valuation
report issued by the independent qualified valuers,
there is no impairment on the carrying value of the
Group’s assets classified as held for sale as at 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil).
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21. B8 21. Goodwill
PREAEERSEFEU(REELSE Goodwill is allocated to the Group's cash-generating
i) 2 BB IRATEE D &7 units (“CGU”) identified according to business segment
as follows:
2019 2018
FER T
HK$’000 HK$’000
EREE Mn E 5 (1) Magnesium product business (i) 197,144 197,144
H A 75 (i) Other business (i) 224 224
197,368 197,368

(if)

HEA AR EN B RAR A
(T BB ) (BB RIS - 601) R
AR ETYS EE BT TR E A ER

= o
Eas

MM _EBBARARNEBIEEE -
ZReESHEM A RE S B RIEL
AAREEWREZHBBEEREE TR
FHESREBAFEZAIFREE " U
K & F B FOAT AR IR %£9.86% (2018 4F -
0.86%)MET - BEHENBE S TS
BT RIEREBESHMANRRNBEHER
EREMEERBRET - BEBRTEFER
BEENEBEEREFLBERAHH
WA (REEEHEELERNR)  mA
Bt DR EMBENRRERAAT
EERTBEENELREL - ARAES
iz THZSEBERNE BT e

(i)

BEREEAER L IR FEEE -

The goodwill was resulted from the acquisition of Rare
Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holding Limited
(“REMT”) (stock code: 601). The fair value of REMT is
calculated by reference to bid price quoted in active
market.

¥oOTT Z BB % AR A A is engaged in the port
operation. The recoverable amount of this CGU is
determined based on a value in use calculation which
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors of the Company covering a
five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of 9.86%
(2018: 9.86%) per annum. Cash flow projections during
the budget period are based on the same expected
gross margins and raw material price inflation the
budget period. Other key assumptions for the value in
use calculation relate to the estimation of cash inflow/
outflow which include budgeted sales and gross profit
margin, such estimation is based on the unit’s past
performance and the expectation of the directors of the
Company for the market development. The directors
of the Company believes that any reasonable change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount.

22. BEE

22. Intangible Assets

2019 %k ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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b it RRHA L gl At
Technical Club Development
Know-how  membership cost  Trademark Patent Total
ThT Th T Tén Tén Thx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A Cost
201851418 As at 1 January 2018 3,687 80 10,970 341,062 53,842 409,641
HERBAF(ME16)  Disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 16) - - (10,970) (1,006) - (11,976)
ERAE Exchange alignment - - - (17,518) (2,790) (20,308)
R2018%12A31%  Asat 31 December 2018 and
201951718 1 January 2019 3,687 80 - 322,538 51,062 377,367
EXHE Exchange alignment - - - (7,404) (1,088) (8,492)
R2019%12531H  As at 31 December 2019 3,687 80 - 315,134 49,964 368,865
i RERAE Accumulated amortisation
and impairment
201851 A 18 As at 1 January 2018 3,687 - 10,970 2,081 3,379 20,117
EnEH Amortisation for the year - - - 923 8,176 9,099
HE-FEHBAR Disposal of a subsidiary
GEAD) (Note 16) - - (10,970) (688) (11,658)
ERAE Exchange alignment - - - (328) (539) (861)
R2018%123318R  Asat 31 December 2018 and
201951718 1 January 2019 3,687 - - 1,988 11,022 16,697
g Amortisation for the year - - - - 4549 4549
ERAE Exchange alignment - - - (255) (268) (523)
20195128318  As at 31 December 2019 3,687 - - 1,733 15,303 20,723
BEFE Net carrying values
20195128318  As at 31 December 2019 - 80 - 313,401 34,661 348,142
720185124318 Asat 31 December 2018 - 80 - 320,550 40,030 360,660

AHEEHEMERFERNNT

FBERAN 3E54
ELE : 5& 104
=H : 9FE 164

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of

amortisation:

Development costs
Trademark

Patent

3 to 5 years
5to 10 years
9 to 16 years
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HWEPEEZAERFMRIESER
H - AR EfETHE - WA EBVEEZ
AEREMRERY  AeESFRAUE
EERREENENHIBREESBZRAE
ERNERAERAFY HIETWNZES
fFafEn  AIERFHFERERAER
ERHE - MEZ2HEHEAREBRER
RREBE EXHEHEBRABIEE 2]
RIER -

23. RURTE

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for prospectively from the date
of change and in accordance with the policy for
amosrtisation of intangible assets with finite lives as
set out above.

23. Mining Rights

FHET
HK$’000
R Cost
20181 H1H As at 1 January 2018 571,344
e 5 Exchange alignment (29,6086)
R2018F 12 A31 H X As at 31 December 2018 and
20191 A1H 1 January 2019 541,738
ME 5, 55 B Exchange alignment (11,555)
M2019F 12881 H As at 31 December 2019 530,183
E-E F Accumulated amortisation
7®20184F1 A1 H As at 1 January 2018 83,880
FANE Charge for the year 13,678
ME 5, 58 E Exchange alignment (4,280)
M2018F 12 A31HK As at 31 December 2018 and
2019F1 A1H 1 January 2019 93,278
FAE Charge for the year 10,396
b 5 5 # Exchange alignment (1,959)
R20195 128 31H As at 31 December 2019 101,715
BREFE Net carrying values
M2019F 12581 H As at 31 December 2019 428,468
R2018F 12 A31 H As at 31 December 2018 448,460

HRERRTFEIHEREBHENEHNOEE
FEEMNE A ILTZBE A RN MR IERE
B mMmEREESCREENELRE

The balance represents two mining rights, the
Serpentine mine located in Donghai County of Jiangsu
Province, the PRC and the dolomite mine located in
Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC, which are
amortised by the production quantity over the ore
reserve.

24. IEMEBEAT

(@) M2019F12A31H  AEEHEE
B ZFEMT -

t#

R EERRERAA
Century Sunshing Ecological
Technology Limited

THREERRARERAA
Jiangsu Azureblue Technology
development Gompany Limited

THERILIARLT
Jiangsu Longteng
Petrochemical Limited

BILRERAT
Long Xiang Enterprises Limited

WRALBLIRABRAR
Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint
Stock Company Limited

TBRRERITERAD
TRRFERLIARDE

BarREEARARAAME)
Rare Earth Magnesium Tecfnology
Group Holdings Limited (note |

HERARRRARAA
Xinjiang Tengxiang Mangesium
Products Company Limited

BUFRZEBARERAT
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited

SRAIHER
EARRER
Place of
incorporation
and kind of
legal entity

Bt ARAREAT
Hong Kong, limited
liabiity company

o8 ERERLT
The PRC, limited
fiability company

o BREELT
The PRC, limited
liabity company

AERAEE BRELLT
Britsh Virgin Islands, limited
fiability company

"E BREELT
The PRC, limited
liabity company

wE - EREEAT
The PRC limited
fiability company

" BREEAT
The PRC limited
liabity company

BRE ARERLA
Bermuda, limited
liabilty company

hE - BREFLA
The PRC, limitedt liabilty
company

hE - BREELA
The PRC, limited
liahilty company

B

FLES

Principal activities and
place of operation

REERALR

Investment holdings in Hong Kong

RORREREETH
Manufacturing and sale of
fertiisers in the PRC

RAEEAEHRNT  BRRHE
Processing, exploration and sales of
serpenting in the PRC

RERRARR

Investment holdings in Hong Kong

RAERERHELR
Manufacturing and sales of
ferilsers in the PRC

RYEREREEEH
Manufacturing and sale of
fertiisers n the PRC

RAEHERHERR
Manufacturing and sale of
ferilisers in the PRC

RERENSRERR

Investment holdings in Bermuda

ReEREREESRERERS
Manufacturing and sales of
magnesium-related
products In the PRC

ReEHERAECBEERER

Manufacturing and sale of
magnesium-related products
in the PRC
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24. Principal Subsidiaries

(a) Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries

as at 31 December 2019 are as follow:

B&fRG/
HRERRAZHE
Particulars of
issued share/
paid up
registered capital

1000k EBRERAR 10087
1,000 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each

SR R R R A R 275,000,000
Registered and paid up capital of
RMB275,000,000

MR BRI AR % 297,000,007
Registered and paid up capital of
RMB297,000,000

100RERRERER 1 £
100 ordinary shares of US$1 each

SRR R A R 260,000,007
Registered and paid up capital of
RMB260,000,000

HR R RBAARE0,0000007
Registered and paid up capital of
RMB30,000,000

B RERRAARE5000000007C
Issued and fully paid RMB500,000,000

BRO10ATLBERERRA
6,574,390,08 %

Issued and fully paid up capital of
6,574,390,068 of HK$0.10 each

HRRERREARE 171,800,000
Registered and paid up capital of
RMB171,800,000

R RRAARE 260,332,000
Registered and paid up capital of
RMB280,332,000

KAARERETRERNA
Proportion of ownership
interest held by the Company
B B
Directly Indirectly
2019 218 2019 2018
- - 100% 100%
- - 100% 100%
- - 100% 100%
100% 100% - -
- - 70.02%  70.02%
- - 100% 100%
- - 100% 100%
- - T242%  T2.40%
- - T2.42%  7242%
- - T2.42%  7242%

RENRERLH
Proportion of
voting power held

2019 2018
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
70.02%  7002%
100% 100%
100% 100%
12.42% 12.42%
1242%  7242%
1242%  7242%
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FRBINESRRYFREXEREATE
SERAEEEEFEERLINARA
TEMBAR - EFTAR/FIEMHER
AMEREEREENTE -

(b) HEEAHIMSHF2ENBAT
B

2019

BEMR BRE 27.58%
REMT Bermuda

(b)

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of
the Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
affected the results for the year materially or formed
a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries, in the opinion of
the directors, would result in particulars of excessive
length.

Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

2019 2019
TiEn TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000

21.58% 57,844 78,841 382,779 350,602

AT REAEAHE RS 2 AR BB
RAHMIEERME - ATHHERBE
T EERNRRREHEASHE -

Summarised financial information in respect of each
of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

ERIR
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REMT

2019
FET
HK$’000

MENEE Current assets 888,298 689,070
EMBEE Non-current assets 1,666,026 1,683,148
mEEE Current liabilities (804,577) (172,078)
FERBABE Non-current liabilities (361,860) (928,923)
AR NEEER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 1,005,108 920,615
FEIE i 2 Non-controlling interests 382,779 350,602
2019
FET
HK$’000
WA Revenue 1,515,291 1,717,433
A Expenses (1,305,559) (1,320,090)
F A& A Profit for the year 209,732 285,860
NATEE AR RF Profit attribute to owners
of the Company 151,888 207,019
FEFE IR A = FE A R A Profit attribute to
non-controlling interests 57,844 78,841
F A Profit for the year 209,732 285,860
RATHEBAEGEEZE Total comprehensive income
Wes 58 attributable to owners

R EEEE
Wes 48R

FRZHEKEERE

of the Company 94,238 95,329
Total comprehensive income
attributable to

non-controlling interests 35,889 40,811
Total comprehensive income
for the year 130,127 136,140

BN IR E

REBREME
REenEFaE
REREMA
REen&Fs
BEEB A
REnEFHE
BERA R )FEE

Dividend paid to
non-controlling interests 9,066 -
Net cash flows generated from

operating activities 290,138 318,605
Net cash flows used in
investing activities (106,615) (214,687)

Net cash flows used in
financing activities (32,104) (138,592)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) 151,419 (34,674)
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25. Investments in Joint Ventures

REBEREGERRNR2018FHE - The Group’s material joint ventures are disposed
2019F WHENEERRZIRE - during 2018. There are no investments in joint
ventures in 2019.

AEBERGERAFHBNOT

Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures are
as follows:

BENERERERRAR AEE i - - - RERHERT
(Wi i) 54015500 PRC BEEH

Chongaing New Standard RMB5,401,550 Manufacture and
Medical Equipment trading of electronic
Co., Ltd (note i & i) medical appliances

AN HEERAT AEE i - - - BLEEETER
(MzEi Rii) 15,0007 PRC Online trading of

Shenzhen Innovation RMB15,000 electronic products
Trading Co., Ltd.
(note i &ii)

BiaE notes:

iy REBEEHSAMEFMERARERZ - ()  Not audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.

iy LHAREERRZREBARAMEER (iiy  The above investments in joint ventures are indirectly

Ao held by the Company.
THRINTAEEENAERZEERAZ The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
QI BER : information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not

individually material:

FHNEEEERAET Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the year 180
FREGEEQRZEREETE Share of the joint ventures’ total

comprehensive income for the year 209
HEBRIEEEER Disposal of discontinued operations (6,119)

REBREAELARREZREEMAE Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
investments in the joint ventures -

26. R—HBEQRZIRE
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26. Investment in an Associate

— R DN AR 2018 F HE - H20194F An associate is disposed during 2018. There are no
WEA—HHEARZRE - investment in an associate in 2019.

—REERRFENT

Particulars of an associate are as follows:

BATEETREARLA AR#3,000,0007C e - Bieki
E G RMB3,000,000 PRC Dormant
MIEE - note:

REBESERMESMERARER - Not audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.

R—EBERRIRE ZEBNT ¢ The movement of investment in an associate is as

follows:
TRIRAEBTEEAME NG E QR The following table illustrates the financial information
AR of the Group’s associate that is not material:
FREIEEERAET Share of the associate’s profit for the year -
FHEGBERRZEREEE Share of the associate’s total
comprehensive income for the year -
HEDKRIEEEEK Disposal of discontinued operations (18)

REER—FBERARREZEAESLSE Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
investment in an associate -
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27. BRREFARSZBRARE

EHERE
—BMZ EmBRARES
waE (M)

27. Equity Investments at Fair Value through

Profit or Loss

Listed investments
— Listed equity securities
at fair value (note i)

2019
TET
HK$’000

in Australia,
8,782 3,876

notes:

ZHREEAEERBEBMZ ETEHE (i)
& o /K% B A FinTech Chain Limited
14,744,000 &A% 1D °

ErlEAESREZ

BZBEANEMERE -

RETIZZERT

The amount represents the Group’s investment in listed
securities in Australia. The Group held 14,744,000
shares of FinTech Chain Limited.

Fair values of the investments in listed equity securities
are determined by reference to bid prices quoted in
active markets.

28. 8 28. Inventories

2019

FET

HK$°000
Rk Raw materials 305,171 435,748
pase-dr Work in progress 11,992 21,691
BURK o Finished goods 154,597 232,017
471,760 689,456

29. EZRRREREWRRER

2019 %k ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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29. Trade and Bills Receivables

2019

FExT

HK$’000
FEUE 5 R IR (M E () Trade receivables (note (i) 466,119 371,071
EEEIERE Allowance for credit losses (15,876) (15,148)
450,243 355,923
FE U AR (B EE (i) Bills receivables (notef(ii) 11,138 17,809
461,381 373,732

P& -

(i

AEBABTESEFPZEEH —MTEA
180 H (20184 : #BiB180H)

BEBYTARENE 5B RFAERS
L ERREHNEFPER - Cmie
RBENE 5 YIRS E R AL BT
BRERINEPARH - RIBBELR
ERERR  BARKEEGRAER
B REARGEEERUEBEAES BE
ERD AR VR AT 2 BURID o AR5 B 3 8 5t %
SEBFAEMERR -

R2019F 128310 B W Z & 4
11,138,000 JT(20184F : 17,809,000
BT BRI E B AR%E @A (2018 F ¢
+—EA)REIE - A EUREEHUA
REEEHE -

note:

(i)

The Group allows a credit period normally not more
than 180 days (2018: not more than 180 days) to its
trade customers.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default. Trade
receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the
management believes that no impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balance are still considered fully recoverable.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

As at 31 December 2019, bills receivables of
approximately HK$11,138,000 (2018: HK$17,809,000)
will be matured within seven months (2018: eleven
months) after the end of the reporting period. All the
bills receivables are denominated in RMB.
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As at 31 December 2019, the ageing analysis of the
trade receivables of the Group presented based on
the invoice date and net of allowance for credit losses
was as follows:

2019

F#&ET

HK$’000
30 BLAR Within 30 days 231,951 168,921
31E60H 31 to 60 days 159,223 101,335
61Z90H 61 to 90 days 56,541 42,690
HiEmo0 A Over 90 days 2,528 42,977
450,243 355,923

SENESEANEEERBREESNT

As at 1 January 2018 9,974

7H20184%1 A1H

The movements of allowance for credit losses of trade
receivables are as follows:

FTER

HNE AN B WREER Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9

FOW B 7,159
R2018%F1 A1 H(KET) As at 1 January 2018 (restated) 17,133
BB EEEERE Allowance for credit losses reversed (55)
HEDRIEEEER Disposal of discountinued operations (1,102)
M 5 58 B Exchange alignment (828)
R2018F 12 A31H X As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019

201941 A1 H 15,148
EEREEEERE Allowance for credit losses recognised 2,861
BRI EEBEEE Allowance for credit losses reversed (1,784)
M 58 B Exchange alignment (349)
M2019F 12 A31 H As at 31 December 2019 15,876

FAEE2019F12A31 B EEE &K
BESEFMNEEBBRBEAMBILRERE
I 8 5 B8R 3z % 54,902,000 7t (2018
F 118,209,000/ 7T ) © 18 Bl 48 8k B FE UL
ESEREFETFERARBMFEEH &
BRI et E IR S — &5 o

Included in the allowance for credit losses of trade
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2019 is
a provision for individually impaired trade receivables
of HK$4,902,000 (2018: HK$13,209,000). The
individually impaired trade receivables relate to
customers that were in default or delinquency in
payments and only a portion of the receivables is
expected to be recovered.

HE2019F 125 31 HILFEHEE

BIBHEERFE 9 RE T HE
REREAMRABBRELETHRED
o AETEBRHEERRE - BEXIDER
mARMUEERN (AR RE - ERE
L EPBRAERFR UAREREREM
FANERRROARBE)NZEATER,D
MASMBYRBETE - Rt ERRHA
EMEER  BYRERNREBBARF
BRBESMN - BAlAR RIRBIARREE
RAWBREZER - — R E - WES
P& Uiz 75 T 260 A R 58 — F B30 36 R 08 Il B
TS5 - QIS -

RABEBERES T AN REE S BEKIED
EERBRERNT
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Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended

31 December 2019

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region,
product type, customer type and rating and coverage
by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a
provision matrix:

MN2019F12H31H As at 31 December 2019

BVER (R ER) Current (not past due) 2.38% 461,217 10,974
BEATZRN1E Not more than

1 year past due 100% 4,902 4,902

466,119 15,876

2018412 A31H As at 31 December 2018
BVER (R ER) Current (not past due)
BMERZ A1 F Not more than

1 year past due

0.54% 357,862 1,939

100.00% 13,209 13,209

371,071 15,148
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30. FAMRIE - EERHEMEWRRIE

30. Prepayments, Deposits and Other

Receivables

2019 2018

FHExT FHIT

HK$’000 HK$’000

H At pE U A (B FE (1) Other receivables (note (i) 86,269 88,367
TE A FIB (K3 (i) Prepayments (notef(ii)) 547,054 412,535
b Deposits 3,083 3,024
636,406 503,926

EEBERE Allowance for credit loss (2,009) -
634,397 503,926

BiaE

(if)

R2019F 128310 - EhEU 5 E =
Z 845 B A o] U Bl 4E B B 4Y 7,561,000
7 70(20184F 1 21,982,000/ T ) b H &
DEARBELENEEMELENERARE
#937,972,0007% 7L (20184F : & L) -
MEEETEBNARAEBEEHNT BT
(20184 : 56,000,000 7T) °

R2019F 12831 H BNARELEEZ S
TERETE ZTEMNFKIBL 434,727,000
7 J0(20184F : 280,951,000 7T ) & 78
1 5 X 49 58,444,000 7T(20184F :
4,312,000 7T) °

notes:

(if)

As at 31 December 2019, other receivables mainly
comprise of value-added tax recoverable in the PRC of
approximately HK$7,561,000 (2018: HK$21,982,000),
and consideration receivable arising from disposal
of assets classified as held for sale of approximately
HK$37,972,000 (2018: HK$NIl) and the outstanding
balance of disposal of electronic business sector of
approximately HK$Nil (2018: HK$56,000,000).

As at 31 December 2019, prepayment and
deposits mainly comprise of prepayment of
inventory of approximately HK$434,727,000
(2018: HK$280,951,000) and prepaid expenses of
approximately HK$8,444,000 (2018: HK$4,312,000).

31.

SEMEUGRIENEEBRBEHESHIT
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The movements of allowance for credit losses of other
receivables are as follows:

2018
FTET
HK$’000
201841 A1 A As at 1 January 2018 23,075
KRB BV B HRELER Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 -
FOHHE
201841 A1 H(&EF) As at 1 January 2018 (restated) 23,075
EREEEEERE Allowance for credit losses reversed (994)
HEDRIEEEER Disposal of discontinued operations (22,072)
PE i F 2 Exchange alignment (9)
MR2018F 12 A31 A K As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 -
201941 A1H
EEREEBERE Allowance for credit losses recognised 2,057
ME B Exchange alignment (48)
M2019F 12 A31H As at 31 December 2019 2,009

EEFRTERRRTRAZER

MR2019F12A31H Bl HHBE =@
AE LK —F 2R 1717 587,328,000 7T
(20184F : 55,647,000 7T ) 2 [ & F F| &
B1.50E(20184F 1 1.24EE4.30F) - iR
TEFABTT - ELRAREEE -

M2019FE 128318 R 17 &7 & &
47,450,0007% JT(2018 4 : 149,156,000
BIL)BERENER(NER2) MEEZ
AR (MI5E34) »

31. Pledged Bank Deposits and Bank and Cash

Balances

As at 31 December 2019, the fixed interest rate
on deposits with banks of HK$7,328,000, (2018:
HK$55,647,000), with maturity over three months
but less than one year, was 1.50% (2018: 1.24% to
4.30%) per annum. The deposits with banks were
denominated in HK$, USD and RMB.

As at 31 December 2019, deposits with banks
of approximately HK$47,450,000 (2018:
HK$149,156,000) have been pledged to bills payables
(Note 32) and secure borrowings (Note 34).
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REBEHR - RITRBACEHRBEATEA

At the end of the reporting period, bank and cash

B balances comprise of the followings:
2019
FER
HK$’000
RIERBEENR L Long-term bank deposits under
|ITFR - non-current assets:
AR AFIRITF Non-pledged long-term bank deposits 55 -
BHERRITIF Pledged bank deposits 9,549 9,758
9,604 9,758
BB EEMRITR Bank and cash balances under
M current assets:
5 ERIRITIF X Short-term bank deposits 68,683 139,297
WITHEERFHEERES Cash at bank and on hand 754,375 568,752
823,058 708,049
5T Total 832,662 717,807
B BHEMAEEMEMNZIE Less: Pledged deposits with bank
EREEMRITER pledged as security for
borrowings and bills payables (47,450) (149,156)
W B B R B BR A Non-pledged deposits with
=& A A £z FEIE IR bank with original maturity of
RITER more than three months
when acquired (55) -
RekERRELIEAR Cash and cash equivalents 785,157 568,651

RIEIR - RERITERZERNEF
EA1.62E(2018F : 1.98F) ' ZEHBFN
ZFHE BB DR =E A (20184 -
=@A) -

At the end of the reporting period, the weighted
effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits
was 1.62% (2018: 1.98%); these deposits have an
average maturity of less than three months (2018:

three months).

32.

BITRRSH - REEFRTEREN
TEMEHE -
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Bank and cash balances, and pledged bank deposits
were denominated in the following currencies:

2019
FHET
HK$’000
AREE RMB 684,605 698,516
BT HK$ 126,538 12,768
Hib Others 21,519 6,523
832,662 717,807

AARBEEZRTT MRS ARE H P
AR BEBN BRI INEE BIPTARR

HEZEAREREARR

The remittance of bank and cash balances
denominated in RMB out of the PRC is subject to the
foreign exchange control restrictions imposed by the
government of the PRC.

32. Trade and Bills Payables

2019

FHExT

HK$’000
B E 55308 Trade payables 251,793 431,711
B EE Bills payables 40,070 170,175
291,863 601,886

M2019%F 12 A31 B AEEENE S K
HZ RRDMUOERREEH2T)OT

As at 31 December 2019, the ageing analysis of trade
payables of the Group presented based on the invoice
date was as follows:

2019

FET

HK$’000
30 HEAA Within 30 days 189,215 267,923
31E£60H 31 to 60 days 4,428 60,460
612 90H 61 to 90 days 2,190 12,801
390 A Over 90 days 55,960 90,527
251,793 431,711

FEERZFHEEH AR ZE00H
(20184 : 60HZE90H ) » NEE X A B
BEBERBR - UBRAAEEMSRIER
EEBRNEN -

The average credit period on purchases of goods
is 80 to 90 days (2018: 60 to 90 days). The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
timeframe.
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33. MM - HALMEGEOR - TR

33. Accruals, Other Payables, Receiptin

(i) H2019F 12831 IWHAAs — % (iii)
B EZH(2018: ZRBIEZH)AT
EEEERERE TRATELHBERY
AR ¥181,000,00070(20184F + AR
270,446,0007C) - B ERK 2 EE T
RZIEREE  BFUZ o

R2019F12A31H ZERFERZ
NI B R 49,144,000 (2018 4F -
58,802,000 7T) °

EHARERZEZFBELHMARA
20169 A 2T HZ RN

As at 31 December 2019, the Shandong Hongri
has executed financial guarantees to certain banks
for credit facilities granted to an independent third
party (2018: several independent third parties),
for approximately RMB181,000,000 (2018:
RMB270,446,000) which would be required to be paid
if the guarantees were called upon in entirely.

As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of
these corporate guarantees was approximately
HK$49,144,000 (2018: HK$58,802,000).

For more detail of the corporate guarantees please
refer to announcement date 27 September 2016.

ERAHEE Advance and Contract Liabilities
2019
FHExT
HK$’000
FEEHE A R A M FE N IR Accruals and other payables
(B (i) (note (i) 203,604 166,217
PTES R B & (FEE i) Derivative financial liabilities (note (ii)) 11,310 -
B 7 Y& AR B & (B &E (Giil)) Financial guarantee liabilities (note (iii) 49,144 58,802
264,058 225,019
aHaEEEv) Contract liabilities (note (iv)) 363,155 348,889
627,213 573,908
BIEA Current 403,803 563,598
JEENHA Non-current 223,410 10,310
627,213 573,908
B 5T notes:

0] M2019F 12831 H - B RNER E A
ENFBEIEREREDE  BE L&
5 2 FE {4 3B 4937,420,000 7% 76(2018
F 122,816,000 70 ) & HAb B TR IE 4T
6,883,000 7T(20184F : 16,381,000
JL) °

iy HZE2019F12A31HIEFE  AaalA
BERBEHREMERTELHEAE - TS
HIEE2MASA2019F12 A13AZA
e fTESRBEZEHNT ¢

(if)

As at 31 December 2019, accruals and other
payables mainly comprised of payable for acquisition
of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$37,420,000 (2018: HK$22,816,000), and other
tax payable of approximately of HK$6,883,000 (2018:
HK$16,381,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Company recognised derivative financial liabilities
due to the grant of call option. For detail, refer to
the announcement dated 13 December 2019. The
movement of derivative financial liabilities is as follows:

2019

FET

HK$’000

»1A1H As at 1 January -
BURE Premium received 2,000
ARERBRE Fair value loss 9,310
M®12A31H As at 31 December 11,310

(iv) AHWBEBEZEZHOT

(iv)  The movements of contract liabilities is as follows:

2019
FExT
HK$’000
W1 A1 RZ&EH Balance at 1 January 348,889 240,591
RENBAZH 2 Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
BRARED (H5E) recognising revenue during the year (note) (2,596,289) (1,977,073)
FRBRLZSEH 2 AHEEEM  Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
receiving deposits during the year 2,618,520 2,114,987
B N R Exchange realignment (7,965) (29,616)
W12 B 31 Bz &8 Balance at 31 December 363,155 348,889
e . FFAGHBERD AR ARFE R note: Included in decrease in contract liabilities as a

A#)5,022,0008 7 RRLEEME -

BB REEZEA -

result of recognising revenue during the year was
of approximately HK$5,022,000 representing the
consideration of disposal of property, plant and
equipment.
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34. E& 34. Borrowings
2019
FET
HK$’000
RITEE Bank borrowings 862,772 939,225
H g e (M) Other borrowings (note ii) 612,185 294,676
ImEEEE M) Listed subordinated notes (note i) 585,286 580,708
2,060,243 1,814,609
BE - Borrowings:
—F AR Within one year 1,524,157 836,992
—FA AT BRAF More than one year but not
exceeding five years 536,086 977,617
2,060,243 1,814,609
B FMEREBECHKIE Less: Amounts shown under
current liabilities (1,524,157) (836,992)
SRR B B B 2 FIE Amounts shown under
non-current liabilities 536,086 977,617
BE Borrowings:
AR (EEED Secured (note i) 725,912 829,568
S Rl ~ i iv) Unsecured (notes i, iii, & iv) 1,334,331 985,041
2,060,243 1,814,609

2019 %k ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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BERULNTESHE Borrowings were denominated in the following
currencies:
2019
FHET
HK$’000
AR RMB 702,588 514,382
BT HK$ 526,106 156,491
ETT Uss$ 246,263 563,028
i T SGD 585,286 580,708
2,060,243 1,814,609

BT - notes:

)

MN2019%12A31H BHEMEE =
BUARERZME - BEREE - FH
BEERBITHEREER €S ALH
884,167,000 7T ~ 160,183,000 7T &
27,308,000 7T(20184F : 593,519,000
T~ 121,165,000 78 7T & 86,759,000 7
L) UWEREWE QR BN A RERE
AR o

MR2019F 12 A31 H » T AHMEEN A
(a) BIFR % B 2~ ) B 3049 63,461,000 7% 7T
(20184 : 105,980,000/ 7T) ~ (b) EF L
146,251,000 7T(2018 4 : 28,549,000
& I ) K(o)fE F #402,473,0007% T
(20184 : 160,147,000/ 7T) °

U]

(i)

As at 31 December 2019, the secured borrowings
were mainly secured by property, plant and equipment,
right of use assets and deposits with banks of the
Group amounting to approximately HK$884,167,000,
HK$160,183,000 and HK$27,308,000 (2018:
HK$593,519,000, HK$121,165,000 and
HK$86,759,000) respectively and corporate guarantee
between the fellow subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2019, included in other borrowings
was (a) IFC loan of approximately HK$63,461,000
(2018: HK$105,980,000), (b) loan of approximately
HK$146,251,000 (2018: HK$28,549,000) and (c)
bond of approximately HK$402,473,000 (2018:
HK$160,147,000).
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(i)

(iv)

BIE—EHHARRZIEZENBER
FEFEsRAREERESRA
AIDNFTVMER S BReHA
A E [ M8 2 7 & 127,000,000
ENLZER  ZEFIEBBIRITRA
XFREMISEZFFEFTE I
REXBEMHEMNEHERAH
BE - RABESRARZER
AP S IEEHE R - ()R RAFEH
ZEER ()VEH BT ERE
ERABNIETE] BFEHRE)
WHEZARNB RS  Ri)iR1TF
X #916,877,000/8 JL(20184F :
24,732,000 JT ) ° 720194 12
A 318 549,280,000 #& B% (4
1B AR AR MN201546 A30H 2 &
TIRAA)12%) B AT EL BE R
SRAREBMEEERER -
LA - AR B EE 2 R R AR B X
BEREERENBEZ#ER)AEH
BEMAREARBEFTERAEARAZ
HEEBRE - AEBRHBARY
FTEFRY  ERBEERBH]
B2 & TSR -

BIER2018F 12 A6 HE LW E
ARk - ANA A #E 40,000,000 %
TTHRELE - BFRIE6E 2 FF &5t
B ABEFIN—K - -BRIERTE
R B REHHEA2020F7
A31H » R2019F5 A6 HEEM
i EE o R E202147 31
E| o

R AR QRN 201746 A5 HETZHE
#101,750,000 T NF L 2 7.0 E &R E R
B(EBZEEEFHEEFASET)ZER

&

RZERBRFMERZZMET - Wi

R2020%F7 A3 HEH -

AN K 1R {5 B A £950,000,0005% JT
(20184 : 55,000,000 % 7T ) 57 2019 4
12 A31 BUAA R A ATt 2 A B IR1E#E

REVERTTE R

R2019F 12 831 H » IRITEERHEME
B2 METHEERREAL7.01E(2018
F:6.23E)

R20194F M 2018F12A31H ' £ &
RABESNE R ALEA2,060,243,000/5
(20184 : 1,814,609,000#7T) °

(a)  Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into by a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
and International Finance Corporation (“IFC”),
IFC had granted a loan of US$27,000,000 to the
subsidiary. The loan bears interest at LIBOR plus
3.5% per annum and the amounts due are based
on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements. The loan from IFC was secured
by (i) corporate guarantee given by the Company;
and (i) pledges of shares in the Company as
owned by Alpha Sino International Limited (“Alpha
Sino”), the substantial shareholder; (iii) deposits
with banks of approximately HK$16,877,000
(2018: HK$24,732,000). As at 31 December
2019, 549,280,000 shares, representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at 30 June 2015, has been
pledged by Alpha Sino to IFC as security for
the loan granted. In addition, Mr. Chi Wen Fu,
a director and controlling shareholder of the
Company (through his interest in Alpha Sino),
has given an undertaking to IFC to maintain a
minimum level of shareholding in the Company.
The Group and the subsidiary had to comply
with certain covenants, including, among other
things, certain financial covenants, under the loan
arrangement.

(b)  According to a loan agreement entered on 6
December 2018, the Company was granted
HK$40,000,000 facilities. The loan bear an
interest of 6% per annum in arrear semi-annually.
The original maturity date of the loan is 31 July
2020 and extended upon maturity to 31 July
2021 upon a supplemental agreement signed on
6 May 2019, unless early redeemed.

(i) This represents the carrying amount of the 7.0%
subordinated notes with the face value of SGD101.75
million (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) issued by the Company on 5 June 2017.
The notes are listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange
and will mature on 3 July 2020.

(iv)  Included in unsecured borrowings, approximately HK$
50,000,000 (2018: HK$55,000,000) represents bank
loans guaranteed by the corporate guarantee of the
Company as at 31 December 2019.

The weighted average effective interest rate of bank
borrowing and other borrowings as at 31 December
2019 was approximately 7.01% (2018: 6.23%).

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the carrying
amount of borrowing approximately equal to
its fair value were HK$2,060,243,000 (2018:
HK$1,814,609,000).

35. AEIRES
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35. Exchangeable Bonds

The carrying values of the liability component of the
exchangeable bonds (“EBs”) are as follows:

FHET
HK$’000
M2018F1H1H As at 1 January 2018 227,985
EMNBREEN SR Imputed interest expense charged 41,039
ENREMSTERZ Interest expense paid and payable (18,560)
R2018%F 12 A31 B X As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019
20191 A1 H 250,464
EBREERNERY Imputed interest expense charged 28,325
ENREMTERZ Interest expense paid and payable (46,789)
EHEXS Repayment of principal (111,360)
n2019F 12831 H As at 31 December 2019 120,640

GEE

R2016F 5850 AARFETASESEA
232,000,000 0 7 Al IAEHFAIREEE S - 7]
EINES BT ASERSEZ FRR B -
BENEERXMN—K - AlERESEAABR
BRI ERESERAPBRRERD - ATEE T
ERESFEEANRDEE R BRESTARN
MEAREE -

ERERSEAGRBETERES TANK
RGN IR BB RS 88 40 2 B SR AR B8 0 A)
BHRESASHE EREFINHARETER
EHFHTAMREF =F(HR]) - MAATRED
FRABRRERVERS (ERMR]) - HRAT
B RE 2 B W R R R R T IR B S A A
B2 ERTRAREENTES(BEEB)ER
RARTHR - (A)ZHA (A BRESFE AL
S A A& 30 EfE B 3 H AT E ) 3k
B EREARAAAERESFEAZRHER
BHSRGHRBAZ ARRNEIEER(URT
BERAEE) o

MR2017F9R4H  HARFEBHEEHE A2
AIMAERESFE AR LR - MR
MR 2017410 A6 B KK -

note:

On 5 May 2016, the Company issued EBs with the principal
amount of HK$232,000,000 for cash. The EBs bear an
interest of 8% per annum payable in arrear every six calendar
months from the issue date. The EBs entitle the holder to
convert to the shares of China Rare Earth Magnesium. The
number of share transferrable to the holders of EBs shall be
determined by the formula described in EBs instrument.

The holders of EBs have the right to exchange all or any part
of the principal amount of the EBs at any time during the
exchange period as pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the EBs instrument. The maturity date of the EBs is three
years commencing from the date of issue of the EBs (the
“Term”) and upon prior notice, it can be extended for another
1 calendar year (the “Extended Term”). The right to exchange
attaching to the EBs may be exercised, at the option of the
holder thereof, at any time and from time to time during the
period from the issue date up to and including the earlier
of (A) the maturity date, if the holders of EBs delivers an
exchangeable notice at least 30 calendar days immediately
before the maturity date, or (B) the 30th calendar day
immediately following the date of delivery of a submission
notice or an agreement notice by the Company to the holders
of EBs.

On 4 September 2017, an Agreement Notice was given to
the holders of EBs due to the re-organisation in relation to
China Rare Earth Magnesium, the exchange right was lapsed
on 6 October 2017.
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36.

AERESDEMESS  fTESRAaEds &
BEHD  c BEBDIERRDERE  LAEK
FBORIR B SR AT R - KRR EBRENETE
SREE BANEREFN2017F10A68%
B TEEMEEREZE2017F12A31H L
FERIETER -

HZ2019F 12 A1 BHILFE @ AJEBESFEF
EARATEIRESFF BB ITFEERIEIEE - aTed
HMIESMEHE A2020F585H -
BEBHITEAERBHERFFNEE18.04
B ERERBERIEEFI0E -

HEB2EART A A2016F4 82624

B FE AR R 2 BUT R K

The EBs contain two components: derivative financial liability
component and liability component. The liability component
is classified as non-current liabilities and carried at amortised
costs using effective interest method. The conversion option
is classified as derivative financial liabilities. Due to the lapse
of the exchange right on 6 October 2017, the derivative
financial liabilities was derecognised during the year ended
31 December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the holders of EB
exercised the extention option upon the maturity of EB. The
maturity date of EB became 5 May 2020.

The effective interest rate of the liability component on initial
recognition is 18.04% per annum, which was reduced to
10% per annum for the extension period.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated on 26 April 2016.

36. Deferred Revenue

2019
FTERT
HK$’000

Government grants received
related to assets

68,283 69,772

RIRERTEZER AUTRLE B
EXEARARN2012F BE BT
— i - REZHZE - EHERFRER
AU AL BEBXARARREHMH
EED DURZEEEMELRES
% BERREOERE -

HZE2019F K 2018F 12 A31 HILEE -
REBMAGWEEMER) - MEZE2019F
F2018F 12 A1 HILFE W EHREAM
WA o

P sk A R B WK IR 2 B B - W1Ia HERR R
BB AREEAMBITEER S - RX
ATHEBENAFHNERRMER -

In order to encourage the development of magnesium
industry, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co., Limited entered into an agreement with the local
government in 2012. Pursuant to the agreement, the
local government agree to provide financial assistance
(the “Assistance”) to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited to improve their
production technology and enhance the capacity of
the property, plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
the Group has not received any Assistance and there
were no other income was recognised for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The Assistance received or which becomes
receivables is initially recognised as deferred revenue
and subsequently recognised in profit or loss over
the life of a depreciable asset by way of as a reduced
depreciation charge expense.

37. BEHIEAE

FARGZE M BRARERZELTH RS
BREVERES D R EEEHIT
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37. Deferred Tax Liabilities

The components of deferred tax balances recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
the movements during the year are as follows:

Deferred Tax Liabilities

H2018F1 418 As at 1 January 2018 95,727 20,413 - (37,391) 84,500 16,717 179,966
A RER Credited to the consolidated
(BysE1) statement of profit or loss
(Note 11) (2,876) (517) - 2,985 (20) (4,986) (5,414)
R Exchange alignment (4,836) (1,047) - 2,053 (4,374) - (8,204)
201812 4318 As at 31 December 2018
R2019F1A1H and 1 January 2019 88,015 18,849 - (32,353) 80,106 11,781 166,348
BRAEEHBERE  Transfer upon adoption
ERZ165(RERE  of HKFRS16 - (18,849) 18,849 - - - -
SAGAEER Credited to the consolidated
(FsE11) statement of profit or loss
(Note 11) 2,189) - (603) 4,444 M9 B (4099)
L Exchange alignment (1,826) - (399) 867 (1,709) - (3,067)

#2019 128311 As at 31 December 2019 84,000

- 17,847  (27,042) 78,378 6,000 159,183
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38. Share Capital of the Company

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each
As at 1 January 2018,
31 December 2018,
1 January 2019 and
31 December 2019

2 imk 10,000,000 200,000
ERTREE Issued and fully paid:
n2018F1A18 » As at 1 January 2018,

2018412 A31H - 31 December 2018,

20191 A1HNK 1 January 2019 and

2019 12 A31 H 31 December 2019 4,581,117 101,419

39. A ATMBAARKRKHiE

(a) BIBMRE
W12 A31H
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39. Statement of Financial Position and
Reserves of the Company

(a) Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December

2019
TR
HK$’000

FREBEE Non-current assets
mE - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 530 1,056
RIB AR ZEE Investments in subsidiaries 2,108 2,108
2,638 3,164
REBEE Current assets
H R Y EE Other receivables, prepayments
BRNFERES and deposits 1,302 821
P B A RIFIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,445,091 2,537,231
RITRIRR R Bank and cash balances 50,709 12,114
2,497,102 2,550,166
W RBAE Less: Current liabilities
H T FUE Other payables 25,700 4,975
PSS Income tax payable 2,974 2,974
BE Borrowings 648,598 137,198
AERES Exchangeable bonds 120,640 250,464
797,912 395,611
RBEETE Net current assets 1,699,190 2,154,555
EEHERRBAR Total assets less current liabilities 1,701,828 2,157,719
B ERBEE Less: Non-current liability
BE Borrowings 130,000 604,147
130,000 604,147
EERE Net assets 1,571,828 1,553,572
AAREEAEMLERAEA Capital and reserves attributable
RS to owners of the Company
[ Share capital 101,419 101,419
i Reserves 1,470,409 1,452,153
REREE Total equity 1,571,828 1,553,572
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(b) fi#f& (b) Reserves
REE E4EEGGE BRERRE REEA @it
Capital Share
Share redemption option  Retained
premium reserve reverse earnings Total
T T TR Th T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
201851 A 1R As 1 January 2018 1,353,356 4,526 3,216 48,532 1,409,630
EmgH Profit for the year - - - P47 42,417
ERrENREE Total comprenensive income
for the year - - - .47 42,417
BANERE Share option lapsed - - (2,064) 2,064 -
RELERNAT RS Equity settled
share-based transactions - - 106 - 106
R2018E1231E R As at 31 December 2018 and
201951718 1 January 2019 1,363,356 4,526 1,258 93,013 1,452,153
EREF Profit for the year - - - 14,702 14,702
EmrENREE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 14,702 14,702
RELERHAT LIRS Equity settled share-based transactions - - 3,554 - 3,554
R2019512531R As at 31 December 2019 1,353,356 4,526 4,812 107,715 1,470,409

40. fEARERTE

(a)

AR EZBRE &

BRI kIt BREFZETIUABREAR
EEER - UARRHEEINEE S ER
TERREZAER2EE  ARATDH
HR2008F 12 A3 HEH —HE I i
FPEI(TEFTEl]) R 20194%6 A 26
BN — BB ET S ([#ar8]=k
[#ZFr8l]) - AERBHEETE AR
EEEE  EZEREUAEEFMER
CAEBABRE - HER IR HE
7o BRIESITHENIERT - TRIZE
B RFEEBEK L HEBI0F
NEM - EFFEE N2018F1283
BEmM mMAsTal 26 TFHNE9
F(R2029F6 A26H @M ) - NE
T EE M AT IR R E 5T &I B 2 B AR
TRBR -

BRRAIZESE2REPNBETNR
JB - TTESE A U7 AR S R T
B A BE GRS R A R B e T &
FA) A ) L A A6 R B IR P AR — 2R -

REBTELAUTRSE  ()RH
EEREREAENEEHEZ
BRARER])EBRRERMY
ZWTE  ()ROREEBRERT
HER S B2 BN ZME A®RE
FKEY) 2 FHWTE - R (i) &z
F{E0.028 7T - RBIEFTEI 7] g2 1B
RS R zESBRMHEE - &HETA
ZRARRNB IR 2B EITRAI0% -
REMFHEREZ20E  BRT
HARARBZFRIE1.0087T o
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40. Share Option Schemes

(a) Share option scheme of the Company

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group’s
businesses and to provide additional incentives
or rewards to selected qualifying participants,
the Company adopted a share option scheme on
3 December 2008 (the “Old Scheme”) and on 26
June 2019 (the “New Scheme” or the “Scheme”)
respectively. The qualifying participants mainly
include employees of the Group, Directors and
contractors, suppliers or service providers of
the Group who have contribution to the Group.
Both schemes, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since
its establishing date. The Old Scheme was
expired on 3 December 2018 while the remaining
life of the New Scheme is approximately 9 years
(expiry on 26 June 2029). Options granted under
the Old Scheme before its expiry remain in force.

Options may be granted on such terms and
conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise
or otherwise as the directors may determine in
its absolute discretion, provided that such terms
and conditions shall not be inconsistent with any
other terms conditions of the Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheet of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on the date of offer of the option;
(i) the average closing prices of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the 5 trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer of the option; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share of HK$0.02. The
maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme shall
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.
Upon acceptance of the offer for the grant of
option, an amount of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee to the Company.
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The Company can issue options so that the
total number of shares that may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme does not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue on the date of approval of
the Scheme. The Company may refresh this
10% limit at any time, subject to shareholders’
approval and the issue of a circular and in
accordance with the Listing Rules provided that
the number of shares to be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes does not exceed 30% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each eligible person (including both exercised
and outstanding options under the Scheme)
in the twelve-month period expiring on the
offer date must not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company. Where any grant
of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the
Company, or any of their respective associates,
would result in the securities issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in the twelve-month period up to and
including the date of such grant (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of
securities in issue; and (ii) (where the securities
are listed on the Stock Exchange), having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the securities at the date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of
options must be approved by shareholders of the
Company.

The share options are exercisable only if the
Eligible Participants remain in the service of the
Group from the grant date of the share options
up to the designated exercise date.
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2019 F 2019
R2019 € EREH i FREMH R2019F fTieE
181855 ZERE ZIERRE ZERE 12A318%%F (M)
BT
Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised lapsed Held at Exercise
1 January during during during 31 December price
2019 the year the year the year 2019 (note)
HK$
(A)  EEREE
Employees and 8,567,059 - - - 8,567,059 0.78258
consultants - 231,900,000 - - 231,900,000 0.3
(B) EZ
Directors
HXE - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.3
Chi Wen Fu
g3 - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.3
Shum Sai Chit
R - 8,000,000 - - 8,000,000 0.3
Chi Jing Chao
PEE - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.3
Guo Mengyong
FEAR - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.3
Cheung Sound Poon
Bt - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.3
Sheng Hong
LS 6,389,145 - - - 6,389,145 0.78258
Lau Chi Kit - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.3
14,956,204 - - - 14,956,204 0.78258
- 299,900,000 - - 299,900,000 0.3
14,956,204 299,900,000 - - 314,856,204
R2019412 8318 - 5 2l 1’ As at 31 December 2019, Options to subscribe

T A K17 2 B AR R
314,856,204 Bx A% -

iz
AN
(=)

£ RE

for a total of 314,856,204 Shares were
outstanding under the Scheme.
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2018 F 2018
20184 ERfi EnfT EREN R2018F g
1A1BHE BRE L BRE ZERE 12831BKF (Htzt)
BT
Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised lapsed Held at Exercise
1 January during during during 31 December price
2018 the year the year the year 2018 (note)
HK$
) &&
Employees 14,545,079 - - (14,545,079) - 0.62606
12,400,545 - - (3,833,486) 8,567,059 0.78258
(B) E3
Director
i3 6,389,145 - - - 6,389,145 0.78258
Lau Chi Kit
14,545,079 - - (14,545,079) - 0.62606
18,789,690 - - (3,833,486) 14,956,204 0.78258
33,334,769 - - (18,378,565) 14,956,204

A2018F 128318 #% 5t 2| &
THEATHEZERES XATRE
14,956,204 I AK1D ©

HR2019F 12 A31H - Mk B
EATERBE - ITE8RTE

e A= R &% B 2R
Grant date Expiry date
20151 H6H 202010 A31H

6 January 2015 31 October 2020

201947 A25H 202512 A30H

25 July 2019 30 December 2025

As at 31 December 2018, Options to subscribe
for a total of 14,956,204 Shares were
outstanding under the Scheme.

Options outstanding at 31 December 2019 have
the following expiry date, exercise period and
exercise prices.

Gl FRITHEE BEREHE
Exercise
prices per Number of
Exercise period Share Options
BT
HKS
B20154F11 A1 HEZR 0.78258 14,956,204
202010 A31H
From 1 November 2015 to
31 October 2020
B2020F 11 A1HZ 0.3 299,900,000

2025 12 A30H
From 1 November 2020 to
30 December 2025

314,856,204

RAFRAE - ¥t &8 T a4
TZARRBIRGEH(BIE =R
17 % B8 B # ) B 473,067,888 /% -
HERAQTEBEEHTRAY
10.33% ° #at 2|2 A 20294 6 H 26
HEm °

HE2019F 12 A1 HIEFEMEE
ZHERE FR-_BEABETERR
B FE QA EK21,291,0008 7T °
WAZGERANEZFERRZAERN
B BRI (E0.2238 T(E B
MAOFHFEERDARE) - Liuli17FE
B B (E R E H42.352%  F
EERRBFEAE1.867%  4£6.438
FEAEBREFHERON ZIREE o
HEHARERRNEEREMTEMN
g JhiREHR2016F7 A25H &
2019F 7 H25 HM B HREM A
DM EBE - HE20194 12 A 31
HIEFE At AGRGEBRRANZMA
A4 A3,511,0008 7T °

HEZ2015F12A31H IEFE K
BZBERE  FRMHR -8R
EEAEBEERAAEABL 3,660,000
T MAZMEEANNEEFERER
ARELBHAKEIEIL(E T
BODFEREEEDAE) - Ll
FE - BHRERDNNA43.47% 2
49.69% - FEERRFE0.71% =2
1.39% ° #)2.32 & 5.324 78 51 & i%
EFEHN1.20% R E R - ILTEHRE
EHRAEEREMITEAEE - TR
B 2009948 A19H £20124F8 A
CSHMBHRENRITOMITER
e HE2019F12 A31 BILFE
#4743,0007% (2018 4F : 106,003 78
TLERTAGREEERA -

HZE2019F 12 A31 HIEEE - B5t
AN EBRRES5H 53,554,800
T (20184 : 106,003 7T) ©

2019 %k ANNUAL REPORT 2019

B i ER R MR
Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

As at the date of the annual report, the total
number of Shares of the Company available
for issue under the New Scheme (including the
above Options outstanding not yet exercised)
was 473,067,888, representing approximately
10.383% of the issued share capital of the
Company as of the date thereof. The New
Scheme was expired on 26 June 2029.

The fair value of Options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2019 determined using the
Binomial Option Pricing model was approximately
HK$21,291,000. The significant inputs into the
model were share price of HK$0.223, at the
grant date and adjusted for the effect of the
share subdivision, exercise price shown above,
expected volatility is 42.352%, annual risk-free
interest rate of 1.367%. Expected life of Options
of approximately 6.438 years and dividend
payout ratio of 0%. The volatility measured at
the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 25 July 2016 to 25 July 2019.
During the year ended 31 December 2019,
approximately HK$3,511,000 were charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair value of Options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2015 determined using the
Black-Scholes valuation model was approximately
HK$3,660,000. The significant inputs into the
model were share price of HK$0.69, at the
grant date and adjusted for the effect of the
share subdivision, exercise price shown above,
expected volatility ranged from 43.47% to
49.69%, annual risk-free interest rate of 0.71% to
1.39%. Expected life of Options of approximately
2.32 to 5.32 years and dividend payout ratio of
1.29%. The volatility measured at the standard
deviation of expected share price returns is based
on statistical analysis of daily share prices from
19 August 2009 to 28 August 2012. During the
year ended 31 December 2019, approximately
HK$43,000 (2018: HK$106,003) were charged to
the consolidated statement of profit.

During the year ended 31 December
2019, aggregate amount of approximately
HK$3,554,800 (2018: HK$106,003) were
charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

215



216

(2) HBREZERES

B R

BRI REBEFETERASEER
BERIEMWER WIRECEFAER
S mEBEINER KO TR - W EERR
2017 F 12 A4 B 4N BE R #E 51 &
([HEERERTEI]) - ABEKR2HEEE
TEERE - B ABEE - HER
SRS EER  HEELABERK
EEERER - BEREEE B HK
AR T FERNER  HEFEHK
EERBIBRAN - FEERIEGT SR T F 5
N AESE(HR2027FE12 S4B EM) °

EREBAINREOEHERA+=
EARRARTEEERERER
RSB RGT 8 N 21T KM RITE
O RE AR ) M 1T M R BT
BB TREAWMENREET
PRAA% o fis [A) W X b e = AR 3K
BYFHTER(IREZTANEM
A R BB A T B B
ERGBBEHMBEZA) LEM+ =
BEAMEA - Ll AT EER R KE
ENE2HBREeREeETE 2
B Ro 1R R AT 68 O B P A ) JE 1T 1 3%
TRETERTHNESRE @ ()6 HiE
BEBERNEHETESFN0A% K&
(il) (s 7 ZZ R B S BT £ 70 ) IR IB & 55
REFRLBHKRHESENRERE
5,000,000 7T » &2 B SMX i 8 I i
RIS SRR B BRI A

B EBIER AR A E Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

B iSRRI
Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

(2) Share option scheme of a subsidiary

REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group of
REMT’s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying
participants, REMT adopted a share option
scheme on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT
Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly
include employees, directors, contractors,
suppliers or service providers who have
contribution to the Group of REMT. The
REMT Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since
its establishing date. The remaining life of the
REMT Scheme is approximately 8 years (expiry
on 4 December 2027).

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each eligible person (including both exercised
and outstanding options under the REMT
Scheme) in the twelve-month period expiring
on the offer date must not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of REMT. Where any grant
of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of REMT, or
any of their respective associates, would result
in the securities issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the twelve-
month period up to and including the date of
such grant (i) representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the relevant class of securities in issue;
and (i) (where the securities are listed on the
Stock Exchange), having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the securities at
the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million,
such further grant of options must be approved
by shareholders of REMT.

HR20195F 12 A31 H - M # Bl & 5t
2|18 TR A 411,400,000 I A% 159
B BB AR A ([ Fh SR BB AR AE |) i R 1T
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As at 31 December 2019, options to subscribe
for a total of 411,400,000 Shares were
outstanding under the REMT Scheme (the “REMT

f# o Options”).
2019 fF 2019
R2019F  FmRibe FhAkz  FAdE#Ez  FRANZ R2019%
181055 RENGERE RENHEBRE RENRBRE RENGERE  FAEZF 12A31ER4 Gl
REMT REMT REMT REMT
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted  exercised  cancelled lapsed Transfer Held at
1 January during during during during during 31 December  Exercise
2019 the year the year the year the year the year 2019 price
En
HKS
m EE
Employees 146,400,000 - - - - 17,000,000 168,400,000 04
40,000,000 - - - - - 40,000,000 05
- 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) - - 150,000,000 0.3
B) EZ
Directors
R 30,000,000 - - - - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
ikl - - - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 04
Chi Jing Chao®
HER 20,000,000 - - - - (20,000,000 - 0.4
Chi Bi Fen
B 5,000,000 - - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwong Ping Man
hENRENES 20,000,000 - - - - - 20,000,000 0.4
Qther directors
of REMT
221,400,000 - - - - - 221,400,000 04
40,000,000 - - - - - 40,000,000 05
- 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) - - 150,000,000 0.3
261,400,000 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) - - 411,400,000

(1) 772019%F6 26 HERE

(2) M20199F 627 REZ(E

(1) Retired on 26 June 2019

(2)  Appointed on 27 June 2019
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2018

(A)

(B)

E&

Employees

Bz
Directors
it

Shum Sai Chit

HES
Chi Bi Fen

BRx
Kwong Ping Man

BEMBANES
Other directors
of REMT

146,400,000
40,000,000

30,000,000

20,000,000

5,000,000

20,000,000

2018

146,400,000
40,000,000

30,000,000

20,000,000

5,000,000

20,000,000

221,400,000
40,000,000

221,400,000
40,000,000

261,400,000

261,400,000

0.4
0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4
0.5

HR20195F 12 A31 H - MARITHEZH
ERIFEREGUTEREE - 7@
B AT(E(E

20184 A25H 202312 H29H
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REMT Options outstanding at 31 December 2019
have the following expiry date, exercise period
and exercise prices.

B2018511 A1 HER 0.4 221,400,000
2023512 A29H

25 April 2018 29 December 2023 From 1 November 2018 to
29 December 2023
20184 4 A25H 2020F 12 A 31 H B2019F1A1HRE 0.5 40,000,000
2020 12 431 H
25 April 2018 31 December 2020 From 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2020
201947 A25H 202248 A31H B2019%9A1HREZE 0.3 140,000,000
202248 A31H
25 July 2019 31 August 2022 From 1 September 2019 to
31 August 2022
201947 A25H 2020F8 A31H B2019F9A1HREREE 0.3 10,000,000
20208 A31H
25 July 2019 31 August 2020 From 1 September 2019 to
31 August 2020
411,400,000

RAFHRAE  ZHEREEE
THHBFTZHEREROBE(R
B RITEREREERE) A
858,790,058 1%  HERHERIKE
AEBITIRAL 13% ° %W xR BGT
E 2B TFEHHASE WM 2027
F12 A4 BfEMm e

As at the date of the annual report, the total
number of shares of REMT available for issue
under the REMT Scheme (including the above
REMT Options outstanding not yet exercised)
was 858,790,058, representing approximately
13% of the issued share capital of REMT as of
the date thereof. The remaining life of the REMT
Scheme is approximately 8 years and to be
expired on 4 December 2027.
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TE T 85 BH B AR 8 F 2 M AR Bk &
F1.64 o ZIEHRE L RAIZER=
MErT =M KR+ JTIRIE A 2010F 12
A31BHZE2019F7A25 BN EHK
BRRFTDMETESE -

#H =2018F12A318 It F E AT
FEHvmEREERE FAMN
RN HEERRETAARESD
21,558,000 7T & A 7% & B & =
MEZFEAZANETL HBNRRE
0.325 BT (BB B DI EED
FE) - Lai{TEE - FEHRERE
NN 42.107% & 47.596% ~ F [Z fE[F
S ZE1.561% 2= 1.999% ° #91.52 %
568 FTEATMERHIEREFHRET
KB E - BHRELHFNZER=E
MmaEt E&EIE - JTIiRE A 20124610
A24HZ2018F4 A25 B H K
BOFREOTETESE -

HZ2019F12A31H IEFE - 4
% %8 #719,415,000/% jL(20184F :
8,364,000 L) Est AF A BE X
Wo
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

The fair value of REMT Options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2019 determined
using the Binomial Option Pricing model was
approximately HK$13,509,000. The significant
inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.285, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from
46.729% to 54.568%, annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.459% to 1.758%. Expected life of REMT
Options of approximately 1.1 to 3.1 years and
dividend yield of 1.64. The volatility measured at
the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 31 December 2010 to 25 July
2019.

The fair value of REMT Options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2018 determined
using the Black-Scholes valuation model was
approximately HK$21,558,000. The significant
inputs i n t o the model were share price o f
HK$0.325, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from
42.107% to 47.596%, annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.561% to 1.999%. Expected life of REMT
Options of approximately 1.52 to 5.68 years
and dividend payout ratio of Nil. The volatility
measured at the standard deviation of expected
share price returns is based on statistical
analysis of daily share prices from 24 October
2012 to 25 April 2018.

During the year ended 31 December
2019, aggregate amount of approximately
HK$19,415,000 (2018: HK$8,364,000) were
charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

41. &I

(a)

(b)

BXRE

2019 %k ANNUAL REPORT 2019

B i ER R MR
Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2019F 12 A31 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

41. Commitments

(a) Capital Commitments

DETAVE M ANER A BT Capital expenditure in respect of the

BERBBZABEE
ME - BEEREZ

acquisition of property, plant and
equipment contracted for but

EART W not provided in the consolidated

financial statements

2019 2018

FTEx TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
206,808 179,165

BEHERIE

AEEFEBARBA
AEBRETTHBRE HREES
ERTE BIRAREA - Z5H
& RE - BRES 2 ERREOR
& BTR -

RBEHR  NEBERE A REL
EHERN T B2 B R R & ER
B FURLENT

—&FRN
E_FEFTF(BEERERSF)
i8R F

(b) Operating Lease Commitments

The Group as Lessee

The Group leases various office premises, staff
quarters and warehouses under non-cancellable
lease agreements. The leases have varying
terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases which fall
due as follows:

2018
TAET
HK$’000

Within one year 2,646
In the second to fifth years inclusive 2,765
Over five years 5,389

10,800
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42. EXFAEA IR ZREAERS

B BRRZEREN  FRAAEE
BETATERMEALRS °

(a) FEEEAEMZ

42.

Material Related Party Transactions and
Connected Transactions

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group entered into the
following significant related party transactions during
the year.

(a) Key Management Compensation

2019 2018

FHExT T

HK$’000 HK$’000

(FeE7)

(Restated)

EZEE (T 13) Directors (Note 13) 6,891 6,563
HMWFEFEAE - Other key management personnel:

e LHMEE Salaries and other short-term
EEWBF employee benefits 10,688 4,590
17,579 11,153

(b) X ELLECABERESE R AMEL
AR B B M R AR AR KR
ERIEEERR - FBE2RME34 -

FREXH

HEMNAREREBENERIELELEEBRE
F2018F 12 A1 HILFERBH

H E2019F12A31H EF E- B &
DEAEBIELENEEZELREY
37,972,000 7T °

HE2019F12A31BIEEE HEY
¥ BMEEAREZAHREHEHEEY
5,022,00078 7T ©

43.

(b) Mr. Chi Wen Fu has given an undertaking to IFC
to maintain a minimum level of shareholding in
the Company as collateral of the borrowings as
detailed in Note 34.

Non-Cash Transactions

Disposal of discontinued operations with deferred
consideration updated at year ended 31 December
2018.

Disposal of assets classified as held for sale
with deferred consideration of approximately
HK$37,972,000 during the year ended 31 December
2019.

Disposal of property, plant and equipment with
consideration in contract to contract liabilities of
approximately HK$5,022,000 during the year ended
31 December 2019.

44,

MM EES I ENREHR

44,
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Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from
Financing Activities

A ER
RRFE [ TELES RES& Eh
Amount
due to a
non-controlling Exchangeable Lease
shareholder Borrowings bonds liabilities Total
FHL FEL T T THL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
120181 18 As at 1 January 2018 239,802 1,819,185 227,985 - 2,286,972
BERENE Financing cash flow (124,050) (9,959) (18,560) - (152,569)
MNERE Foreign exchange adjustments 47 27,383 - - 27,430
Hi R 2E Other non-cash movement (115,000) (22,000) 41,039 - 95,961
#2018F 12 A31H Net debt as at
REE 31 December 2018 799 1,814,609 250,464 - 2,065,872
KB BB LR Effect of adoption of
F16RF 2 (W) HKFRS 16 (note) - - - 6,991 6,991
72019F1 A1 B(EEF]) At 1 January 2019 (restated) 799 1,814,609 250,464 6,991 2,072,863
BERENE Financing cash flow - 263,148 (158,149) (2,798) 102,201
INEFE Foreign exchange adjustments - (17,514) - (141) (17,655)
EEReEE Other non-cash movement - - 28,325 3,780 32,105
®2019512531H Net debt as at
REE 31 December 2019 799 2,060,243 120,640 7,832 2,189,514
M5E - note:

45.

AEBERALIETBIENL EREBHER
EAERE16 AL FAEN2019F1 A1BENF
Eeh - UERELABEE S ERE 17
o BEASEHECHEANHEARE - 26
A RERMERE

AT ER RS 2 2

HE2019F12A3MHIEEE - AEH
E—SWEBLRABESEEERARZ
10.41% % - BT BYRER AR Z
10.41% 125 MTFRAL HIE RS E AR A 7
Z24.80% % c ARZERS - A5 E M
RIEERRE RS R A 4911,062,000 78 7T M H
MR N4 11,062,000/8 7T ©

45.

The group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Changes in Ownership Interest in
Subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
has further acquired 10.41% of IUERA BIEREER
lRAR, 10.41% of BRITABWRER AT and 4.80%
of IHAHIEREEBRAR. As a result of these
transactions, the Group recognised a decrease in non-
controlling interests of approximately HK$11,062,000
and an increase in other reserve of approximately
HK$11,062,000.
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46.

47.

48.

49.

%l"

PENARAE

KRFI2014F10A9B ZRE - A
TREEHEEREARAA(TERE D ZR
Fi RERETB®REREH  BAQA
FronsE  E@FANEMSHEREES
B HEMRKRIZEREXHE  BHEHE
ﬁ“&%%ﬁ%hmmb TE= I&@
ER BBHRFREBAOME - EER
ZFRTEHANEBMNER - %@&M%
RUBRRERTFISE -

%2}\\\}9

BREXFREEI  EERREEREA
I ENARNEEERY  2ELRPBARRE
RERTMFZENERFR °

HRENREE

H2020F F Y1 1& B M2019 B8 Mk i 5 &
(T2019EMHBER 1) 46 2 EREB OB R
BRTEZIAREMAEZ BREMBERES
e B RBEBRERDERT — R
FIEBREG ARARES BT EER
EHERMRN  ARFHEHAEELE
Enf-Z- 2

a3 S Es

ETHRAFECEFIRUNTEAFEZ
EV D

BRETIRGSWBERR

EEER2020F 4 A 16 B E NIRRT 3
BIEHREK ©

46.

47.

48.

49.

Litigations and Contingent Liabilities

Reference was made to the announcement of the
Company dated 9 October 2014 regarding a civil claim
against Capital Idea Investments Limited (“Capital
|dea”). As of the date of the consolidated financial
statement, to the best knowledge of the Company,
the writ of summons of the litigation has not yet been
served on Capital Idea. Upon receiving this legal
document, Capital Idea will seek legal advice in relation
to the claim and the necessary actions to be taken
in this respect and will vigorously defend against the
claim. The directors are of the view that this claim will
not have a material adverse impact on the business,
operation and financial position of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that
up to report date there were no significant litigations
would have material adverse impact on the business,
operation and financial position of the Group.

Events after the Reporting Period

The coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) outbreak
since early 2020 has brought additional uncertainties
in the global macroeconomic situation. Despite
the challenges, governments and international
organisations have implemented a series of measures
to contain the epidemic. The directors of the Company
will closely monitor the development of the epidemic
and assess its impact on the operation of the Group.

Comparatives

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified
to conform with current year’s presentation.

Authorisation for Issue of Consolidated
Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements was approved

and authorised for issued by the board of directors on
16 April 2020.
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